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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ATEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) (former Chief Executive Officer
and ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer
on 16 December 2022)

Ms. ZHOU Yan (resigned on 28 April 2022)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as executive Director on 20 July 2022 and
appointed as Chief Executive Officer
on 16 December 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHENG Wei
Mr. SONG Chunyu (resigned on 28 April 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (resigned on 20 July 2022)
Mr. YU Limin (@ppointed on 20 July 2022)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (Chairman)

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (resigned on 20 July 2022)
Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Mr. YU Limin (appointed on 20 July 2022)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. JIN Yongsheng (Chairman)
Mr. CHEN Baoguo
Mr. NIE Xin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman)

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (resigned on 20 July 2022)
Mr. YU Limin (appointed on 20 July 2022)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Chi Keung (resigned on 18 November 2022)
Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson (appointed on 18 November 2022)
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AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. GAO Dinan
Mr. CHAN Chi Keung (resigned on 18 November 2022)
Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson (appointed on 18 November 2022)

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
25th Floor, Wing On Centre

111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law:

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati
Suite 1509, 15F, Jardine House

1 Connaught Place

Central Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

1001 Admiralty Centre Tower 1
18 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

4/F, Building No.B 22
Universal Business Park
No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road
Chaoyang, Beijing

PRC

CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

East West Bank (China) Limited
33/F, Jin Mao Tower

88 Century Boulevard

Pudong New District

Shanghai, PRC

HSBC Bank (China) Company Limited Beijing Branch
1/F, Fortune Financial Center

No. 5 Dongsanhuan Zhong Road

Chaoyang District

Beijing, PRC

China Merchants Bank, Huizhong Beili Branch
1/F, Building 305

Chaoyang District

Beijing, PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.wankaonline.com

STOCK CODE
1762
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MAJOR EVENTS FE;EF)
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Annual Memorabilia 2022
TR FFEKXKER

The Group hosted the 7th Blackstone Awarding
Ceremony.

REEFEMELERARB\RAE -

The Group changed the address of its head
office and principal place of business in China.

REEFRRRR PR FTEZEE I

Wanka Huanju, a subsidiary of the Group, was
listed as a high-growth enterprise in the second
“Fengming Plan” of Chaoyang District launched
by the development and reform commission of
Chaoyang District in Beijing.
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The MHA released the 2021 MHA White Paper.

B ER R P (2021 FERZ IR H R B ) o

Wanka Huanju, a subsidiary of the Group,
obtained the “Certifications for Three Systems”
and the “Certifications for Two Systems” from the
International Organization for Standardization.
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MI=BRARERE IREBRIERE]-

The Group organized a number of online salons
for developers of the Intelligent Terminal Golden
Seal Alliance.
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The Group assisted participants of the mobile
internet ecosystem in promoting the structural
migration of the mobile computing ecosystem.
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The Group hosted the “2022 - vivo Marketing
Spotlight Program - Gaming Industry Private
Sharing Session”.
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Wanka Huanju, a subsidiary of the Group, was
awarded the 2022 (Industry) Influential Brand
Award and Mr. GAO Dinan was awarded the
2022 Outstanding Influential Entrepreneur Award
at the 11th CFS.
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Wanka Huanju, a subsidiary of the Group, was
awarded the title of Small and Medium-sized
Enterprise with Specialty, Excellency, Uniqueness
and Innovation in Beijing.
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The Group established Suzhou Jinglan Cloud
Technology Co., Ltd. with a joint venture partner
in Suzhou.
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Annual Memorabilia 2022
TR CEFEXER

The Group was awarded the 7th Zhitong Caijing
Listed Companies Selection - the “Best TMT
Company” award.
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The Group was awarded the 2022 EDGE
AWARDS - the “Enterprise with Potential Value
of the Year” award by TMTPOST.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHBRESE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2022, China’s economic development was plagued by various
uncertainties. Confronted with multiple pressure, the PRC
government vigorously promoted the stabilisation and recovery
of the domestic economy internally; and engaged in great power
diplomacy to stabilise the exchange rates of RMB and to maintain
a balance of payments externally. Against this backdrop, we made
active efforts in building, maintaining and empowering the mobile
internet ecosystem, and adjusted our business structure in real
time based on the market conditions by focusing our resources
and efforts more on the core businesses in which we excel. Despite
the consequential short-period of predicaments, we believe these
adjustments are correct and necessary for our future development
as they will contribute to a healthier and more stable company and
industry. | am pleased to present to the Shareholders our annual
report for 2022.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

In 2022, we maintained a slight increase in the first half as
compared with the corresponding period last year, but we were
also impacted to a certain extent due to various uncertainties
affecting the economy in the second half. In view of this, we
actively adjusted our resource allocation by investing more into the
development of mobile internet ecosystem and mobile distribution
business, in order to ensure our competitive advantage in the
industry. However, by doing so, we have to reduce our allocation
of resources to online video distribution and other business, and
have made provision for impairment of goodwill accordingly, which
in turn has affected our financial performance for the current period
to a certain extent. Total revenue for the full year of 2022 was
RMB2,300.9 million, representing an increase of 9.7% compared
to RMB2,098.2 million for the same period in 2021. Gross profit
decreased by 11.0% on a year-on-year basis to RMB234.5 million.
Turnaround from profit to loss for the year resulted in loss after tax
of RMB128.6 million.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, we fully upgraded our mobile advertisement placement
business to expand our advantages in the mobile distribution
sector. On the one hand, it met the multi-dimensional placement
needs of our customers, including creative materials. On the other
hand, we upgraded and strengthened the platform’s modular and
automated functions to enable us to develop more complex and
precise placement decisions for our customers, fully tapping into
the potential of the different types of data we have accumulated.
In 2022, our revenue from mobile advertising business reached
RMB2,196.7 million, representing an increase of 9.6% compared to
the previous year.

Despite the economic downturn, we placed a greater emphasis on
constructing and maintaining the industry ecosystem, empowering
participants in the mobile internet ecosystem. We firmly believe that
maintaining a healthy development of the industry will bring about a
win-win situation. In 2022, through our cooperation with members
of the MHA, ecosystem branch of Quick App and Intelligent
Terminal Golden Seal Alliance (the “ITGSA”), we organised various
online and offline activities to relay policy guidance to our business
partners and support government decisions. We assisted the
members of each alliance and the developers from various industry
in promoting the processes of structural migration and technical
standards in the mobile computing ecosystem, the satisfactory
completion of which led to a smooth transition. We also provided
effective solutions for industry participants seeking more precise
promotional effects in the digital marketing era, creating a one-stop
full-chain media ecosystem.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERHBRESE

Due to our insistence on standardization of Quick App with
members of the ecosystem branch of Quick App, the Quick
App technology quickly adapted to all forms of smart devices in
the market. Standardised development tools could also greatly
enhance the R&D efficiency of developers. In 2022, the number of
Quick App developers from different industries exceeded 30,000,
and such developers had set up a number of specialised groups to
jointly research, develop and explore the diversified development of
Quick App on smart devices. At present, many smart vehicles from
automotive companies, including Leapmotor, FAW Pentium and
Dongfeng, have already adopted Quick App technology, providing
more personalised and customised functions to enhance the driving
experience.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

With the steady recovery of the domestic economy since the end
of 2022, we will continue to consolidate our strengths in the areas
where we have keen insight, while adhering to the principles of
“stability” and “seeking progress while maintaining stability”, to
ensure the stable development of our principal business. In 2023,
we will continue to focus on the mobile internet ecosystem and
position ourselves as a leading provider of ecosystem services
and internet marketing services, with the goal of further increasing
our market share. Additionally, we will pay close attention to the
development of new business and new technologies, particularly
in the field of artificial intelligence and automation to improve the
efficiency of advertisement placement and fully unleash the benefits
of economies of scale. In light of the gradual resumption of various
activities, we will continue to cooperate with members of the MHA,
ecosystem branch of Quick App to organise various technology
development conferences and industry summits. By exerting the
influence of the alliances in the industry, we can provide effective
support to participants from various industries and make more
contributions to the development promotion of the ecosystem. We
will continue to explore application scenarios that are compatible
with Quick App, and Quick App will help more companies
including smart devices and smart vehicle companies expand their
commercial operation strategies. We will also continue to focus on
and develop emerging fields in the mobile internet ecosystem such
as metaverse in an attempt to provide more diversified services.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby express my sincere appreciation
to the management team and all employees for their dedication,
proactive work attitude and spirit. We also greatly appreciate our
partners, Shareholders and stakeholders for their trust and support
over the years. We will continue to focus on the areas where we
have keen insight and enhance our professional capabilities in
order to provide better services to the participants in the mobile
internet ecosystem and contribute to the construction and stable
development of the industry ecosystem.

Mr. GAO Dinan
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
27 March 2023
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Financial Highlights

I HEE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR FeEaR
LOSS
Year ended 31 December
BEt-A=1t-BLEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
“E-)\E CZE-hE C-E-ZF C—EZ--F CZBZC
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%ETRT AR%Trt AR%Trt ARETR
Revenue s 1,546,316 2,396,187 1,726,746 2,098,198 2,300,875
Cost of sales HERAK (1,329,190)  (2,057,972)  (1,483,999)  (1,834,882)  (2,066,400)
Gross profit 7 217,126 338,215 242,747 263,316 234,475
Other income and gains Hi AR Bz 11,661 24,508 18,123 17,138 42,718
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEHEY (16,729) (31,636) (16,477) (15,001) (19,372)
Research and development costs TR (26,344) (45,419) (73,543) (67,036) (86,192)
Impairment loss on accounts BUERRRBERSE
receivable (134) (5,960) (13,942) (37,401) (35,950)
Administrative expenses THEX (74,635) (49,789) (40,401) (46,301) (52,793)
Other expenses and losses HitBAZRER (950) (2,892) (1,166) (1,107) (160,114)
Share-based payment expenses DRMHBERNAFEEY (8,119) (51,251) (20,244) (18,160) (22,192)
Finance costs B RRAR (6,216) (13,121 (10,172) (7,549) (7,696)
Share of losses in associates PMEBE N ESE - - (1,490) (3,826) (4,337)
Loss on termination of KIETTRRES
convertible bonds Mg (14,270) - - - -
Fair value losses on convertible bonds Al Mk &% A FEEE (3,202) - - - -
Fair value losses on preferred shares BRI A FEEE (217,123) - - - -
Fair value losses on warrants RREZNATESE (261,791) - - - -
(Loss)/profit before tax RaBial (B518) /#F (400,726) 162,655 83,455 84,073 (111,453)
Income tax expenses g b (20,815) (56,921) (16,642) (21,776) (17,105)
(Loss)/profit for the year Ei(§518) /#F (421,541) 105,734 66,813 62,297 (128,558)
Non-HKFRS Measures HE B BHEELE
(unaudited) (FAEZR)
Adjusted EBITDA" EREEBITDA 166,625 246,443 128,723 121,838 87,132
Adjusted net profit? ERRERH 126,978 159,698 87,037 80,905 48,420

(1) Adjusted EBITDA eliminates the effect of depreciation, amortisation,
finance costs, income tax, share-based payment expenses, impairment
loss on goodwill, listing expenses, loss on termination of convertible
bonds, and fair value losses on convertible bonds, preferred shares and
warrants.

(2)  Adjusted net profit eliminates the effect of share-based payment
expenses, impairment loss on goodwill, listing expenses, loss on
termination of convertible bonds, and fair value losses on convertible
bonds, preferred shares and warrants.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION (SELECTED ITEMS)

Assets
Non-current assets
Current assets
Total assets

Equity and liabilities
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

FRBEE
RBEE
“EE

EERAE
5]

FRBEE
RBRE
“af

“RBRER

Financial Highlights

FEMBRAE (EIER)
As at 31 December
W+ZA=1+—-H
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
=2-\F  ZE-NF  ZBoRF -B--F Z¥CC
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETRE AR¥Tx AR¥Tx AR¥Tx ARETx
255,494 219,749 241,869 272,485 125,474
1,057,440 1,369,365 1,329,751 1,572,878 1,785,626
1,312,934 1,589,114 1,571,620 1,845,363 1,911,100
875,494 1,035,475 1,156,798 1,390,913 1,372,824
6,473 6,543 3,440 19,822 7,255
430,967 547,096 411,382 434,628 531,021
437,440 553,639 414,822 454,450 538,276
1,312,934 1,589,114 1,571,620 1,845,363 1,911,100

“ERO_FHR BUEHARAT 15
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Management Discussion And Analysis

ERESTER R 5T

REVENUES

Our revenues from mobile advertising increased by 9.6% from
RMB2,005.1 million in 2021 to RMB2,196.7 million in 2022, due to
the increase in the number of mobile games we advertised during

2022.

In addition, we generated revenues from our online-video
distribution services and game co-publishing services of RMB84.5
million (2021: RMB85.1 million) and RMB5.5 million (2021: RMB8.0

million) in 2022, respectively.

The following table sets forth the comparative figures for the

periods indicated.

L

EFMREBHEENREHR-ZE-—FHNA
R¥2,005. 1 BEETIBMI.6%E—_T_—
HNARY2196.78E L REAR=-ZT==
FRMOEENBEEREBEILM -

toh RPN B ZFD R B REREE
EmABRREREREEREEERRARE
845HEBT(ZE=-—F : AR¥851HE
TIRARBSSEERT(ZEZ—F ! AR
¥8.0BHETT) °

TREIRFATHEOLEBRHF -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HILEE

2022 2021
gz —E-—F
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
1G58 25 (B atEs
ARETR HEStE AR%®TT =R
Revenues g

Mobile advertising BEBES 2,196,736 95.5% 2,005,125 95.6%
Online-video distribution PERIEERD R 84,525 3.7% 85,102 41%
Game co-publishing TR RE 5,512 0.2% 7,971 0.3%
Others* Hh~ 14,102 0.6% - -
Total st 2,300,875 100% 2,098,198 100%

* Includes revenue from software maintenance services * B R
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Mobile Advertising Services

We generated revenues by distributing advertisements of marketers’
mobile apps and mobile games in the distribution channels of
our MHA members which consist of seven Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, non-MHA smartphone manufacturers and
non-smartphone manufacturer distribution channel suppliers. We
also offered a variety of advertising formats across our distribution
channels, including app store search ads, in-feed ads, banner
ads, interstitial ads and splash screen ads, to suit our customers’
specific needs. The following table sets forth a breakdown of our
advertising revenues by source for the periods indicated:
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=t+—HLEE

2022 2021

—g£=-= —E-—F
% of total % of total
RMB’000 revenues RMB’000 revenues
G480 25 (L atEs
ARETTT HWESHE AR¥TT B
Mobile game distribution el o 2,169,988 98.8% 1,938,115 96.7%
Mobile app distribution BEaERARFDR 26,748 1.2% 67,010 3.3%
Total 485t 2,196,736 100% 2,005,125 100%

Our mobile advertising revenue generated from distribution of
mobile games increased from RMB1,938.1 million in 2021 to
RMB2,170.0 million in 2022, representing an increase of RMB231.9
million, or 12.0% from 2021. The revenues increased primarily
because we expanded the number of mobile games we marketed
and obtained new mobile game distribution channels from
smartphone manufacturers, especially from the MHA members.
Our mobile advertising revenue from mobile app distribution
decreased from RMB67.0 million in 2021 to RMB26.7 million in
2022, representing a decrease of RMB40.3 million, or 60.2% from
2021, primarily due to the decrease in the number of mobile apps
we marketed during 2022.
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Online-video Distribution Services

Leveraging our success and experience in providing advertising
services, we have expanded into additional business verticals and
begun establishing our online-video distribution network to unleash
new monetisation opportunities since 2018.

With our stable relationships with suppliers of content distribution
channels and smartphone manufacturers, especially the MHA
members, we integrated the operational know-hows and experience
in the field of online-video distribution, and expanded our service
offerings to a broader range of marketers.

We generated a revenue of RMB84.5 million for this business line
in 2022, representing a decrease of RMBO0.6 million, or 0.7% from
2021. The videos we distributed are mainly in the areas of finance,
entertainment and movies.

Game Co-publishing Services

We offer one-stop game co-publishing services to game
developers, which include game optimisation, marketing,
promotion, distribution, monetisation and other user-related
services. Leveraging our extensive experience in game co-
publishing, amassed data volume and technical know-how,
we actively identified and sourced new game content as well
as optimised existing game content based on our in-depth
understanding of user profiles, preferences, tastes, and playing
habits. Moreover, based on our close relationship with various
smartphone-based distribution channels, we allocated game
marketing and promotion resources more efficiently and effectively,
with insights into the effect of timing of offer and type of virtual
items based on user behavior and in-game spending.

Our revenues from game co-publishing services decreased by
31.3% from RMB8.0 million in 2021 to RMB5.5 million in 2022. As
at 31 December 2022, we had co-published 20 mobile games in
China.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

COST OF SALES

Our cost of sales primarily consisted of distribution fees incurred
for advertisement placements onto the distribution channels, labor
costs and amortisation expenses.

Cost of sales increased by 12.6% from RMB1,834.9 million in 2021
to RMB2,066.4 million in 2022. This increase was primarily driven
by the increase in distribution fees to our distribution channels,
which was in line with the increase in our revenues during 2022.

GROSS PROFIT AND MARGINS

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit decreased by 10.9%
from RMB263.3 million in 2021 to RMB234.5 million in 2022. The
decrease in gross profit was primarily due to the increase in the
cost of traffic acquisition of our mobile advertising business during
2022.

The decrease in gross profit margin from 12.5% in 2021 to 10.2% in
2022 was primarily due to the increase in cost of traffic acquisition
as a result of a more expensive traffic price in our industry.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Other income and gains increased from RMB17.1 million in 2021
to RMB42.7 million in 2022, primarily due to the derecognition of
accounts payable and the increase in government grants received.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses primarily consisted of sales
employee salaries and related benefit expenses, traveling costs,
conference costs and marketing expenses. Our selling and
distribution expenses increased by 29.3% from RMB15.0 million in
2021 to RMB19.4 million in 2022, which was mainly attributable to
the increase in marketing and advertising expenses.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development cost primarily consisted of fees paid to
third party consulting service providers and employee salaries and
related benefit expenses. Our research and development expenses
increased by 28.7% from RMB67.0 million in 2021 to RMB86.2
million in 2022, primarily due to the increase in the number of our
research and development staff and the research expenses of our
systems.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE

We had impairment loss on accounts receivable of approximately
RMB36.0 million in 2022, primarily as a result of the general and
specific provision for credit loss from our accounts receivable.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Our administrative expenses increased by 14.0% from RMB46.3
million in 2021 to RMB52.8 million in 2022, which was mainly
attributable to the increase in professional service expenses and
staff costs and related expenses.

OTHER EXPENSES AND LOSSES

Other expenses and losses increased from RMB1.1 million in
2021 to RMB160.1 million in 2022, primarily due to the increase in
impairment loss provided on goodwill.

The goodwill was related to our acquisition of Shanghai ChiLe in
2018. Having considered that the unforeseen business environment
of our online-video distribution services segment in the near future,
we made impairment provision of goodwill directly related to
Shanghai ChiLe of approximately RMB154.8 million.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT EXPENSES

Our share-based payment expense increased from RMB18.2
million in 2021 to RMB22.2 million in 2022, because the share-
based payment expenses in connection with the RSUs we granted
to certain grantees were recognised over the vesting period at a
higher weighted-average grant date fair value as compared to 2021.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

FINANCE COSTS

Our finance costs slightly increased from RMB7.5 million in 2021 to
RMB7.7 million in 2022, primarily due to the increase of our bank
borrowings.

SHARE OF LOSSES IN ASSOCIATES

We recorded share of losses in associates of approximately
RMB4.3 million in 2022, which mainly represented our share of loss
from an equity investment in Wanxin Chelian Technology (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd., an associated company of our Company.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Our income tax expense decreased from RMB21.8 million in 2021
to RMB17.1 million in 2022. The decrease was primarily attributable
to the decrease in taxable profit of our subsidiaries in China.

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

As a result of the reasons discussed above, loss for the year was
RMB128.6 million in 2022, compared to profit of RMB62.3 million in
2021.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements, which
are presented in accordance with the HKFRSs, we also use
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted net profit as additional financial
measures, which are unaudited and not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRSs. We present these financial measures
because they are used by our management to evaluate our financial
performance by eliminating the impact of items that we do not
consider indicative of our business performance. We also believe
that these non-HKFRS measures provide additional information
to investors and others in understanding and evaluating our
consolidated results of operations in the same manner as they help
our management compare our financial results across accounting
periods and with those of our peer companies.
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We define adjusted EBITDA as profit/loss for the year without
considering depreciation, amortisation, finance cost, income tax,
impairment loss on goodwill and share-based payment expenses
(“Adjusted EBITDA”). We define adjusted net profit as profit/loss
for the year without considering share-based payment expenses
and impairment loss on goodwill (“Adjusted Net Profit”). The terms
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not defined under the
HKFRSs. The use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit has
material limitations as an analytical tool, as they do not include all
items that impact our profit or loss for the relevant years. The effect
of items eliminated from Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit
is a significant component in understanding and assessing our
operating and financial performance.

In light of the foregoing limitations for Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Net Profit, when assessing our operating and financial
performance, you should not view Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit in isolation or as a substitute for our profit for the year
or any other operating performance measure that is calculated
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, because these non-
HKFRS measures may not be calculated in the same manner by
all companies, they may not be comparable to other similarly titled
measures used by other companies.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

The following tables reconcile our Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted
Net Profit for the periods presented to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with
HKFRSs. Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Profit are not required
by, or presented in accordance with, HKFRSs.
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HILLFE

2022 2021
—®'-= —E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREEFT ARET T
(Loss)/profit for the year £ (BBE) &R (128,558) 62,297
Add: Jiie

Depreciation nE 6,682 5,392
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#E 7,229 6,216
Finance cost B RRAR 7,696 7,549
Income tax expense PTSRiBE 17,105 21,776
Share-based payment expenses DR BERNARES 22,192 18,160
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 154,786 448
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) {EREEBITDACKREER) 87,132 121,838
2022 2021
—T—C —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARET T

(Loss)/profit for the year ik (B518), @ F
Add: ho (128,558) 62,297
Share-based payment expenses R HBERNAREX 22,192 18,160
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE 154,786 448
Adjusted Net Profit (unaudited) AR CRESER) 48,420 80,905
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION FROM

HMZFEMEIR R R IR

OUR CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF &%
FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December
®+=-HA=+—H
2022 2021 Change
=R == —E-—F BE)
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Cash and bank balances RERBITHER 612,551 444,883 37.7%
Bank borrowings RITER 260,000 171,647 51.5%
Current assets MEEE 1,785,626 1,572,878 13.5%
Current liabilities REaE 531,021 434,628 22.2%
Net current assets RBEEFHE 1,254,605 1,138,250 10.2%
Total equity IR AR 1,372,824 1,390,913 -1.3%
Cash and Bank Balances IR& R ERITHEER

As at 31 December 2022, we had cash and bank balances of
RMB612.6 million, as compared with RMB444.9 million as at 31
December 2021. The increase in cash and bank balances was
mainly due to the increase in our bank borrowings and the capital
injection by the non-controlling interest. Our cash and bank
balances were denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars and
US dollars.

Bank Borrowings

Our bank borrowings as at 31 December 2021 amounted to
RMB171.6 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB30.0 million are secured by pledged deposits of RMB30.0
million and US$1.9 million provided by one of our subsidiaries, (2)
the bank borrowings of RMB49.0 million are guaranteed by two
of our subsidiaries, (3) the bank borrowings of RMB5.0 million are
guaranteed by an independent third party, (4) the bank borrowings
of RMB90.0 million are guaranteed by our Company, and (5) the
bank borrowings of RMB139.0 million are guaranteed by the
Controlling Shareholders.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

As at 31 December 2022, our bank borrowings increased to
RMB260.0 million, among which, (1) the bank borrowings of
RMB71.0 million are secured by pledged deposits of RMB61.7
million provided by three of our subsidiaries, (2) the bank
borrowings of RMB95.0 million are guaranteed by two of our
subsidiaries, (3) the bank borrowings of RMB100.0 million are
guaranteed by our Company and (4) the bank borrowings of
RMB200.0 million are guaranteed by the Controlling Shareholders.
All the bank borrowings as at 31 December 2022 were denominated
in Renminbi and will be mature within one year, with fixed interest
rates ranging from 1.500% to 4.350% per annum. The increase in
bank borrowings was primarily due to the increase in external loans
used for our business expansion.

Net Current Assets

Our net current assets were RMB1,254.6 million as at 31 December
2022, compared to RMB1,138.3 million as at 31 December 2021.
Our current assets were RMB1,785.6 million as at 31 December
2022, compared to RMB1,572.9 million as at 31 December 2021,
primarily due to the increase in cash and bank balance. Our
prepayments, deposits and other receivables were RMB571.8
million as at 31 December 2022, compared to RMB546.6 million as
at 31 December 2021, which was mainly attributable to the increase
in purchase of prepaid data traffic for the Group’s business
development needs. Our current liabilities were RMB531.0 million
as at 31 December 2022, compared to RMB434.6 million as at 31
December 2021, primarily due to the increase in interest-bearing
bank borrowings and other payables and accruals, partly offset by
the decrease in accounts payable.

Total Equity

As at 31 December 2022, our total equity was RMB1,372.8 million,
compared to RMB1,390.9 million as at 31 December 2021, mainly
due to the net loss occurred during 2022.
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KEY FINANCIAL RATIOS

FEIMBLLE

As at 31 December

R+=-A=+—H
2022 2021
- =Sl —E——F
Current ratio (times)® MENLE = ((FE)O 3.4 3.6
Gearing ratio (%)@ BEESEBLER%)? 28.2 24.6
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=+—HILFE
2022 2021
ol ~Jlant —E——F
Adjusted net profit margin® AR TR XS 2.1% 3.8%

Notes:

(1) Current ratio was calculated based on our total current assets divided by
our total current liabilities at the end of each financial period.

) Gearing ratio was calculated based on our total liabilities divided by our
total assets at the end of each financial period.

©)) Adjusted net profit margin was calculated based on our adjusted net
profit for the relevant period divided by our total revenues for the same
period.

Current Ratio

Our current ratio decreased from 3.6 as at 31 December 2021
to 3.4 as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to the increase in
current liabilities resulting from the increase in interest-bearing bank
borrowings and other payables and accruals.

Gearing Ratio

Our gearing ratio increased from 24.6% as at 31 December 2021 to
28.2% as at 31 December 2022, mainly due to the increase in total
liabilities.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Adjusted Net Profit Margin

Our adjusted net profit margin decreased from 3.8% in 2021 to
2.1% in 2022, primarily due to the increase in overall operating
expenses and the decrease in gross profit.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INVESTMENTS

Our capital expenditures mainly consist of additions to property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets. Our capital expenditures
amounted to RMB750,000 and RMB1,072,000 in 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

FUNDING AND TREASURY POLICIES

We expect to fund our working capital and other capital
requirements from a combination of various sources, including
but not limited to internal resources and external financing at
reasonable market rates. We seek to improve the return of the
equity and assets while adhering to our prudent funding and
treasury policies.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars and the Hong
Kong dollars. Therefore, foreign exchange risk primarily arose from
recognised assets and liabilities in the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
when receiving or to receive foreign currencies from, or paying or to
pay foreign currencies to, overseas business partners. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
other plans for material investments and capital assets.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures in 2022.
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ERESTER R 5T

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

The Group had no significant investments for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

Certain deposits placed with banks were used as pledged assets
for the Group’s bank borrowings. For more details, please refer to
Note 24 to the financial statements.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, we did not have any material contingent
liabilities (2021: nil).

DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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Directors and Senior Management

OUR DIRECTORS

The biography of each Director is set out below.

Executive Directors

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 44, is our founder, an executive
Director and the chairman of the Board, and served as our chief
executive officer from March 2014 to December 2022, being
responsible for overall management of the business, strategy and
corporate development of our Group. Mr. Gao has 19 years of
experience in the technology industry.

Prior to founding our Group, Mr. Gao served as a business
director of mobile business department of Baidu Online Network
Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (AEEERBERMEALR)ER A A)
from June 2008 to March 2014, a subsidiary of Baidu, Inc. (BE 2
Fl), which is a company listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: BIDU),
specialising in Internet-related services and products and artificial
intelligence.

Mr. Gao obtained a master degree in business administration from
Beijing University of Posts and Telecommunications (1t R E & K £)
in July 2008.
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Directors and Senior Management

ESRSRERE

Mr. NIE Xin (), aged 43, was appointed as an executive
Director on 27 August 2020. He joined the Group in March 2019
as the senior vice president and was responsible for the operating
management. He has over 14 years of experience in operations and
management.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Nie served as an operation manager
at Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from
September 2009 to September 2012. From November 2013
to March 2019, he served as the general manager of strategic
investment department of Suzhou Meishengyuan Information
Technology Co., Ltd. (BiMNEETEERFEBRAA).

Mr. Nie graduated from the Central Radio and Television University
(PREZESZIEAZ) in May 2006 with a college degree.

Ms. JIANG Yu (#3F), aged 39, joined the Group in January 2019 as
a senior vice president and is primarily responsible for the corporate
and business development of the Group. She was appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer of our Company
on 20 July 2022 and 16 December 2022, respectively. She has over
16 years of experience in the technology industry.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Jiang served as a business
development manager at Beijing Airlnbox Information Technologies
Co., Ltd. (tRZEHEEEEFMBR2AF) from July 2007 to March
2010, a consolidated affiliated entity of KongZhong Corporation (22
##8), a company previously listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: KZ)
and privatised in April 2017. From March 2010 to April 2015, she
served as the director of mobile business department of Shenzhen
Aisidi Co., Ltd. (RYIT BER D ER A F), a company listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002416). From April 2015
to December 2018, she served as a vice president of an internet
startup company.

Ms. Jiang obtained a bachelor’s degree in electronics and
communication from Hunan University (#1F8 X2) and an MBA
degree from Peking University (ItZAKE) in July 2006 and July
2017, respectively.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHENG Wei (€P}&), aged 45, is a non-executive Director and
joined our Group since March 2016. He was appointed as executive
Director of the Company in November 2018 and was re-designated
as non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 27
August 2020. Prior to his re-designation, he was the vice chairman
of the Board and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He
has 16 years of experience in the technology industry.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zheng has been the director of the Investment Professional
Committee of China Software Industry Association (FFEB #4173
#%E) since March 2023. He served as the executive director and
the president of Aoyuan Healthy Life Group Company Limited (5
BE#EEFEBAER2QF), which is a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3662), from January
2021 to September 2022. He served as a partner of Northern Light
Investment Advisory (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (1t#&33% & FER (L ) AR
A7) from July 2015 to February 2016. He served as the general
manager of the creation development department and business
cooperation department as well as a vice general manager in the
mobile service group of Baidu Online Network Technology (Beijing)
Co., Ltd. from July 2007 to July 2015.

Mr. Zheng obtained a bachelor degree in engineering mechanics
and a master degree in solid mechanics from Tsinghua University
(BEAE) in July 1999 and in July 2001, respectively. He also
obtained a degree of Ph.D. in informatics from Peking University (it
TAE) in July 2014.
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ESRSRERE

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Baoguo (FREEE), aged 58, is an independent non-
executive Director of our Group. He has been the deputy secretary
general of China Software Industry Association (F Bl {17 £ 1
&) since February 2017. From July 2007 to February 2017, he was
the deputy director of Institute of International Technology and
Economics (BIPR T &8 T2 FR) at State Council Development
Research Center (B 7%P% % R ZEH0y).

Mr. Chen received a bachelor degree in material management from
Northern Jiaotong University (3t 7R #BAKE) in July 1986, and a
master degree in metal material and heat treatment from Yanshan
University (%LU X£28) in June 1991. Then he obtained a degree
of Ph.D. in economics and management from Northern Jiaotong
University in May 2003.

Mr. JIN Yongsheng (£ %), aged 57, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 16 September 2021.
He has successively served as a professor and head of the
Department of Business Administration and Public Administration,
dean and doctoral supervisor of the School of Economics and
Management, chairman of the Professor Committee and a
member of the Academic Committee of Beijing University of Posts
and Telecommunications (tZREE KE) since July 2004. He is
principally focused on teaching and researching in the fields of
digital economy, mobile internet industry organisation and strategic
management, including, among others, digital consumer behavior,
big data business model, value creation and value transfer of
mobile internet industry. He has published more than 100 articles
in top-tier journals such as Economic Perspectives (&&EEE)
#E), Chinese Journal of Management Science (T EIEE &) and
the theoretical page of People’s Daily (A K H#R). From May 1996
to June 2004, he served as a professor, master supervisor and
deputy dean of the College of Economics and Management of
Beijing University of Technology (1tZX T XE2). From July 1988
to April 1996, he successively served as lecturer, director of the
Business Economics Teaching and Research Office, the Economics
Research Institute and the Scientific Research Office and associate
professor of the Department of Business Economics of Lanzhou
University of Finance and Economics (B B 4E K E2).
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Jin was graduated from Lanzhou University of Finance and
Economics (BN BF4E K &) with a bachelor’s degree in business
economics in 1985. He obtained a master’s degree in trade
economics from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (4
B & BUEKE) and a doctor’s degree in industrial economics
from Renmin University of China (FEI AR KXZ) in 1988 and 2002,
respectively.

Mr. YU Limin (RFIE), aged 44, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 20 July 2022. He has over 21 years of
experience in financial management and investment. He served as
a project manager of audit department at Beijing Tin Wha Certified
Public Accountants (Jt RXEEFHAIEFN) from July 2001 to May
2004. From June 2004 to March 2005, he served as an investment
manager of Tianhua International Investment Services Co., Ltd.
(RERMRIRE RIS AR A F). From April 2005 to August 2009, he
served as a senior investment manager of Beijing Zodi Investment
Co., Ltd. (R ERERDERAR]), a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000609). From August
2010 to March 2015, he served as the head of investment and
development department of Tianjin New Financial Investments Co.,
Ltd. (KZ2#HERIREERET D T). From April 2015 to December
2017, he served as the assistant president and director of corporate
finance department at Luyu Ecosystem Engineering Co., Ltd. (&
HAERETRER D F). Since December 2018, he has served as
a senior project manager of audit department at Zhongxingcai
Guanghua Certified Public Accountants LLP (FF S8} ¢ EE &5t =75 Fr
(BHHREBER)).

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in trade economics from
Tianjin University of Commerce (KZRZEKE) in June 2001. He
was accredited as a certified public accountant by the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (P EIF 2T ER ) in
October 2020. He was also awarded with finance professional
qualification of intermediate economist by the Office of Professional
Title in Tianjin (K ZM B TIEPAZ) in April 2013.

OUR SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. GAO Dinan (&3 5), aged 44, is our founder, an executive
Director, the chairman of the Board. For further details, please see
the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior Management — Our
Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. NIE Xin (§&3%), aged 43, is an executive Director and the senior
vice president. For further details, please see the paragraph headed
“Directors and Senior Management — Our Directors — Executive
Directors” in this section.
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Ms. JINAG Yu (#5), aged 39, is an executive Director, the
chief executive officer and the senior vice president. For further
details, please see the paragraph headed “Directors and Senior
Management — Our Directors — Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. ZHANG Zhen (5R7E), aged 44, is our chief information officer
and joined our Group in August 2014. He is primarily responsible for
corporate information management and overseeing product testing
of our Group. He has nearly 19 years of experience in technology
industry.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang served as a manager of
wireless business department in Baidu Online Network Technology
(Beijing) Co., Ltd. from December 2010 to December 2013. From
December 2004 to March 2005 and from March 2006 to March
2011, he served as a technology director of wireless business
department in Sohu New Era Network Information Technology Co.,
Ltd. (I RFCA R BB MTBR 2 F), a subsidiary of Sohu.com
Inc., which is listed on Nasdaq (stock symbol: SOHU) and primarily
engaged in providing Internet services.

Mr. Zhang obtained a bachelor degree in computer science and
technology from Beijing Institute of Technology (1t 532 T K£2) in
August 2004.

Mr. YU Dingyi (F7T —), aged 44, joined the Group in October
2022 as a vice president of finance and was appointed as the chief
financial officer of the Group on 16 December 2022. He has over
22 years of experience in financial management. Prior to joining
the Group, he served multiple positions in PetroChina Company
Limited (FEIRRMRARK M ERDF]), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601857) and the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 857), from July 2000 to July 2014, with his
last position as the director of finance department of PetroChina
Trading Company Limited (FEIAHERARKBRBERARHEHES A
Al). He served as the financial controller and a director of APUS
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (RS BB KM HER LD F),
from September 2014 to October 2022 and from July 2019 to
October 2022, respectively.

Mr. Yu obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from China
University of Petroleum (FEIAMAZ) in July 2000. He also
obtained a master’s degree in finance from The Central University
of Finance and Economics (FREI#EKE) in September 2006. He
is @ member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since April 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson (5R1tiE), aged 42, is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since
September 2005 and a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2005. He has extensive
experience in accounting, finance, business advisory, compliance
and secretarial work in listed companies. He has been serving as
the company secretary of Leader Education Limited (stock code:
1449) and Xingye Wulian Service Group Co. Ltd. (stock code:
9916), each being a company listed on the Stock Exchange, since
August 2020 and July 2022, respectively. He graduated from the
University of British Columbia with a bachelor of commerce degree
in May 2002.
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Report of the Directors

ESERE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Reporting
Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is a technology company in the mobile Internet
market, helping connect businesses from various industries
to hundreds of millions of Android-based smartphone users in
China. It provides Android-based content distribution services for
marketers seeking mobile advertising, online-video distribution,
game co-publishing services and software maintenance services.
The activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to
the financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 101
of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may recommend the payments of dividend on a per
Share basis in respect of the Shares of the Company. In considering
the payment of dividends, the Company takes various factors
into account, including but not limited to the Company’s financial
performance, the business conditions and strategies, the capital
requirements, statutory and regulatory restrictions and any other
factors which the Company may deem relevant. The declaration
and payment of future dividends will depend upon, among other
things, financial condition, future earnings, cash flow, liquidity level,
business prospects and other relevant factors.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review and performance analysis of the Group for
the Reporting Period is set out in the section headed “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 10 to 13 and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” from pages 16 to 28 of this annual report.
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Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company attaches great importance to environmental
protection and resource conservation, and continuously pays
attention to the impact of its business operations on the
environment. The Group is committed to maintaining the common
development of economy, environment and society, and promoting
awareness of environmental protection and resource conservation
in its daily operations. The Group strictly follows the relevant
environment protection laws and regulations of the PRC and
adopts various electricity-saving and water-saving management
measures, including management over air-conditioning settings in
office areas and enhancing management and maintenance of water
equipment, thereby improving efficiency and minimizing resource
consumption. During the Reporting Period, the Company did not
find any environmental-related violations.

For details of the Company’s environmental policies and
performance, and the important relationship between the Company
and its employees, customers and suppliers, please refer to the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company for
the year ended December 31, 2022 published on the website of
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s own
website (www.wankaonline.com) according to the Listing Rules.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group is exposed to various risks in its business operations,
primarily including: (i) failure to improve and enhance the
functionality, performance, reliability, design, security, and
scalability of its products and services to suit its clients’ evolving
needs, (ii) failure to develop and maintain successful relationships
with its local channel partners, and (iii) systems disruptions,
distributed denial of service attacks, or other hacking and phishing
attacks on its systems and security breaches.

Effect Assessment of the COVID-19 Outbreak

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted economic
activities worldwide. Many countries have imposed restrictions
on non-essential services and business operations, and have
also implemented travel restrictions, border closures and other
quarantine measures that have significantly curbed the normal
movement of goods, services and people. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2022, the impacts of COVID-19 have been
reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

The COVID-19 pandemic may continue to impact our business
operations and financial operating results, and there is uncertainty
in the nature and degree of its continued effects over time. The
Group will proactively manage the businesses and take the
necessary actions to ensure that the long-term business prospects
of the Group remain stable.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 21 December 2018 by way of global offering,
raising total net proceeds of approximately HK$194.7 million
(equivalent to approximately RMB171.2 million) after deducting
professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related
listing expenses (the “IPO”).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had utilised the proceeds as
set out in the table below:
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KB
3 FRREZ
BRARYE +2A=+-8 REES AR
FamEHE EBRRE EBRAE HABRAERE HRE%
HKS AUB HKS AWB HKS AWB HKS RIB
‘million milion million millon ‘million million million millon
ARH ARH ARH AEH
GEEr  BEn  BEEr  BEr  EEEr  BEn  BEEn BER
Strengthening research and EERD 584 514 58.4 514 - - - - -
development capabilities
Promoting the development BRRERERN 584 514 532 468 51 45 52 46 December
standard of Quick Apps [t 2023
ZEC=
=
Expanding senvice offeringsand ~~ EARBEER 29.2 251 29.2 5.1 - - - - -
strengthening ecosystem EERRS
Expanding monetization channels B &L EER 292 %7 292 %57 - - - - -
and strengthening sales and ERHEREHY
marketing capabilities
Working capital and EEEOR-REXAR 195 170 195 170 - - - - -
general corporate uses
Total @t 1947 1712 1895 166.6 51 45 52 46

The remaining balance of the net proceeds from the IPO was
placed with banks. There has been no change in the intended use
of net proceeds as previously disclosed in the Prospectus and the
Group will apply the remaining net proceeds in the manner set out
in the Prospectus.
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To strengthen the financial position of the Group and provide
working capital to the Group, the Company completed the Placing
of 135,000,000 new Shares at the placing price of HK$1.45
per Share in March 2021, and received the net proceeds from
the Placing of approximately HK$189.0 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB157.8 million) after deducting the expenses
incurred in connection with the Placing.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had utilised the proceeds as
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set out in the table below: E2FABRNMTRAT :
Expected
timeline for
the use of
Net proceeds from Utilization up to Utilization during unutilised
the Placing 31 December 2022 the Reporting Period Unutilised proceeds proceeds
HAHR
T FamEZ
EE tZR=t+-8 RESH TR
FamEH EERAE EHRNE HABRFTERE HER
HKS AMB HKS AMB HKS AMB HKS AMB
"millon millon  millon million "millon million millon million
AEE ARE AEE AEE
BEEr BT EEEr BB BERT  BEn BEBT BER
Further develop the Group's E-SERAEE 1134 w7 83.6 69.8 51.7 482 28 249 December
existing business lines REEH 2023
“E-=
T=8
Enhance the Group’s digital MAREENET AR 5.7 473 272 27 144 122 295 246 December
infrastructure and for research 31 - MR ERAR 2023
and development of new BT YES TEICE
internet and technological :
solutions
General working capital uses -hegEeRE 189 158 135 1.3 6.0 50 54 45 December
2023
—EC=
=R
Total st 189.0 157.8 1243 1038 78.1 65.4 64.7 54.0

The remaining balance of the net proceeds from the Placing was
placed with banks. There has been no change in the intended
use of net proceeds and the net proceeds from the Placing have
been and will be applied in the manner consistent with the use of
proceeds as disclosed above.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s five largest
customers, which primarily include marketers seeking the Group’s
services, contributed to a total of 31.8% of the Group’s total
revenue and the Group’s largest customer contributed to a total of
6.3% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group’s five largest
suppliers, which primarily include distribution channel partners,
contributed to a total of 77.4% of the Group’s total cost of sales
and the Group’s largest supplier contributed to a total of 29.2% of
the Group’s total cost of sales.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined
under the Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest suppliers or the Group’s five largest customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Reporting Period are set out in Note 16 to the
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Reporting Period are set out in Note 29 to the financial
statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the Reporting Period are set out on pages 105 to 106 in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, amounted to approximately RMB1,016.5 million (as of
December 31, 2021: RMB1,029.1 million).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group
as of December 31, 2022 are set out in Note 28 to the financial
statements.

LOAN AND GUARANTEE

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Group had not
made any loan or provided any guarantee for loan, directly or
indirectly, to the Directors, senior management of the Company,
the Controlling Shareholders or any of their respective connected
persons.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) (former Chief Executive Officer and
ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer on 16 December 2022)

Ms. ZHOU Yan (resigned on 28 April 2022)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed as executive
Director on 20 July 2022 and appointed as Chief Executive
Officer on 16 December 2022)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. ZHENG Wei
Mr. SONG Chunyu (resigned on 28 April 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (resigned on 20 July 2022)
Mr. YU Limin (appointed on 20 July 2022)

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Mr.
ZHENG Wei, Mr. CHEN Baoguo and Mr. JIN Yongsheng shall retire
by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-
election at the AGM.
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In accordance with Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Ms.
JIANG Yu and Mr. YU Limin shall retire, and being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the AGM.

Details of the Directors to be re-elected at the AGM are set out in
the circular to the Shareholders to be dispatched before the AGM.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out on pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors, and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND
LETTERS OF APPOINTMENT

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE Xin
and Ms. JIANG Yu, has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 3 November 2021, 27 August 2020 and 20 July 2022,
respectively, for an initial term of three years commencing from 3
November 2021, 27 August 2020 and 20 July 2022, respectively.

The non-executive Director, Mr. ZHENG Wei, has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021.
The initial term for his appointment letter shall commence from 3
November 2021 and shall continue for three years, until terminated
in accordance with the respective terms and conditions of the
appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively. The initial term
for their appointment letters shall be three years from 3 November
2021, 16 September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively, until
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
appointment letter or by either party giving to the other not less
than three months’ prior notice in writing.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

The change in directors’ information as required to be disclosed
pursuant to Rules 13.51(2) and 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules is set
out below:

Mr. ZHENG Wei, our non-executive Director, has tendered his
resignation as the executive director and the president of Aoyuan
Healthy Life Group Company Limited, which is a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3662),
with effect from 1 September 2022 due to his other business
commitments.

Appointment of Directors

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 July 2022,
(i) Ms. JIANG Yu has been appointed as an executive Director of
the Company with effect from 20 July 2022; and (ii) Mr. YU Limin
has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
the Company, a member of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee, all with effect from 20 July 2022.
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Change of Chief Executive Officer

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 16 December
2022, (i) Mr. GAO Dinan has resigned as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, with effect from 16 December 2022, in order to
focus on the performance of his responsibilities as the chairman of
the Board, executive Director and the chairman of the Nomination
Committee; and (i) Ms. JIANG Yu has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company in replacement of Mr. GAO Dinan
with effect from 16 December 2022.

Resignation of Directors

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 28 April 2022,
() Ms. ZHOU Yan tendered her resignation as an executive Director
of the Company with effect from 28 April 2022, due to change of job
assignments within the Group; and (i) Mr. SONG Chunyu tendered
his resignation as a non-executive Director of the Company with
effect from 28 April 2022 in order to be more focused on his other
job engagements.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 20 July 2022,
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei tendered her resignation as an independent
non-executive director of the Company, a member of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee, all with
effect from 20 July 2022, in order to devote more time to her
personal endeavours.

Save as disclosed above, there are no change of particulars of the

Directors or chief executives of the Company as required under the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors had any material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the
Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during
the Reporting Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement that would enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted
any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the
Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.

CONTRACTS WITH CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “ Related Party
Transactions” in Note 38 to the financial statements contained
in this annual report, no contract of significance was entered
into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and any
Controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended December 31, 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year
and no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a Controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries was entered into during the year ended
December 31, 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

A Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance of the Directors and senior
management and comparable market practices.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors, and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in Notes 11 and
12 to the financial statements, respectively.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the
rules and regulations of the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Authority. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the participating
employees’ relevant income from the Group. When an employee
leaves the MPF Scheme, the mandatory contributions are fully
vested with the employee. The employees of the PRC subsidiaries
are members of the state-managed retirement benefits scheme
operated by the PRC government. The employees of the PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to this retirement benefits
scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Employee benefits” set
out in Note 4 to the financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of December 31, 2022, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Interests of Directors and Chief Executives in the
Company or Associated Corporation of the Company
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Mr. GAO Dinan®  The Company Interest in controlled 475,940,800  Long position 31.19
corporations;
interest held jointly
SEE=F A PN ZEEEER 475,940,800 HR 31.19
HEFE#ER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® The Company Interest in controlled 475,940,800  Long position 31.19
corporation;
interest held jointly
BRI TEO PN ZEEEER 475,940,800 HR 31.19
HEFE#ER
Mr. NIE Xin® The Company Beneficial owner 1,587,000  Long position 0.11
BmELLE RN BEREAA 1,587,000 HRE 0.11
Ms. JIANG Yu® The Company Beneficial owner 2,790,000 Long position 0.18
BEFLLO PN BERBEAA 2,790,000 "R 0.18
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Notes:

(1) The calculation is based on the total number of 1,525,743,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2022.

(2)  Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2022 (i) held by Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 277,076,300 Shares; and (i) held
by Mr. Zheng and his wholly-owned company, Countryside Tech Inc.,
which is interested in 198,864,500 Shares as they are parties acting in
concert.

(8  Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire Shares as of
December 31, 2022 (i) held by Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly
owned by him and is interested in 198,864,500 Shares; and (i) held by
Mr. Gao and his wholly-owned company, Wanka Media Limited, which
is interested in 277,076,300 Shares as they are parties acting in concert.

(4)  Mr. NIE Xin is interested in RSUs granted to him under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme entitling him to receive 1,587,000 Shares.

5) Ms. JIANG Yu is interested in (i) 397,000 Shares and (i) RSUs granted
to her under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme entitling her to receive
2,393,000 Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, none of the
Directors or the chief executives of the Company had or was
deemed to have any interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AR AT R
wa  &iE 5 ety BinEE BE e BHESO (%)
Wanka Media Limited® Beneficial Interest; interest held 475,940,800 Long position 31.19
jointly with another person
Wanka Media Limited® BEnfEs ) lBE— AT HE 475,940,800 #E 31.19
BEER
Mr. GAO Dinan® Interest in a controlled 475,940,800 Long position 31.19
corporation; interest
held jointly
S BEEe SEEEER  KEFEER 475,940,800 #E 31.19
Ms. LU Haiyan® Interest of spouse 475,940,800 Long position 31.19
Mgz @ BB 475,940,800 #E 31.19
Countryside Tech Inc.® Beneficial Interest; interest held 475,940,800 Long position 31.19
jointly with another person
Countryside Tech Inc.® BEnfEn B - AT HE 475,940,800 S 31.19
BFE#ER
Mr. ZHENG Wei® Interest in a controlled 475,940,800 Long position 31.19
corporation; interest
held jointly
BRIEELE® SEEEEER  HEEEES 475,940,800 #E 31.19
Ms. FENG Chun® Interest of spouse 475,940,800 Long position 31.19
BELZLTO [inRtEErs £ 475,940,800 e 31.19
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Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding in

Capacity/Nature Number Long/short  the Company!
Name of Interest of Shares position (%)
AR AT IR
LYt S, HESME BinEE L5 P BHIE S (%)
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 104,291,430 Long position 6.84
Partners Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment SEEERER 104,291,430 weE 6.84
Partners Co., Ltd.®
Korea Investment Interest in controlled 104,291,430 Long position 6.84
Holdings Co., Ltd.® corporations
Korea Investment FEEEER 104,291,430 e 6.84
Holdings Co., Ltd.®
Notes: MI5E -

1)

The calculation is based on the total number of 1,525,743,350 Shares in
issue as of December 31, 2022.

Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2022 held by (i) Wanka Media Limited, a company wholly
owned by him; and (i) Mr. ZHENG Wei and his wholly-owned company,
being Countryside Tech Inc., as they are parties acting in concert. Ms.
LU Haiyan, spouse of Mr. GAO Dinan is deemed to be interested in Mr.

Mr. ZHENG Wei is deemed to be interested in the entire interests as of
December 31, 2022 (i) Countryside Tech Inc., a company wholly owned
by him; and (i) Mr. GAO Dinan and his wholly-owned company, being
Wanka Media Limited, as they are parties acting in concert. Ms. FENG
Chun, spouse of Mr. ZHENG Wei, is deemed to be interested in Mr.

@)

GAO Dinan’s entire interest.
@)

ZHENG Wei’s entire interest.
(@)

The general partnership of both KIP Overseas and KIP Bright is Korea
Investment Partners Co., Ltd., which is controlled by Korea Investment
Holdings Co., Ltd. Therefore, Korea Investment Partners Co., Ltd. and
Korea Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the
entire interests as of December 31, 2022 held by KIP Overseas and KIP
Bright, namely 98,231,500 and 6,059,930 Shares.
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KIP Overseas & &= 5 00 & i & % A H Korea
Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. 1% l&Korea
Investment Partners Co., Ltd. ° E it + Korea
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Investment Holdings Co., Ltd. #8 ANEE
—E=—F+=A=+—HKKIP Overseas
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6,059,930/ A% 15 ) A #E F s



Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2022, the Directors
were not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall
to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEMES

The Company has adopted the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme,
the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme.

The value of the number of Shares that may be issued in respect
of options and awards granted under all schemes of the Company
during the Reporting Period divided by the weighted average
number of Shares of the relevant class in issue for the Reporting
Period was 2.70%.

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company adopted its 2016 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on January 6, 2016 and
amended by the Board resolution passed on May 24, 2018. Certain
principal terms and details of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are
summarised as follows:

The purpose of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivise
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.

Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme are existing employees, directors (whether executive or
non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive directors)
or officers of the Company or any member of the Group (the “RSU
Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the RSU Eligible Persons
to receive RSUs under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme at its
discretion.
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A RSU gives a participant in the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme (the
“RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU vests to obtain
Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges applicable,
as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion. Each
RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include, if so
specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares. A RSU
Participant does not have any contingent interest in any Shares
underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are actually
transferred to the RSU Participant. Further, a RSU Participant may
not exercise voting rights in respect of the Shares underlying the
RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless otherwise specified by
our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU grant letter to the RSU
Participant, nor do they have any rights to any cash or non-cash
income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-
cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying the
RSUs.

The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being March 31, 2016 (unless it is terminated earlier
in accordance with its terms). The remaining life of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately three years.

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited
(the “RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue Shares to the RSU Trustee to be held by
the RSU Trustee and which will be used to satisfy the Shares
underlying the RSUs upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure
the RSU Trustee to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or
purchase existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy
the Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company
shall procure that sufficient funds are provided to the RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations in
connection with the administration of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme shall be transferred, allotted or
issued to the RSU Trustee.
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Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “Vesting Notice”) to each of
the relevant RSU Participants. The Vesting Notice will confirm the
extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time schedule
have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the number of
Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income, dividends
or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-
scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) involved. The RSU
Participant shall serve the exercise notice within three (3) months
after receiving the Vesting Notice. The RSU Trustee will not hold the
Shares underlying the RSUs vested for the RSU Participant after
this three (8) months period.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares held
or to be held by the RSU Trustee for the purpose of the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme from time to time. The Company has allotted
and issued to the nominee of the RSU Trustee 62,500,000 ordinary
shares underlying all the grants under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, representing 4.10% of the number of Shares in issue as at
December 31, 2022 (without taking into account of any Share which
may be issued pursuant to the exercise of any RSU that may be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and the exercise
of any option that may be granted under the Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme). The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme only involves existing
Shares, and no further grants is permitted thereunder in light of
its scheme limit, and all the RSUs granted thereunder have been
vested. No Shares is available for issue under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme as at the date of this annual report.
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As of December 31, 2021, we had granted RSUs representing
62,500,000 Shares to 76 grantees under the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme, including the following senior management and other
current or former key employees of the Company. During the year
ended December 31, 2022, no RSUs were granted or agreed to
be granted under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. Details of the
RSUs granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme are as

BEZZE-—F+=-A=+—H ' &MHEE
—E-ARERMBEFEE7T6 BEEARARY
1£3:62,500,000 B% A% 19 #9  BR I AR 19 BE 1z
BERAQANTIESREEAEREMIEBAE
RHEETBERE - BE-ZE-_—_F+=-A=
T—HLEFE  HIERE-ZT—SFERMDH
Bt ERESREAE R L ZREIRMEN - R

set out below: BT RNERDBE R ENZ R
PENFEHIINT ¢
Number Number Number Weighted
Number of of Shares of Shares of Shares Number Average
Shares underlying underlying underlying of Shares Closing
underlying the exercised  the cancelled the lapsed underlying Price of
the RSUs RSUsduring  RSUsduring ~ RSUsduring  the RSUs as at Exercise the Shares
Category/Name  Date of asat  theReporting the Reporting theReporting  December 31, Vesting Price before
of grantee Grant January 1, 2022 Period Period Period 2022  Period (US$)  Exercise
BECS-C RENR HEC%-C
-A-H EfffE RENR H#E8m  t-R=t-H s
e RRHRG St EXHE  HXRERE Rt
RIRAER/ E{iH iRy IRARGEL ERURHEL iR fTefE  mEey
2 RiBE B HE! RH¥E  EERHEE  EERGHE Eh¥E SEY &n) W
Directors/Senior management
B2 BYEEE
Ms.ZHOU Yan 30 June 2017 5,000,000 Shares 5,000,000 Shares - - - 21December2018 00000002  HK$0.42
[Bsat “E-tE 5,000,000 5,000,000 %1 - - - ZE-N\E 00000002 0427
~B=1EH tZB=+-A
Mr. GENG 22 June 2018 325,958 Shares 325,958 Shares - - - 2019-2022 00000002  HKS$0.39
Xuefeng
HERLE “E-0E 35958RRA 325,958 KM - - - ZE-NEZ2 0.0000002  0.39%T
~B=TZR 3
Mr. NIE Xin 22 March 2019 1,587,000 Shares - - - 1,587,000 Shares 22 March 2020 0.0000002 N/A
EARE ZE-NE 1,587 000 %4 - - - 1587000RMH —B-BE 00000002  TEA
=A=toR =ZA=tc-R
Other grantees
RFEA
52employees 31 March2016to 17,611,275 Shares 500,000 Shares - - 17,111,275 Shares 201810 2023 0.0000002  HK$0.33
16 September 2021
%ES e SN2 176112758 RHA  500000RM 1A - - TM2sRES  —E-NE2 0.0000002  0.33%T
ZB=t-B% 3
—E--
AATAR
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Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:
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EARITENZREBRODECHEEEMNT :

Number of RSUs
ZPRH Y EMEE
Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2022 24,524,233
BE_—T-_—_fF—HA—BWEKRTESR 24,524,233
Granted -
=t id _
Forfeited -
=hedy -
Exercised (5,825,958)
21T (5,825,958)
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2022 18,698,275
BE-T-__F+-A=+—B0ERTESS 18,698,275
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme BARAFEEEEBIREETE
On November 3, 2018, the Company adopted the Post-IPO Share RIEBE—N\F+—HB=H  KQIRXEMEX
Option Scheme, which falls within the ambit of, and is subject to, NEREABERESS ZEEBRLTR

the regulations under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme is to attract,
retain and motivate employees, Directors and other participants,
and to provide a means of compensating them through the grant
of options for their contribution to the growth and profits of the
Group, and to allow such employees, Directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group.

The Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme and other share
option schemes of our Company (and to which the provisions of the
Listing Rules are applicable) shall not exceed 127,321,635 Shares
(i.e. 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue on the Listing Date
(“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme shall not be counted for the
purpose of calculating this Scheme Mandate Limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each eligible
person under the Share Option Scheme (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.
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The term of the Share Option Scheme is 10 years from November
3, 2018 and the options granted have a 10-year exercise period.
Options may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with the
requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or rules.

The exercise price of the option shall be such price as determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion at the time of the grant of
the relevant option (and shall be stated in the letter containing the
offer of the grant of the option), but in any case the subscription
price shall not be less than the higher of (a) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day, (b) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets
of the Stock Exchange for the five (5) business days immediately
preceding the date of grant, and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

Given that the Company has not granted any options under the
Post-IPO Share Option Scheme since its adoption nor does it intend
to utilize such scheme in the future, the Company has proposed
to terminate the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme according to the
terms therein, pursuant to which, such scheme may be terminated
by resolutions of either of the Board or the Shareholders in general
meeting.

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Company adopted its 2019 Share Incentive Scheme as
approved by the Board resolution passed on August 29, 2019.
In light of the amendments to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has proposed to amend the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme to bring the terms of the scheme in alignment with the
new requirements under the Listing Rules. A resolution to amend
the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be proposed at the general
meeting of the Company in due course.

Certain principal terms and details of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme are summarised as follows:

The purpose of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme is to incentivise
Directors, senior management and employees for their contribution
to the Group, to attract, motivate and retain skilled and experienced
personnel to strive for the future development and expansion of
the Group by providing them with the opportunity to own equity
interests in the Company.
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Persons eligible to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme include existing employees, Directors (whether executive
or non-executive, but excluding independent non-executive
directors) or officers of the Company or any member of the Group
(the “2019 RSU Eligible Persons”). Our Board selects the 2019 RSU
Eligible Persons to receive RSUs under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme at its discretion.

A RSU gives a participant in the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
(the “2019 RSU Participant”) a conditional right when the RSU
vests to obtain Shares, less any tax, stamp duty and other charges
applicable, as determined by our Board in its absolute discretion.
Each RSU represents one underlying Share. A RSU may include,
if so specified by our Board in its entire discretion, cash and non-
cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds
of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares.
A 2019 RSU Participant does not have any contingent interest in
any Shares underlying the RSUs unless and until such Shares are
actually transferred to the 2019 RSU Participant. Further, a 2019
RSU Participant may not exercise voting rights in respect of the
Shares underlying the RSUs prior to their exercise and, unless
otherwise specified by our Board in its entire discretion in the RSU
grant letter to the 2019 RSU Participant, nor do they have any rights
to any cash or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or
the sale proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions from any
Shares underlying the RSUs.

The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be valid and effective for a
period of ten (10) years, commencing from the adoption date of
the scheme, being August 29, 2019 (unless it is terminated earlier
in accordance with its terms). The remaining life of the 2019 Share
Incentive Scheme is approximately six years.
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The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited (the
“2019 RSU Trustee”) as the trustee to assist in the administration
and vesting of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The Company
may (i) allot and issue new Shares to the 2019 RSU Trustee which
will hold such Shares to satisfy the Shares underlying the RSUs
upon exercise and/or (ii) direct and procure the 2019 RSU Trustee
to receive existing Shares from any Shareholder or purchase
existing Shares (either on-market or off-market) to satisfy the
Shares underlying the RSUs upon exercise. The Company shall
procure that sufficient funds are provided to the 2019 RSU Trustee
by whatever means as our Board may in its absolute discretion
determine to enable the 2019 RSU Trustee to satisfy its obligations
in connection with the administration of the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme. All the Shares underlying the RSUs granted and to be
granted under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme will be transferred,
allotted or issued to the 2019 RSU Trustee.

Our Board can determine the vesting criteria, conditions and the
time schedule when the RSUs will vest and such criteria, conditions
and time schedule shall be stated in the RSU grant letter. Within
a reasonable time after the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, our
Board will send a vesting notice (the “2019 Vesting Notice”) to each
of the relevant 2019 RSU Participants. The 2019 Vesting Notice will
confirm the extent to which the vesting criteria, conditions and time
schedule have been reached, fulfilled, satisfied or waived, and the
number of Shares (and, if applicable, the cash or non-cash income,
dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-cash and
non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares) involved. The
2019 RSU Participant shall serve the exercise notice within three
(8) months after receiving the 2019 Vesting Notice. The 2019 RSU
Trustee will not hold the Shares underlying the RSUs vested for the
2019 RSU Participant after this three (3) months period.

The maximum number of RSUs that may be granted under the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme in aggregate (excluding RSUs that
have lapsed or been canceled in accordance with the rules of the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme) shall be such number of Shares
held or to be held by the 2019 RSU Trustee for the purpose of the
2019 Share Incentive Scheme from time to time. Unless the Board
otherwise decides, the total number of all Shares held by the 2019
RSU Trustee under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme must at all
times be not more than 15% of the number of issued Shares from
time to time. As at January 1, 2022 and December 31, 2022, there
were 171,467,503 and 137,399,503 RSUs available for grant under
the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had granted RSUs representing BE-_Z-__F+-HA=+—8 %MRE
91,738,000 Shares to 40 grantees under the 2019 Share Incentive “E-NERDEBEFE@IOBERA (B
Scheme, including the following senior management and other BEARABNTISHREBEAEREMBER
current or former key employees of the Company. Details of the HEEXZEES)REHKFK,738,000 R BR 15
RSUs granted pursuant to the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme are set NWEREBRDEN - BRE-ZF—NLFERDH

out below: Byt &5 R Z BRI 0 B R B &SI
T :
Number Number Number Number Weighted
Number of of Shares of Shares of Shares of Shares Number Average
Shares underlying underlying underlying underlying of Shares Closing
underlying the granted  the exercised  the cancelled the lapsed underlying Price of
theRSUs ~ RSUsduring  RSUsduring  RSUsduring  RSUsduring  the RSUs as at Exercise the Shares
Category/Name Date of asat  theReporting theReporting the Reporting the Reporting ~ December31, Vesting Price before
of grantee Grant January 1, 2022 Period Period Period Period 2022 Period (Us9) Exercise
] BEHR BECR-Cf
-A-8 EfHH EfTf HEHA BEWH  tZR=t+-8
R G ZRilkG  ZRERS ExtiEn BkEE  HERERG NS
RIRANER/ EfiiE B EEEN IRURDEL ZRHRGED i e RbeomE
#a BB Rir4E RGHE Eh¥E EERGEE  ERRHEE Eh¥E HES (En)  FHHHE
Directors/Senior management
B2 BYERIE
Ms. JIANG Yu 24 April 2020, 2,393,000 Shares - - - - 2,393,000 Shares  2020- 2022 0.0000002 N/A
11 May 2021
EFndt TEIEE 2,393 000 R i3 - - - - 2393000BKf —Z-5F 0.0000002 TER
MA=tmA EoECCE
ZRD-E
BAt-8
Other grantees
RHFEA
28 employees 24 April 2020t 30,775,000 Shares 40,080,000 19,600,000 - - 51,255,000 Shares 2020 0 2023 0.0000002 HK$0.315
28 April 2022 Shares Shares
8%[EE TBIEE 30,775,000 40,080,000%  19,600,000% 51265000% —E-%f2 031557
BA-tMAZ K Rt i R ZBzE
“ECCE
MAZtIA
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Movements in the number of RSUs outstanding are as follows:

EARITENZREBROECBBELEMT :

Number of RSUs

ZPR&I Y EE B E

Outstanding balance as of January 1, 2022 33,168,000
BE_T-_—_fF—HA—BWEKRTESR 33,168,000
Granted 40,080,000
=t g 40,080,000
Forfeited -
=l -
Exercised (19,600,000)
E1TE (19,600,000)
Outstanding balance as of December 31, 2022 53,648,000
BE-_T-_F+-A=+—B0ERTESS 53,648,000

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share incentive plans as described above, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares, or that require the Company to enter into any agreements
that will or may result in the Company issuing shares, were entered
into by the Company during the year ended December 31, 2022 or
subsisted at the end of the year of 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Reporting Period.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the Reporting
Period.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS
PURSUANT TO THE LISTING RULES

The Company does not have any other disclosure obligations under
Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22 of the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

No related party transactions disclosed in Note 38 to the financial
statements constituted as a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed below in this annual report, during the year
ended December 31, 2022, the Company had no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which fell to
be disclosed in accordance with the provisions under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in relation to the disclosure of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions.

Contractual Arrangements

Our Group has entered (1) the Huanju Times Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Huanju Times and Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders, and (2) the ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements with the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and ChiLe
Registered Shareholders, to enable us to, among others, (1) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe in consideration for the services provided
by our Company thereto; (2) exercise effective control over the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (3) hold an exclusive option
to purchase all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe when and to the extent permitted by PRC
laws. Accordingly, through the Contractual Arrangements, our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities’ results of operations, assets and
liabilities, and cash flows are consolidated into our Company’s
financial statements.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from our Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group
stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements:
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KA (B2 )

Offshore
BEFE

Wanka Hong Kong

(Hong Kong)
T (&8 )
100%
O (e,

ChiLe Registered (1) 8 (1) Huanju Times Registered
Shareholders® 1111 Wa%ﬁj?ugkg}]:b'jc) BRREN  Shareholders™ B
Tt SRR SR ) : B R 5 (4

O 0 ]
100% Provision of services 100%
Service Fees? PR Service Fees(?
f Jg%s 2 ‘ R # @) ‘
(e, (e,
Shanghai ChiLe (PRC) Huanju Times (PRC)
it 8 (HPE7) BRI (g )
0 O
(e, (e,
Subsidiaries of Shanghai ChiLe Subsidiaries of Huanju Times
IS B A B ORI B3 2 )
0 O

Our Company (Cayman)

=) Beneficial ownership in equity interests

mn Bengficial ownership through contractual arrangements

1)

62

Control of WFOE over the Registered Shareholders through (i) Exclusive
Option Agreements, (i) Equity Pledge Agreements, and (jii) Voting Rights
Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorneys.

Control of WFOE over the business of Consolidated Affiliated Entities
through Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements.

The ChilLe Registered Shareholders refer to the registered shareholders
of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe is owned as to 51% by Mr. Gao
and 49% by Beijing JinChi, which in turn is owned as to 38.5% by Mr.
HUA Xinjiang (ZE%7/1), 56% by Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting
Co., Ltd. (A L& EEFAB R 2 ) and 5.5% by Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership (E8ZHIRESRPE(BREE)).
Both Tibet Jiukun Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Jiazhuo
Investment Limited Partnership are controlled by Mr. HUA Xinjiang.

The Huanju Times Registered Shareholders refer to the registered

shareholders of Huanju Times. Huanju Times is owned as to 72% by Mr.
Gao and 28% by Mr. Zheng.
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A brief description of each of the specific agreements that comprise
the Contractual Arrangements is set out as follows:

(a)

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Huanju Times and the WFOE
and (2) the exclusive business cooperation agreement
dated June 15, 2018 between Shanghai ChiLe and the
WFOE (collectively the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreements”), the WFOE agreed to be engaged as the
exclusive provider to Huanju Times Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and Shanghai ChiLe Consolidated Affiliated Entities
of comprehensive technical support, business support
and relevant consultation services for annual service fees,
including but not limited to the following services in respect
of the Relevant Businesses: providing business management
consultation; providing marketing and promotional services;
providing system integration and maintenance services;
providing financial support; and providing equipment and
properties transfer, leasing and disposal services.

Under Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements, the
service fee shall be of reasonable prices in accordance with
nature of the services and shall consist of 100% of the total
consolidated profit of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
after deduction of any accumulated deficit in respect of
the preceding financial year(s), operating costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contributions. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of
service fees according to, among others, scope and nature of
services and relevant market prices. The service fees shall be
paid on an annual basis and in accordance with the payment
instructions of the WFOE. Notwithstanding the payment
arrangements in Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements,
the WFOE also has the right to adjust the payment time and
payment method. Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe agree to
accept any of such adjustment.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements have an
initial term of ten years commencing from their respective
effective date, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018,
and will be automatically renewed for additional ten years.
The WFOE also has the right to renew the term at its will and
Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such
renewal. The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreements
shall not be terminated unless (a) in writing by the WFOE; or (b)
term of such agreement is expired.

(a)
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Exclusive Option Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the exclusive option agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times
and Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the
exclusive option agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and the Shanghai
ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Exclusive
Option Agreements”), the WFOE has the right to require the
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChiLe Registered
Shareholders to transfer any or all their equity interests in
Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe to the WFOE and/or a
third party designated by it, in whole or in part at any time
and from time to time, for considerations equivalent to the
minimum purchase price permitted under the PRC laws. The
Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChiLe Registered
Shareholders have also undertaken that, subject to the
relevant PRC laws and regulations, they will return to the
WFOE any consideration that they receive in the event WFOE
exercises the options under the Exclusive Option Agreements
in such way required by the WFOE to acquire the equity
interests and/or assets in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe.

Each of the Exclusive Option Agreements have an initial
term of ten years commencing from their respective effective
dates, namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018. The WFOE
has the right to renew the term at its will and Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe shall agree to any such renewal. None
of the Exclusive Option Agreement shall not be terminated
unless in writing by the WFOE. Without prior written consent
of the WFOE, none of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe or
their respective shareholders may terminate such agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreements

Pursuant to (1) the equity pledge agreements dated June
15, 2018 entered into among the WFOE, Huanju Times and
each of the Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and (2)
the equity pledge agreements dated June 15, 2018 entered
into among the WFOE, Shanghai ChiLe and each of the ChiLe
Registered Shareholders (collectively the “Equity Pledge
Agreements”), Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and
ChiLe Registered Shareholders agreed to pledge all their
respective existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe, where applicable, including any
interest or dividend paid for the shares, to the WFOE as a
security interest to guarantee the performance of contractual
obligations and the payment of outstanding debts.
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(d)

The pledge in respect of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe
took effect upon the completion of respective registration
with the relevant administration for industry and commerce,
which are April 15, 2016 and March 12, 2018 respectively for
the Huanju Times Contractual Arrangements and the ChiLe
Contractual Arrangements, and shall remain valid for an initial
term of ten years commencing from the respective effective
dates, which may be renewed by the WFOE in writing. If
there is outstanding debts of Huanju Times Registered
Shareholders, ChiLe Registered Shareholders, Huanju
Times or Shanghai ChiLe under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements, the valid period of Equity Pledge Agreements
may be renewed in writing by the WFOE to the date when all
such outstanding debts have been fully paid.

Voting Rights Proxy Agreements and Powers of Attorney
Pursuant to (1) the voting rights proxy agreement dated June
15, 2018 entered into between the WFOE and the Huanju
Times Registered Shareholders and (2) the voting rights proxy
agreement dated June 15, 2018 entered into between the
WFOE and the ChiLe Registered Shareholders (collectively,
the “Voting Rights Proxy Agreements”), each of Huanju Times
Registered Shareholders and ChilLe Registered Shareholders
irrevocably appointed the WFOE and its designated persons
(including but not limited to the Directors and their successors
and liquidators replacing the Directors, but excluding those
who are Huanju Times Registered Shareholders or ChilLe
Registered Shareholders) as his/her attorneys-in-fact to
exercise on his/her behalf, and agreed and undertook not
to exercise without such attorneys-in-fact’s prior written
consent, any and all right that he/she has in respect of his/her
equity interests in Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe.

(d)

Report of the Directors

ESERE

FEEERAR DStRNERERS
BEIBTHREERTREBMNER (B
BERASHRH RS NREMS
DRR =T A"FHNATERAR=-ZF—
NEZRTZR)BER  RESEN
AHEsT T FNNTHMR-—EBN » &%
HRUBAIEBECEUAETMARNE
B o e E BB MR - th ST
RR - BREAR LEBOLRIEERES
NZHFEREERTR - REERHRN
BRBULRIEBECENERLR
EREARSREGERZEENZ
H o

RERERGARERLE

RIE (1) I E B E b 3 BB B R
RERAIZHBBR-ZF-N\FRATHE
ANRERZTHZEUARQ)IEEE
RN EEMRRTINWAHMA =
E-N\FERATHEHNKREEZRH
& (BRI REEZTHE] S8R
IR X FE M AR 3R R st S A AR R A AT
WEREIEBECERAEEEAL (B
BRETRRESRAETEUARRARE
ENEBA - ETEESAEERNAE
R REMRROAL)ERE
BERREAURETERENERERK
o NN RER BN E MR 25 E
M BRRRAHTLERSZESER
REASAEERBNERTIETE
SRR o

SECCoFR BWEHERAS 65

<<



>>

Report of the Directors

ESERE

(e)

The valid period of each of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement commenced from their respective effective dates,
namely March 1, 2016 and March 9, 2018, and shall not
be terminated unless (i) in writing by the WFOE or (i) all the
equity interests or assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe,
where applicable, is transferred to the WFOE.

Each of Huanju Times Registered Shareholders and ChilLe
Registered Shareholders, through the respective power of
attorney (“Power of Attorney(s)”) dated June 15, 2018 issued
by him, irrevocably appointed the WFOE and/or its designated
person as his proxy, effective from March 1, 2016 or March
9, 2018, where applicable, to the date when the Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement expires.

Spousal Undertakings and Beijing JinChi Shareholder
Undertaking

On June 15, 2018, the spouse of each of Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr.
ZHENG Wei and Mr. HUA Xinjiang, where applicable, signed
an undertaking (collectively, the “Spouse Undertakings”) in
favor of the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (1)
her spouse’s existing and future equity interests in Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChiLe (together with any other interests
therein) are separate properties of her spouse; her spouse or
the ultimate beneficial owners are entitled to deal with his own
equity interests and any interests therein in Huanju Times and
Shanghai ChilLe in accordance with the respective Contractual
Arrangements. Each spouse also further confirmed that
she will fully assist to the performance of the respective
Contractual Arrangements at any time; (2) unconditionally
and irrevocably waives any right or benefits on such equity
interests and assets in accordance with applicable laws and
confirms that she will not have any claim on such equity
interests and assets; (3) her spouse may further amend or
terminate the Contractual Arrangements or enter into other
alternative documents without the need for authorization or
consent by the spouse; and (4) they will be bound by the
terms of the Contractual Arrangements as amended from time
to time if she has obtained any equity interests, directly or
indirectly, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe for whatever
reasons.
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On June 15, 2018, all of the ultimate beneficial owners of
Beijing JinChi, namely Mr. HUA Xinjiang, his spouse and
two brothers, signed an undertaking (the “Beijing JinChi
Shareholder Undertaking”) to the effect, among others,
that each of such person unconditionally and irrevocably
(1) confirmed and agreed with the execution of agreements
in connection with the Chile Contractual Arrangements by
Beijing JinChi and (2) agreed to execute any document and
take any action as necessary to fulfill their obligations under
such agreements, including transfer of their equity interests in
accordance with the Exclusive Option Agreements.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other new contractual
arrangements entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between our Group and our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
during the year ended December 31, 2022. There was no
material change in the Contractual Arrangements and/or the
circumstances under which they were adopted during the
year ended December 31, 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, none of the
Contractual Arrangements had been unwound on the basis
that none of the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Contractual Arrangements had been removed. As of
December 31, 2022, we had not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC governing bodies in operating
our businesses through our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
under the Contractual Arrangements.

The revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries amounted to RMB2,176.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, representing an increase
by 13.1% from RMB1,923.4 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. For the year ended December 31, 2022,
the revenue of Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe and their
respective subsidiaries accounted for approximately 94.6% of
the revenue for the year of our Group (2021: 91.7%).
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Reasons for Adopting the Contractual Arrangements

Our distribution of mobile applications and games and mobile
co — publishing business as well as online-video distribution
services operated through the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
their respective subsidiaries are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in the PRC. Since foreign investment in such business
areas in which we currently operate are subject to restrictions
under the current applicable PRC laws and regulations, as advised
by our PRC legal advisor, we determined that it was not viable for
our Company to hold our Consolidated Affiliated Entities directly
through equity ownership. For details of the foreign investment
restrictions relating to the Contractual Arrangements, please
refer to the sections headed “Contractual Arrangements — PRC
Regulatory Background” of the Prospectus and the section headed
“Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign Investment” in this
annual report.

Our Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that (1) the Contractual Arrangements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder are fundamental to our
Group’s legal structure and business, (2) such transactions have
been and will be entered into in the ordinary and usual course
of business of our Group, are on normal commercial terms and
are fair and reasonable and in the interest of our Group and our
Shareholders as a whole, and (3) the parties to (a) the Company’s
undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by the Company and (b)
the Shareholders’ undertaking dated May 24, 2018 issued by Mr.
Gao, Mr. Zheng, and all then existing shareholders of our Company
relating to the Contractual Arrangement, have complied with such
undertaking. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual arrangements and any new
transactions, contracts and agreements or renewal of existing
agreements to be entered into between any of our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and any member of our Group (“New Intergroup
Agreements” and each of them, a “New Intergroup Agreement”)
technically constitute continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that, given
that our Group is placed in a special situation in relation to the
connected transactions rules under the Contractual arrangements,
it would be unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would
add unnecessary administrative costs to our Company if such
transactions are subject to strict compliance with the requirements
set out under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, including, among
others, the reporting, announcement, independent shareholders’
approval and annual review requirements.
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Development in the PRC Legislation on Foreign
Investment

On March 15, 2019, the second meeting of the 13th Standing
Committee of the National People’s Congress approved the
Foreign Investment Law of the People’s Republic of China (&
FEARKEMBEINERE L)) (the “FIL”) which became effective on
January 1, 2020. The FIL replaced the law on Sino-Foreign Equity
Joint Ventures {(FINEELZ L)), the law on Sino-Foreign
Contractual Joint Ventures {(F/MS1ERK & B2£7E)) and the law on
Foreign-Capital Enterprises {(/N& £ %%)) to become the legal
foundation for foreign Investment in the PRC. The FIL stipulates
three forms of foreign investment, but does not explicitly stipulate
the contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.

The FIL stipulates that foreign investment includes “foreign
investors invest through any other methods under laws,
administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by the State
Council.” Therefore, there remains uncertainty regarding whether
future laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed
by the State Council may regard contractual arrangements as a
form of foreign investment, whether our Contractual Arrangements
will be deemed to be in violation of the foreign investment access
requirements and how the Contractual Arrangements will be
handled. Our Company will disclose, as soon as possible, updates
of changes to the FIL that will materially and adversely affect our
Company as and when occur.
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Risks Relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

HEHZ RN EE
FHERSHZHFERANE TEE B

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that
establish the structure for operating the businesses in China
do not comply with the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
or if there are regulations or their interpretations change in
the future, we could be subject to severe consequences,
including the nullification of the Contractual Arrangements
and the relinquishment of our interest in our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities.

Our Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership. Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChilLe or any of their shareholders may fail to
perform their obligations under our Contractual Arrangements.

We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by our
PRC Holdcos that are material to our business operations if
our PRC Holdcos declare bankruptcy or become subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The ultimate shareholders of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChiLe
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially
and adversely affect our business.

If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and
assets of Huanju Times or Shanghai ChilLe, the ownership
or asset transfer may subject us to certain limitations and
substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the
interpretation and implementation of the FIL and how it
may impact the viability of our current corporate structure,
corporate governance and business operations.

Further details of these risks are set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors — Risks relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the

e FP BRI R 3% 3R A8 DAME P BEE M SRS
ERBOHR T SBERAPEIERERE
BERE » R ERLERERRER
2% RMREAAZRERR  BES
NZHFRMERREEH BEEREE

se
fm °

BN ENRERSEERELEZS
ELHNEEEEE-BEN - BB
R EBHRSRENRRAIETSE
TRENENZHFTHEE -

HERMNPECEEESHRENEY
SR RER  RFITREEEERR
ERETEEEERMBAERMANESE
REBEANEE -

BERAR LSO RSAR R TR
PEENDZER - EMYRMNELE
EERTFEE -

i HRFTERERGBEBEAH LS
MBENREREE  IAENEEER
A REERMZ 2E TIREIRAEEREMK
$O

GIMEREZR) NRERERKE AR
BEMNRBEQFRE - RAEBRE
BEENATHERNZEFEEAT
HEM -

FEZEARNE-—SHBRANBRER
[EREE-EBRMOEORFEENRR ]

Prospectus.

Our Group has adopted measures to ensure the effective operation
of our Group’s businesses with the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:
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(@ major issues arising from the implementation and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries
from government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if
necessary, for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

(b) our Board will review the overall performance of and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements at least once
ayear;

(¢) our Company will disclose the overall performance and
compliance with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual
reports; and

(d) our Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to
review the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements,
review the legal compliance of WFOEs and our Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising
from the Contractual Arrangements.

Listing Rules Implications and Waivers from the Stock
Exchange

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constitute continuing connected transactions of our Company
under the Listing Rules upon Listing as certain of the parties to the
Contractual Arrangements, namely Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. ZHENG
Wei and Beijing JinChi are connected persons. Mr. GAO Dinan
and Mr. ZHENG Wei, our Controlling Shareholders, and Beijing
JinChi, which is a substantial shareholder of Shanghai ChiLe, are
connected persons of our Company under Rule 14A.07(1) of the
Listing Rules.

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver
from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of
the Listing Rules, (i) the requirement of setting an annual cap for
the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under Rule
14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of limiting
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less
under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange subject however to the following
conditions:
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(@ no change without independent non-executive Directors’
approval;

(b)  no change without independent Shareholders’ approval;

(c) the Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable
our Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

(d) on the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our
Company and its subsidiaries in which our Company has
direct shareholding, on the one hand, and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly
foreign owned enterprise or operating company (including
branch company) engaging in the same business as that of
our Group which our Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same terms
and conditions as the existing Contractual Arrangements; and

() we will disclose details relating to the Contractual
Arrangements on an on-going basis.

Annual Review by the Independent Non-Executive
Directors and the Auditor

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@ the transactions carried out during the year ended December
31, 2022 had been entered into in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

(b) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders of its equity
interests which were not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to our Group;

(¢) no new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/

or reproduced between our Group and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities; and
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(d) the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of our Group, are on
normal commercial terms and are fair and reasonable and in
the interest of our Group and our Shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board has
engaged the Auditor to perform certain procedures on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

After performing the procedures related to the disclosed continuing
connected transactions, the Auditor has concluded in a letter to the
Board that:

(@ nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
have not been approved by the Company’s Board;

(b) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions
were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with a series of contractual arrangements disclosed in the
section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
governing such transactions; and

(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that dividends or other distributions have been
made by Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their respective
subsidiaries to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, the Company is in compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Company and is not involved in any material legal proceedings.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, every Director or other officers
of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he may incur
or sustain in or about the execution of his duties in his office. The
Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its directors and officers.

IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

There were no significant events that might affect the Group
subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the Auditor, reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements during the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 76 to 93 of this annual
report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group had 220 employees as of December 31, 2022, as
compared to 202 employees as of December 31, 2021. The Group
enters into employment contracts with its employees to cover
matters such as position, term of employment, wage, employee
benefits and liabilities for breaches and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries,
allowances, bonus and other employee benefits, and is determined
with reference to their experience, qualifications and general market
conditions. The emolument policy for the employees of the Group
is set up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualification and
competence.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public
float approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the
Listing Rules, was held by the public at all times since the Listing
Date and as of the date of this annual report.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Company will hold the AGM on 9 June 2023, Friday. The
register of members of the Company will be closed from 6 June
2023, Tuesday to 9 June 2023, Friday, both days inclusive, in order
to determine the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to
attend the AGM, during which period no share transfers will be
registered. To be eligible to attend the AGM, all properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch share
registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 5 June 2023, Monday.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their respective holding of the
Shares.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult an
expert.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution
for the re-appointment of BDO Limited as Auditor will be proposed
at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

GAO Dinan
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

EEELRE

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Reporting Period.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of corporate governance. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions under the CG Code throughout the Reporting Period.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of
the Group to the senior management of the Group. To oversee
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The
Board has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as
set out in their respective terms of reference which are published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in

respect of legal action against the Directors. The insurance
coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Board Composition

As of the date of this annual report, the Board comprises three
executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) (former Chief Executive Officer and
ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer on 16 December 2022)

Ms. ZHOU Yan (resigned on 28 April 2022)

Mr. NIE Xin

Ms. JIANG Yu (Chief Executive Officer) (appointed as executive
Director on 20 July 2022 and appointed as Chief Executive
Officer on 16 December 2022)

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. ZHENG Wei
Mr. SONG Chunyu (resigned on 28 April 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. CHEN Baoguo

Mr. JIN Yongsheng

Ms. ZHAO Xuemei (resigned on 20 July 2022)
Mr. YU Limin (appointed on 20 July 2022)

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met at all times the
requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board.
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The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a Board
diversity policy to ensure that the Company will, when determining
the composition of the Board, consider Board diversity in terms
of, among other things, sKkills, regional and industry experience,
educational background, culture, race, gender, age and other
qualities. All Board appointments will be based on merits, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board. The Board diversity
policy is available on the website of the Company.

Gender diversity of the Board stands at a relatively high level
(14%, 1 females out of 7 Directors). The Board places tremendous
emphasis on diversity (including gender diversity) across all levels
of the Group. The total gender diversity of the Group is balanced.
To support diversity across all facets, beyond gender, including
race and ethnicity, disability, social mobility and age, the Group
is enhancing diversity and inclusion efforts through employee
networks, mentoring programmes, equitable hiring practices,
policies and awareness raising events and training for all employees
to support inclusive behaviours. Further details on the gender ratio
of the Group and initiatives taken to improve gender diversity across
senior management and the wider workforce, together with relevant
data, can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022
published on the website of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.
hk) and the Company’s own website (www.wankaonline.com)
according to the Listing Rules.

As each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company considers all of them to be independent parties.

None of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)
with any other Director and chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.
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As regards the code provision of the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies
or organizations and other significant commitments as well as the
identity of the public companies or organizations and the time
involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent change to the Company in a
timely manner.

Gender Diversity

The Company recognizes the importance of gender diversity and
recruits employees at all levels based on merits. As of December
31, 2022, female senior management members represented
approximately 11.1% of the senior management of the Company,
and female employees represented approximately 52.3% of the
employees of the Group. The Company will continue to take steps
to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Group, including but
not limited to the Board and the senior management levels.

Board Independence Evaluation

The Company recognizes that independence of the Board is a
key element of good corporate governance. The Company has
established effective mechanisms, including but not limited to
entitling the Board and Board committees to seek independent
professional advice on matters relating to the Company where
appropriate at the Company’s expense, to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. The Board has reviewed
the implementation of the mechanisms in relation to the Board
independence and considered it to be effective during the Reporting
Period. The Board will continue to review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanism on an annual basis.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.
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In accordance with A.6.5 of the CG Code with regards to
continuous professional development, directors should participate
in appropriate continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. Internally-facilitated
briefings for Directors will be arranged and reading material on
relevant topics will be issued to directors where appropriate. The
Company also arranges trainings to provide Directors with updates
on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time. The
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The company secretary of the Company has from time to time
updated and provided written training materials relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a director.

During the Reporting Period, all Directors have complied with the
CG Code in relation to continuous professional development,
apart from reading materials relevant to the Company’s business,
director’s duties and responsibilities. All Directors also attended
and/or gave presentation in seminars/forums. The Company
updates Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group’s business and other applicable regulatory requirements,
to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. All Directors have provided to the
Company with their training records on a regular basis, and such
records have been maintained by the Company for accurate and
comprehensive record keeping.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officers

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. During the period from 1 January
2022 to 16 December 2022, the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company were held by Mr. GAO Dinan. Mr. GAO
Dinan has resigned from his position as the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company with effect from 16 December 2022, and Ms.
JIANG Yu has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company with effect from the same day. The Company had been
in compliance with the requirements under the code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code of separating the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer since 16 December 2022.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of our executive Directors, being Mr. GAO Dinan, Mr. NIE Xin
and Ms. JIANG Yu, has entered into a service contract with the
Company on 3 November 2021, 27 August 2020 and 20 July 2022,
respectively, for an initial term of three years commencing from 3
November 2021, 27 August 2020 and 20 July 2022, respectively.

The non-executive Director, Mr. ZHENG Wei, has entered into an
appointment letter on 3 November 2021 with the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 3 November 2021.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. CHEN
Baoguo, Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company on 3 November 2021, 16
September 2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively, for an initial term
of three years commencing from 3 November 2021, 16 September
2021 and 20 July 2022, respectively.

None of the Directors has entered into a service contract which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

In accordance with the Articles of Association, all Directors
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
shall submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company after appointment
and new Directors appointed as an addition to the Board shall
submit himself/herself for re-election by the Shareholders at
the next following annual general meeting of the Company after
appointment.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for
Directors.

Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.
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For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are
dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members at least
three days before the meetings to ensure that they have sufficient
time to review the relevant papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known
to the Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are kept
by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated
to all Directors or Board Committee members for information and
records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors/Board committee
members. Draft and final versions of the minutes of each Board
meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the Directors/
Board Committee members for comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting is
held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by
Directors.

Attendance of Directors at various meetings

During the Reporting Period, details of the Directors’ attendance in
the following meetings are set out below:
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HFERAY BITERRY

Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors g2 ExgEd 2EBHEEE 2 FMESE 2 REZEE REEEKE
Executive Directors BEES
Mr. GAO Dinan BRBEEE 8/8 N/A N/A 6/6 11
TEA TEA
Ms. ZHOU Yan gzt 2/8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(resigned on 28 April 2022) (R=E-=FmA TEA TEA TER TEA
Z+N\RFHE)
Mr. NIE Xin RBELE 8/8 N/A 2/2 N/A 11
TER TER
Ms. JIANG Yu BFut(RZBZZ 5/8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(appointed on 20 July 2022) FtA-t+RHEZ TEA TEA TEA TEA
)
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Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HFERRY BITEARY

Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Directors g2 EzgEs ERZEE HMZEEE REZEBE RREEXE
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Ms. ZHENG Wei BEEE 8/8 N/A N/A N/A 11
TER TER TER
Mr. SONG Chunyu REREE 2/8 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(resigned on 28 April 2022) (RZE--FMmA TEA TEA TEA TEA
Z+\BEHE)
Independent Non-executive Directors ~ BIFHITES
Mr. CHEN Baoguo REE % 8/8 3/3 2/2 N/A 11
TEA
Mr. JIN Yongsheng SXERE 8/8 3/3 2/2 6/6 11
Ms. ZHAO Xuemei HESLt 3/8 1/3 N/A 3/6 il
(resigned on 20 July 2022) (R=B=Z%+R TER
Z+AEHE)
Mr. YU Limin FARKESE 5/8 213 N/A 3/6 N/A
(appointed on 20 July 2022) (R=Z==F+A TEA TEA
“tTHEZHE)
Model Code for Securities Transactions B SIEEH|

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries
of all Directors, each of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
for the Reporting Period.

The Group’s employees, who are likely to be in possession of inside
information of the Group, are also subject to the Model Code for
securities transactions. No incident of non-compliance of the Model
Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision right for all major matters of
the Company, including: approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.
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The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out
in code provision D.3.1 (which has been renumbered as code
provision A.2.1 since January 1, 2022) of the CG Code. The Board
recognises that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors which includes:

1. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

2. toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

4.  to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company establishes an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The Audit Committee
comprises three members, namely Mr. CHEN Baoguo (Chairman),
Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU Limin, all of them are independent
non-executive Directors. Mr. YU Limin has been appointed as a
member of the Audit Committee since 20 July 2022 and Ms. ZHAO
Xuemei resigned as a member of the Audit Committee on 20 July
2022. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise, and provide an independent view of the effectiveness
of, the financial reporting process and the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, oversee the audit process
and perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the
Board.
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The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Code provision C.3.3(e)(i) (which has been renumbered as code
provision D.3.3(e)()) since January 1, 2022) of the CG Code provides
that the terms of reference of the Audit Committee shall have
the terms that the members of the Audit Committee should liaise
with the Board and senior management and the Audit Committee
must meet at least twice a year with the Auditor. The Company
has included such terms in relevant terms of reference, and thus
complied with the Code provision C.3.3(¢e)(i) of the CG Code during
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, three Audit Committee meetings were
convened. The Audit Committee had performed the followings
tasks, among others:

1. reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31 December
2021 and interim results for the six months ended 30 June
2022;

2. reviewed the appropriateness and effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems;

3.  discussed with the auditor of the Company and reviewed their
audit findings;

4. reviewed the auditors’ remuneration;

5. reviewed the matters in connection with the change of
auditor;

6. reviewed all non-audit services provided by the auditors to
determine the provision of such services would affect the
independence of the auditors; and

7.  performed the corporate governance functions and reviewed
the corporate governance policies and practices.
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Nomination Committee

The Company establishes a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three members, including one executive
Director namely Mr. GAO Dinan (Chairman) and two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng and Mr. YU
Limin. Mr. YU Limin has been appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee since 20 July 2022 and Ms. ZHAO Xuemei
resigned as a member of the Nomination Committee on 20 July
2022. The primary functions of the Nomination Committee include,
without limitation, reviewing the structure, size and composition
of the Board, reviewing the Board diversity policy, assessing
the independence of independent non-executive directors and
making recommendations to the Board on matters relating to the
appointment of directors.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regards to the benefits of diversity
on the Board in accordance with the board diversity policy adopted
by the Company. Diversity of the Board will be considered from a
number of perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, industry experience, technical
and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge, length
of services and time to be devoted as a Director. In identifying
suitable candidates, the Nomination Committee shall: (i) use open
advertising or the services of external advisors to facilitate the
search; (ii) consider candidates from a wide range of backgrounds;
and (iii) consider candidates on merit and against objective criteria,
taking care that appointees have enough time available to devote to
the position. The recommendations of the Nomination Committee
will then be put to the Board for decision. The written terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, six Nomination Committee meetings
were held. The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure,
size and composition of the Board and the Board diversity policy as
well as discussing matters regarding the appointment, retirement
and re-election of Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company establishes a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors namely Mr. JIN Yongsheng (Chairman)
and Mr. CHEN Baoguo and one executive Director namely Mr. NIE
Xin. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include,
without limitation, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedures for developing policy on such remuneration,
(i) reviewing and approving performance based remuneration
proposals with reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board, and (ii) making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, which include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two Remuneration Committee
meetings were held to review and approve the remuneration of
executive Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Please refer to Note 11 to the financial statements for details
of remuneration of members of the Board for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

Details of the remuneration by band of Directors and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on
pages 29 to 35 of this annual report, for the year ended December
31, 2022 are set out below:
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility of preparing the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 to give
a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with timely updates on Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 94
to 100 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the Board’s responsibility to
ensure that the Company has established and maintained adequate
and effective risk management and internal control systems. The
Board delegates its responsibility to the Audit Committee to review
the establishment and practices of management with respect to
risk management and internal control systems formally on a half —
yearly basis. The Audit Committee also reviews the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems on an annual
basis. The Board is also responsible for overseeing the key
risks of the Company, including determining the level of risk the
Company expects and is able to take, and proactively considering,
analyzing and formulating strategies to manage the key risks that
the Company is exposed to. The Audit Committee oversees the
management of the design, implementation and monitoring of risk
management and internal control systems. The senior management
team also provides all necessary and relevant information to the
Board, giving the Directors sufficient explanation and information
they need to discharge their responsibilities and make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before them
for approval. The internal audit team of the Company has direct
reporting lines to the Audit Committee. These systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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We have designated responsible personnel in the Company to
monitor the ongoing compliance by the Company with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations that govern our business operations and
oversee the implementation of any necessary measures. In addition,
we plan to provide our Directors, senior management and relevant
employees with continuing training programs and/or updates
regarding the relevant PRC laws and regulations on a regular basis
with a view to proactively identify any concerns and issues relating
to any potential non-compliance. In addition, we have adopted
a set of internal rules and policies governing the conduct of our
employees. We have established a monitoring system to implement
anti-bribery and anti-corruption measures so as to ensure that our
employees comply with our internal rules and policies as well as
the applicable laws and regulations. For example, our management
is responsible for conducting a fraud and bribery risk assessment
on an annual basis and our Audit Committee reviews and approves
our annual risk assessment results and policies. We have also
identified certain forbidden conducts in our internal anti-bribery and
anti-corruption policies, including, among others, the prohibition to
acceptance of bribes or rebates, embezzlement or misappropriation
of our assets, and forgery or alteration of our accounting records.

Risk Management

The Company is committed to continuously improving the risk
management system, including structure, process and culture,
through the enhancement of risk management ability, to ensure
long-term growth and sustainable development of the Company’s
business. The Company has established a risk management system
which sets out the roles and responsibilities of each relevant party
as well as the relevant risk management policies and processes.
Each business group of the Company, on a regular basis,
identifies and assesses risk factors that may negatively impact the
achievement of its objectives, and formulates appropriate response
measures.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the overall
risk status of the Company and evaluating the change in the nature
and severity of the Company’s major risks. The Audit Committee
considers that the management of the Company has taken
appropriate measures to address and manage the key risks which
they are responsible for at a level acceptable to the Board.
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The Audit Committee, on behalf of the Board, continuously
reviews the risk management and internal control systems.
The review process comprises, among other things, meetings
with management of business groups, internal audit team, legal
personnel and the external auditors, reviewing the relevant work
reports and information of key performance indicators, and
discussing the major risks with the senior management of the
Company. The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended
December 31, 2022, the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company are effective and adequate.

In addition, the Board believes that the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting functions have been performed by staff
with the appropriate qualifications and experience and that such
staff receives appropriate and sufficient training and development.
Based on the work report from the Audit Committee, the Board also
believes that the Company’s internal audit function is adequate with
sufficient resources and budget. The relevant staff has appropriate
qualifications and experience, and receives sufficient training and
development.

Disclosure Pursuant to Rule 13.19 and Rule 13.21 of the
Listing Rules

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 20 March
2023, the Group has failed to satisfy certain financial covenants
under a banking facility with East West Bank (China) Limited (the
“Lender”).

Pursuant to a banking facility (the “Loan Facility”) with the Lender,
the Group is required to satisfy certain financial covenants
including but not limited to the ratio of consolidated EBITDA to the
consolidated funded debt. Based on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group has failed to satisfy such financial covenants under the Loan
Facility with the Lender (the “Breach”). The Breach constitutes an
event of default under the Loan Facility, in which case the Lender
shall be entitled to declare that the loan under the Loan Facility,
together with accrued interest, be immediately due and payable.
The Breach has not resulted in any triggering of cross default
provisions under other loan agreements and/or banking facilities
entered into by the Group. As at the date of this annual report,
the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Loan Facility is
approximately RMB60.0 million.
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As of the date of this report, the Group has yet to obtain a waiver
from the Lender in respect of the Breach. As at the date of this
report, the Lender has not made any demand for immediate
repayment of the loan under the Loan Facility. Notwithstanding
the Breach, the Group has not experienced any difficulties in
obtaining financing with its banks for its working capital. Based on
the Group’s current cash position, the Company considers that the
Group has sufficient financial resources to repay its indebtedness
and there is no material adverse impact on the operation of the
Group as a result of the Breach.

Further announcement regarding the Loan Facility and the status of
the waiver will be made as and when appropriate.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended December 31, 2022
was approximately as follows:
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&%

(RMB’000)

Type of Services BRFSEERI (AR®FT)

Audit and audit related services* BERR B R 2,100

Non-audit services BRI -

Total HBE 2,100

Note: FfaE -
* The amount of audit and audit related services fee comprises the service * B REZAARENEASBEEFZA
fee for the audit of the Group’s 2022 consolidated financial statements. ST CFRAMBHREROREE -

COMPANY SECRETARY ATRE

Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson has been appointed as the company
secretary of the Company. See the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management — Company Secretary” in this annual report for
the biography of Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, Mr. CHANG Eric Jackson
has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognises the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides opportunity
for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Directors. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee and, in
their absence, other members of the respective committees will be
available to answer questions at shareholder meetings. The Auditor
will also attend the AGM to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company
at (www.wankaonline.com), where up-to-date information on the
Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information
are available for public access. The shareholders’ communication
policy sets out a number of ways to ensure effective and efficient
communication with shareholders is achieved, including but not
limited to our responses to shareholders’ enquiries, corporate
communications (in both English and Chinese, to facilitate
shareholders’ understanding), posting of relevant information on
the Company’s website, shareholders’ meetings and investment
market communications.

The 2022 annual general meeting at which the external auditors
attended was convened on 9 June 2023. The Board encourages all
its shareholders to participate in the forthcoming AGM where the
members of the Board and external auditors will be present and
communicate with its shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely
manner after each general meeting.

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at
a general meeting of the Company according to the Articles of
Association. Any one or more members holding as of date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or any one of the joint company secretaries
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the website of the Company.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the
headquarters of the Company at 4/F, Building No. B22, Universal
Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road, Chaoyang, Beijing, PRC.

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On 2 June 2022, the Shareholders passed the special resolution
approving the amendments to the Seventh Amended and Restated
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company in order
to fully implement the key powers and duties of the Board, allow
Directors and Shareholders to attend general meetings by online
means, and conform to the current revised requirements of the
Listing Rules and the Cayman Islands Companies Act. An up-to-
date version of the Eighth Amended and Restated Memorandum
and Articles of Association of the Company is also available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SRR SRR

IBDO

&EEE : +852 2218 8288
{8H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

To the shareholders of Wanka Online Inc.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanka
Online Inc. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 101 to 234, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

Independent Auditor’s Report
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opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A EF S

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount
before impairment of the Group’s goodwill was
approximately RMB189,586,000, which is subject
to annual impairment test. Impairment provision is
required when the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwill is
allocated are lower than the respective carrying values
of the respective CGUs. During the year ended 31
December 2022, based on the impairment assessment
of goodwill, the Group recognised goodwill impairment
of RMB154,786,000.

RZBZZH+ZA=+—H  EXEENEHENEEAD
MEREEN R ARY 189,586,000 T * HEURABGFM
MENE  BARBRRE I BRENREELEV (R
TEABEN NATRESFE N AERRSELEEVNIR
EER B REERE BE-Z--F+=RB=+
—BLFE  BSEEENHERETHEIBDEREA
R #5154,786,0007T °

The calculation of the recoverable amounts of these
CGUs involved significant management’s estimation,
subjective assumptions and judgements, such as
expected future cash flows from the CGUs, budgeted
gross margins, revenue growth rates and discount
rates, and is sensitive due to business and market
volatility, and uncertain economic outlook.
HZERSEABENTRESENTESREEENE
BEMG - TERBRRRAE - fINRESEEENNTERT
RRRERE FFEEFE  WABREURIAE -
BEARYEERETEEBER KBNS N REEMLT
BEUR o

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
testing of goodwill are included in notes 4, 5, and 18 to
the financial statements.

BETEER - S AENGT UREERENE AR
BEN I RRMEES - 5R18 °

We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment testing of goodwill:

RSB BERENERATUT ENRF (HPEHE) :

o we assessed the key assumptions underlying the
cash flow forecasts, including revenue growth
rates, budgeted gross margins and discount
rates through enquiry with management and
by reference to the historical performance and
business plans of the relevant CGUs. We also
took into account the accuracy of previous
budgeting process;

e HMEBABEERE S2REBRESELEVNE
E%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁmgﬁ%mfgﬁ

CBERBABRER REEANRRERE - &M
%%F BIETRERELBRENERMY |

° we engaged our external valuation specialists to
assess the methodologies and certain significant
assumptions such as the discount rates used by
management in the impairment testing; and

o EMEBIBEEERTELERSE JFENE’ZQ ’
PlanEREEERERFATERNERE |

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to the Group’s goodwill impairment test in
the consolidated financial statements.

o HMFMEARESUBHRRTER SEEHERER
HANEERERRE °
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SRR SRR

Key audit matters (continued)

il

FAEEE LT HIE ()

L,

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

R TR ISR 1R1R

Accounts receivable constituted a significant portion of
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and
the Group was exposed to credit risks thereof. The
Group recognises an allowance based on the expected
credit loss (“ECL”) approach under Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 9 Financial Instruments.
The measurement of ECL requires the application of
significant judgement and estimates, such as provision
rates which are based on days past due for customers
that have similar loss patterns, historical credit loss
experience and forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.
RIBZIZHE+ZA=+—H  BRERE S5EEL
BEENEARNS  SEEEHKEERR - EXERE
ERMBREEAFIREHTANAREERE ([&
BEEBHE D FEIARE ANEEFENTEFTERE
BAEXRHERMAST  AINERBHRAEHABTEUSE
BN  BEFEFEERNETLELEBGBER  UREK
ABENAIEMEEEZER QKRS

Relevant disclosures of accounting policies,
accounting judgements and estimates and impairment
of accounts receivables are included in notes 4, 5 and
22 to the financial statements.

SETBCR - ST HETFEE U R EBERFUR B R
EERN I B IRRMTES - 5R22 °
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We performed the following audit procedures, among
others, on the impairment assessment of accounts
receivable:

BRAYRBIRRERGHT AT BT EF (Hhak) :

° we obtained an understanding of and assessed
management’s processes and controls relating
to the credit control and collection of accounts
receivable;

e EBMTHIFTGEEEFBAGCEZESRKEEKR
MEVRIEREZH

° we obtained and assessed management’s
expected credit loss allowance and judgements
on the recoverability of accounts receivable by
examining the information used by management
to establish such judgements and estimates,
such as the historical default information, current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information;

e HMEBMETEERAURTEEBEAHEBRMTNE
B MBEENER BEAKERRRATEMEE
B RBT I EEENRREESEERBREE
WA BR SRR AT U 1 9 U

° we tested the ageing analysis and past due
analysis of accounts receivable on sample basis;
we also considered the collection of the accounts
receivable subsequent to the end of the reporting
period; and

o ERMHEKAABURINERRIMRREH SN
® BMNTFZRNMEPERE BRI KE
MR

° we assessed the adequacy of disclosures in
relation to impairment of accounts receivable in
the consolidated financial statements.

o HMIMEARESUBHRRPEREEBURRIRENIRE
2RRER °

° we engaged our external valuation specialist to
assess the adjusted reasonables of the forward-
looking information used by the management in
the impairment assessment.

o RMEBEINMLEZSHTHEERBHIRERT AT
FRTEMER VKRB ESEMY -



Independent Auditor’s Report

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SRR SRR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable actions taken to eliminate
threats or, safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
SRR SRR

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chan, Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. P05443

Hong Kong, 27 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
ZeEER

BE-E-—F+-A=t+—HLEE
For the Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—E-C —E-
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARETT ARBT T
REVENUE Wi 7 2,300,875 2,098,198
Cost of sales SHEHKA (2,066,400) (1,834,882)
Gross profit EF 234,475 263,316
Other income and gains Hg A K s 8 42,718 17,138
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHBAX (19,372) (15,001)
Research and development costs I IIN (86,192 (67,036)
Impairment loss on accounts FEBRFUREE 1B
receivable (35,950) (87,401)
Administrative expenses THEAX (52,793) (46,301)
Other expenses and losses Hinpx R EE (160,114) (1,107)
Share-based payment expenses DR H BERNAREX 30 (22,192) (18,160)
Finance costs B S RRAN 10 (7,696) (7,549)
Share of losses in associates DIREEE A EEE (4,337) (3,826)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRELAT (B518), SR F 9 (111,453) 84,073
Income tax expenses FEBiFAx 13 (17,105) (21,776)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(EE)Tafl (128,558) 62,297
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR UTEEER (B58),
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: A
Owners of the Company VIN/NETE 2N (129,537) 62,297
Non-controlling interest R 979 -
(128,558) 62,297
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREBEREE AR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 1HER (EiR) 2F
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (UBBRAREEDIR)
(expressed in RMB per share) 15
Basic B (RMBO0.09) RMB 0.04
(ANE#®0.00t) AK¥0.047T
Diluted e (RMBO0.09) RMB 0.04
(AE#0.09t) AK¥0.047T

“ERCCFR BNSHARAT
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FE2El=ER

BE-E-—F+-A=t+—HLEE
For the Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
o o B
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT

(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR (EE),ER (128,558) 62,297

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hig2EWA

Other comprehensive (loss)/income that may SR BRI EH I EZEEN

be reclassified to profit or loss in Hib2m (B5E8) A -

subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation BERIIEREENELZER

of foreign operations (12,967) 3,397
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income that FRENETEN S BEBEEN

may be reclassified to profit or loss Hith2m (B58) WA FEE

in subsequent periods (12,967) 3,397
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will TErERERHNERPEZER

not be reclassified to profit or loss in WEMEEWRA(EE) :

subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation ANAIBREELEWERE5E

of the Company 22,844 (6,374)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that TEERENREN 2 EZER

will not be reclassified to profit or loss WEMEEWA (BI8)F5E

in subsequent periods 22,844 (6,374)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) FREMEAEWRA (EE) -
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BREiE 9,877 (2,977)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FREE (BE), WABLE
FOR THE YEAR (118,681) 59,320

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME UTEEEARAZE (BE),/

FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO: ON-CE
Owners of the Company FiNUNEIE 7N (119,660) 59,320
Non-controlling interest IR 979 -

(118,681) 59,320
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEMBIRRAR

R-B-_—_F+=-H=+—H
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—&
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
H ARETR ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERZE 16 2,065 1,592
Right-of-use assets FREEE 17(a) 10,188 26,965
Goodwill [EES 18 34,800 183,164
Other intangible assets HitmpEE 19 7,006 7,480
Investments in associates REZE N BNRE 20 1,115 2,022
Deferred tax assets EEFIEEE 21 12,135 8,587
Prepayments FEFIR 23 58,165 42,675
Total non-current assets FREEEAE 125,474 272,485
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Accounts receivable FEURBRFR 22 601,259 581,348
Prepayments, deposits and other EARIE  BER
receivables H iU FRIE 23 571,816 546,647
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBSEEY 24 538,224 401,102
Time deposits with original maturity over  FR2|H B BB =185
three months HEHAER 24 12,637 =
Restricted bank deposits ZRREIRITER 24 61,690 43,781
Total current assets RBEEAE 1,785,626 1,572,878
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEIEE
Accounts payable FEFBRFR 25 52,959 74,330
Other payables and accruals H A fEFRIE R FERTFRIE 26 74,303 52,715
Contract liabilities BHEE 27 27,833 29,844
Interest-bearing bank borrowings T EERITER 28 260,000 171,647
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 6,499 6,990
Income tax payable FEFrisHi 109,427 99,102
Total current liabilities RBEERE 531,021 434,628
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 1,254,605 1,138,250
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERMBAR
LIABILITIES 1,380,079 1,410,735
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

HEUMBRRAR

R-ZBZZF+=ZA=+—H
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—f&
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FEE ARETT ARBT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEEE 17(b) 5,820 19,327
Deferred tax liabilities EEBIHAE 21 1,435 495
Total non-current liabilities ERBAEERE 7,255 19,822
Net assets EEFH 1,372,824 1,390,913
EQUITY B RE
Equity attributable to owners AR AL R E
of the parent
Issued capital EETRA 29 1 1
Treasury shares EfF R = =
Other reserves Hebf# e 31 1,293,444 1,390,912
1,293,445 1,390,913
Non-controlling interest IR iER 79,379 =
Total equity R 1,372,824 1,390,013
The amount is less than RMB1,000. : SR EARKEA,0007T ©
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEERBEPR

BE—Z-_—H+-_A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

Attrioutable to owners of the parent

BAAREARE
Employee
sharebased  Statutory  Exchange
Issued Treasury Share Capital - compensation reserve  fluctuation  Accumulated Total
captal sheres premium Teserve reserve funds Teserve losses equity
WA
ERnRs
BRARE  ERRR  RGEE  EAGBE  FMER  fRERE ENRORR  EHER  hREE
Notts ~ RVBOO0  RMBOOO  RMBYOOD  RMB'OO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMBIOO0  RMBOO0
W ARMTR ARRTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
At 1 January 2021 H-B2-F-8-A 1 < 164284 9532 54,641 2811 (38803 (334284 1,156,798
Profitfor the year EREA - - - - - - - 62297 62297
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREHATRE :
Exchange differences EizE - - - - - - ) - .7)
Total comprehensive income ERPENAEE
forthe year - - - - - - a1 6297 59,320
Issue of shares' Rkf 20) 4 - 15663 - - - S - 1563
Issue of shares for restricted share ~ ARBHRAEN
E31 U - 4 - - - - - - -
Appropriaton to tatutory resenve funds A EEéfRS - - - - - 3124 - (3,124 -
Vested resticted share unts B3TESVERR
transferred to employee RRHARREN 4 - 10482 - (048 - - - -
Equity-setled share option HEREENERERS
anangements 30 - - - - 18,160 - - - 18,160
At 31 December 2021 i
TZA=1-A 1 < 180091 9532 62,319° 26,001 @780 @it 1390913

AR

The amount is less than RMB1,000.

On 1 March 2021, the Company completed the placing of 135,000,000
new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company with a par value
of US$0.0000002 (equivalent to approximately RMB0.0000013) (the
“Share(s)”) at the placing price of HK$1.45 per Share (the “Placing”). For
further details of the Placing, please refer to the related announcements
of the Company dated 21 February 2021 and 1 March 2021.

On 18 May 2021, 30,645,000 new shares of US$0.0000002 (equivalent
to approximately RMB0.0000014) each were issued and allotted at par
value pursuant to the general mandate for the restricted share units
scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019. For details of the
transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
11 May 2021 and 18 May 2021.

AN

SETRARE1,0007T ©

R-ZZE-_—&=F—8  ARAZERAEEE
FARR% 7 1.45% Sl & 135,000,000 8 A8 A 7]
f& N AT {E0.00000023% 7T (FE RO AR
0.00000137T) KT E AR ([ A% 1) (TEREF
ED - BARESFEE—THFHE  #2HA
ARAA—S - —F-_A-+—HEZ-ZTZ
—F=A—HNERAL -

RZZFE_—FRA+NH ' BERARRR=ZE
—NENB =TI BERAH SR IR0 B A
S| — MM - FAXEE0.00000023E 7T (AE 7
#9 AR #0.0000014 7T ) 930,645,000 8% 37 A% 15
REERTREE - EEXSHNFE B2
AAREBHA-_TE-_—FRAA+—HE-ZT=
—FRA+N\BHAE -

“ERCCFR BNSHARAT

105 <



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GEEREHR

BE-E-_-"F+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATRRAR
Employee
share-based  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Issued Treasury  Share  Capital compensation  reserve fluctuation Accumulated controlling Total
captal  shares premium  reserve reseve  funds  reserve losses Total interest  equity
WitE
Eites HE ek

EXfils ERRR BHER AREE  BNGRE AeRke
Notes RMBOOO RMBODD RMBOOO RMBOM  RMBOOO RMBOOD
Wi ARBIR ARRTL ARRTR ARRTR  ARRTR ARMFR

At 1 January 2022 W-F-2E-j-5 1 1800951 9532 62,319 26,001
Loss forthe year EhEE - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income EREH2ENA

for the year.

Bchngedifferences ~ EREE - - - - - -

BBEE O RMER 0 4B #h  BRME
RMBOOO  RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBOOO  RMBON
ABRTR  ARRTR ARRTR ARBTR ARRTR

(780 (75111 1,390,913 - 1300913
(120,57)  (129,531) 79 (128,559)

9811 - -

Total comprehensive ERREEEEE
loss for the year - - - o - -

Issue of shares forrestricted AR RHEL

units™ ETiT v - - - - - -
Capitlnjection fomthe ~ REIFRRERNIEE

non-controling interest - - - - - -
Vested restricted share units EEFEEZEEER

fransferedtoemployee. ~~ RAHRAHZEN 4 - 18158 - (18,158) -
Equity-setted share ERESHERERE
option arangements 30 - - - - 2192 -

987 (120881)  (119,660) 79 (118,681)

- - - 78400 78400

- - 2% - 21

At31 December 2022 WoECCE
t2B=1-H 1 41881000 9502 66,353t 26,001*

(31903 (604048) 1293445 79319 1,372,824

5 The amount is less than RMB1,000. #

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of
RMB1,293,444,000 (2021:RMB1,390,912,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

M 0On 10 May 2022, 40,800,000 new shares of US$0.0000002 (equivalent e
to approximately RMB0.0000013) each were issued and allotted at par
value pursuant to the general mandate for the restricted share units
scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019. For details of the
transaction, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
28 April 2022 and 10 May 2022.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n \éiﬁﬁiﬁé X

BE-E-—F+-A=t+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt ARETR ARBT T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHNRSRE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BRBiAT (&518),&F (111,453) 84,073
Adjustments for: MUTERBELAE
Foreign exchange gains, net SNEE Wiz F 58 8 () (708)
Finance costs BARERLAR 10 7,696 7,549
Bank interest income RATRE WA 8 (1,045) (951)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BER
plant and equipment RiEEE 9 - 4
Impairment loss on accounts receivable FEURBRFUREE 18 9 35,950 37,401
Depreciation of property, M - MERRIBITE
plant and equipment 16 356 468
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRESERE 17 6,326 4,924
Amortisation of intangible assets B EE#H 19 7,229 6,216
Gain on derecognition of lease AEAR I ERNRE (22) ®)
Share of losses in associates DEBE A TSR 4,337 3,826
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE 18 154,786 448
Gain on disposal of an investment HER—BHE AR
in an associate REMNK = @
Derecognition of accounts payable KRR EW AR (20,965) =
Share-based payment expenses LU B EER
OENE:E3 22,192 18,160
105,385 161,402
Increase in accounts receivable FEURBRFXIE BN (36,458) (47,583)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and BARIE - ZER
other receivables HL A FE USRI N (21,565) (28,414)
Increase in long-term prepayments RERFE(SFIEE N (15,490) (11,445)
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable FEfFERR CRIZY),/$E n (31,073) 29,623
Decrease in contract liabilities BRNEERD (2,011) (15,400)
Increase in other payables and accruals HiEAFIER
FEETRRIELE 0 21,198 11,751
Cash generated from operations EEABES 19,986 99,934
Interest received 2 WFIE 410 951
Income tax paid BTSSR (11,065) (11,032)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHFBRERE
R 9,331 89,853
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GZEHERER

BE-E-_-"F+-A=+—HLEE
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B ARETR ARET T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash WEE—EHE AT
acquired HIBRATURERR & (2,584) =
Proceeds from disposal of an investment HER—EEE QT
in associate RENERIE - 380
Proceeds from disposal of property, HENX BER
plant and equipment RABM B RIE 7 9
Purchase of items of property, BEYE BER
plant and equipment RiBEE (750) (1,072)
Increase in time deposits with original FRIHABB=/EAN
maturity over three months EBFEFIE N (12,637) =
Capital injection in an associate AE—BEEE AR (3,430) (2,450)
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZBIARENE
FRE (19,394) (3,133)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHNRERE
ACTIVITIES
Drawdown of bank loans REURITER 34(b) 350,353 249,647
Repayment of bank loans EZRITER 34(b) (262,000) (272,996)
Issuance of ordinary shares BITEZER - 156,635
Principal portion of lease payments HENRNEEH D 34(b) (3,559) (5,700)
Capital injection from non-controling interest =R ERITE 78,400 -
Interest paid ERFE 34(b) (8,014) (7,503)
(Increase)/decrease of restricted bank deposits 3 FR#&I$R T (3 h0),/
D (17,909) 588
Net cash flows from financing activities RMETBERERE
R 137,271 120,671
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH ReRREEBEYIEM
EQUIVALENTS R 127,208 207,391
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FHEEREEZEY
of year 401,102 195,983
Net foreign exchange difference FINEEEE 9,914 2,272)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRAEERAEEEY
AT END OF YEAR 538,224 401,102
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH REeERREEEYIW
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RERIBITAER 538,224 401,102
Cash and cash equivalents as stated inthe ~ AREMBERRRRFER
consolidated statement of financial positon ~ £REBRAFRERIR
and consolidated statement of cash flows EEEY 538,224 401,102
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanka Online Inc. (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 November
2014. Its registered office address is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive P.O.Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands, and principal place of business is 4th Floor, Building
No. B22, Universal Business Park, No.10 Jiuxiangiao Road,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC. The Company, together with
its subsidiaries, is collectively referred to as the Group.

Prior to November 2014, the offshore structure was held
by the Company’s predecessor, Wanka Inc., a company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 20 May 2014. On 7
November 2014, the Company entered into a letter agreement
with Wanka Inc., pursuant to which all the shares of Wanka
Holdings Limited, a company set up in Hong Kong by Wanka
Inc., would be transferred from Wanka Inc. to the Company
for a consideration of HK$1.0. The transfer was completed on
28 November 2014 and since then, the Company has been
the holding company of the Group.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries, including
controlled structured entities, were mainly involved in the
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services,
game co-publishing services and software maintenance
services.

1.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

AT REEEH
EWMFHERAR (RAFRNDE—XK
R-ZE—NF+—AtHEHERETE
ML EREMELT - HFME
B 3E {7 A Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands & * B%&
X B APEHIEE TG EBEILERE
1055 1B BB EB22E4E - ANAFE
EHEMEBARSBANES -

R-Z—NFE+—AZA > BREENE
BT 88 AI B Wanka Inc. 1558 -
ZARIIN=Z—NFERA =+ HEMH
EHETMRY - R=Z—NFE+— A
+ B » &AAFEWanka Inc.5] 3 — 15 X
i 0 Bt TIIERERAE (—
HKHEWanka Inc. EBBRIZHAF)H
2 IR0 45 LA 1.0 T R B Wanka
Inc.EZEFALNT c ERAEZECR -
—E+—BA=+N\HZ=K ' Bt &
AR —EAREENERAF ©

RER > AR RENMBAE (BFEX
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. ASIREEEE (8)

(continued)
it 18 22 B] R 4ERA L
A E B B M A 0SS R

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: T
Nominal value Percentage of

Place and date of incorporation/  of issued ordinary/ equity attributable to

registration and place of registered the Company Principal
Name operations share capital Direct Indirect  activities

ML PR EBTLE/
4 BEIRERHE ERRAEE FATIREIERELLBI TEER

EE el

Wanka Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding
(“Wanka Holdings”) 6 June 2014 18T REER

TMERERAR (Mg ) B

—E-MERARA

Wanka Huanju Culture Media People’s Republic of China US$100,000,000 - 100  Mobile advertising
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*A (“PRC”)/Mainland China 100,000,000% 7% services
(“Wanka Huanju’) 10 October 2014 BBESHRE

TMER L ER (LR ERAFN  PEARLAE
([ ) (ThE D) /EIAKE

“E-METATH

Structured entities:

Huanju Times Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - Note 1 Mobile advertising
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.* 7 March 2014 AE#10,000,0007 MiE1  services
(‘Huanju Times”) E/hE K BBESHRE

BERAEE(ERERART ZE-EE=ZAtA
(E2HR)

Beijing Jingzhe Century PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - Note2  Mobile advertising
Information Technology 15 November 2006 AK#1,000,0007 HizE2 services and game
Co., Ltd.* TE/hEAE co-publishing

TRERHLEERMARAR “EEXET-ATEA services

BEREZRER
BRBERS

Hui Times Information Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 = Note2  Game co-publishing
Service (Jiin) Co., Ltd.* 31 December 2019 AR¥1,000,0007 MiF2  services

BRREERITRE (SMERAR hE/ REAR BRBERS

“E-AFt=A=t-A

Wanka Huanju Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile advertising
(Hainan) Co., Ltd.* 1 June 2017 ARH5,000,0007 izt2  services

TMEB U ER (5 ERAR  RE/REAR BEESRE

“E—tFRA-A

Wanka Huanju Culture Media PRC/Mainland China RMBS5,000,000 - Note2  Mobile advertising
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.* 9 June 2017 AKH#5,000,0007 Hizte services

TWEBLER (KR ERAR  hE/HEAKE BEEERE

“E-t§5ANA
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name

&R

Sichuan Wanka Huanju Culture
Media Co., Ltd.*
(“Sichuan Wanka”)

o) IR BR AR AR
(Tl 3 )

Suzhou Longying Software
Development Co., Ltd.*
(“Suzhou Longying”)

FNERRARRERAR"
(&M )

Shanghai ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Shanghai ChiLe”)

Lt REENEERAR"
([Lgtg])

Xinjiang ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
HEHREERRERAR"

Shanghai Langdao Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
LEREEENEERAT"

Beijing ChiLe Information
Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Beijing Chile”)

TR REEREERAR"
(Bi2vE )

Zhonghe Channels Management
Co., Ltd* (“Zhonghe”)
MAREERARAF (A

Suzhou Jinglan Cloud Technology
Co., Ltd.* (“Suzhou Jinglan”)
HENRRENRERAR"
(TR MR )

Place and date of incorporation/

registration and place of
operations

EHAL AR
BRURE R

PRC/Mainland China
17 November 2017
HE/hE K
“E—tF+-AttA

PRC/Mainland China
28 September 2017
HE/hE K
“E-tEAR=TNR

PRC/Mainland China
18 June 2014
HE/hE A
“E-NERATNE

PRC/Mainland China
26 September 2016
HE/hE K
“E-REAB=TAA

PRC/Mainland China
27 July 2016
HE/hE K
“E-~EtHZttA

PRC/Mainland China
14 July 2021
HE/hE K
“E--#+B{MA

PRC/Mainland China
28 December 2016
E/hEKE
“E-RETZAZTNE

PRC/Mainland China
9 September 2022

PE/hE K
“E-EAANA

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

—E-—f+t-A=t+—H

Nominal value

of issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
ERTEE/
EREAEE

RMB5,000,000
AR5,000,0007C

RMB100,000,000
AR100,000,0007C

RMB40,816,327
AR#40,816,3277

RMBS5,000,000
AR#5,000,0007C

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007

RMB100,000,000
AR#100,000,0007

RMB81,600,000
AR#81,600,0007

Bt B A BRI HEEREHL (7

Percentage of
equity attributable to
the Company
Direct Indirect

FAEERAEL b
E# ]2

Note 2
MizE2

- Note 2
MizE2

- Note 1
HizE

- Note 3
MizEs

- Note 3
HiEE3

- Note 3
HiEE3

- Note 1
HizE

- Note 2
HisF2

31 December 2022

AT REEEH ()

il

i)

g

Principal
activities

IERH

Mobile advertising
services

BRRERE

Mobile advertising
services

BERERE

Online-video
distribution services

RERRERD RRH

Online-video
distribution services

RERRERD RRH

Online-video
distribution services

ARPEERD R

Onling-video
distribution services

BREEERD RIE

Software maintenance
services

LA T

Game co-publishing
services

EEBERS
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Note 1: Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and Zhonghe were set up under
PRC law and were controlled by the Company through Wanka
Huanju via a series of contractual arrangements.

Note 2: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and
were controlled by the Group through Huanju Times. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Huanju Times.

Note 3: The Company does not have direct or indirect legal ownership
of these entities which were set up under PRC law and were
controlled by the Group through Shanghai ChiLe. These
companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Shanghai Chile.

Notes:

The names of these subsidiaries referred to in this report represent
management’s best effort in translating the Chinese names of the
subsidiaries, as no English names have been registered.

This company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise
under PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements

The regulations in Mainland China restrict foreign ownership
of companies that provide certain Internet related businesses,
which include certain activities and services operated by the
Group.

In order to enable certain foreign companies to make
investments into these businesses of the Group, the
Company controls certain subsidiaries through contractual
arrangements. In 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, Wanka Huanju entered into a series of contractual
arrangements (the “2014 Contractual Arrangements”)
with Huanju Times and its registered shareholders which
were further updated in 2016 (the “2016 Contractual
Arrangements”). Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and
Shanghai ChilLe’s registered shareholders entered into a set of
contractual arrangements dated 9 March 2018 in compliance
with the applicable rules and requirements, namely the ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements.

In preparation for the listing of the Company on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, in
2018, (i) Wanka Huanju, Huanju Times and Huanju Times’
registered shareholders entered into a new set of contractual
arrangements in compliance with the applicable rules and
requirements, namely the 2018 Contractual Arrangements,
which superseded and replaced the 2014 and 2016
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018; and (i) Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and Shanghai
ChilLe’s registered shareholders entered into a new set of
contractual arrangements in compliance with the applicable
rules and requirements, namely the New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, which superseded and replaced the ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and entered into force from June
2018.

1.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

The 2014 Contractual Arrangements, 2016 Contractual
Arrangements and 2018 Contractual Arrangements, ChilLe
Contractual Arrangements and New ChiLe Contractual
Arrangements, collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements, have enabled the Group to conduct
businesses in industries that are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in Mainland China, and enable Wanka Huanju to:

1)  govern the financial and operating policies of Huanju
Times and Shanghai ChiLe;

2) exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

3) receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Huanju Times and Shanghai ChiLe as
consideration for the business support, technical and
consulting services provided by Wanka Huanju;

4)  obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase
all or part of the equity interests in Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChiLe from the respective registered
shareholders at a minimum purchase price when it is
permitted under laws and regulations in Mainland China.
Wanka Huanju can exercise such options at any time
until it has acquired all equity interests of Huanju Times
and Shanghai ChilLe;

5)  Obtain a pledge over the respective existing and future
equity interests, including any interest or dividend paid
for the shares, in Huanju Times and Shanghai ChilLe, to
Wanka Huanju as a security interest to guarantee the
performance of contractual obligations and the payment
of outstanding debts from the respective registered
shareholders.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Contractual arrangements (continued)

As a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the Group
has rights to exercise power over Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries, receives variable returns from
its involvement in Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries, has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries and is considered to control Huanju Times,
Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries. Consequently, the
Company regards Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries as controlled structured entities and consolidated
the assets, liabilities and results of operations of Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries in the financial
statements of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times and its registered shareholders and the Contractual
Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Shanghai ChiLe and its
registered shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
laws and regulations in Mainland China and are legally binding
and enforceable.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial
statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E-—f+t-A=+—H
31 December 2022

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2. RREE ()
(b) Basis of measurement and presentation (b) STEEEREINER

currencies

The financial statements have been prepared under the ZEMBBRREBEBEELRAE
historical cost convention. These financial statements BIRE - ZEHMBHMRIUAR
are presented in Renminbi (‘RMB”) which is the same as BTAREDEN  ARBTH
the functional currency of the Company. All values are RATZINEEY - REBFTIE
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise S FTEEEHNERAZRE
indicated. T ©

(c) Basis of consolidation (c) HFEANBREZE

The consolidated financial statements include the FEERREELAEEREC
financial statements of the Group for the year ended B+ A=+—HLEFE
31 December 2022. A subsidiary is an entity (including WEEREK - B ARALRATH
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled HESEEEHNERS (8148
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group BHER) EXAEEHSHERF
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its & 7 E R O] £ [0 3R IE B
involvement with the investee and has the ability to REEEFUR B LN EBEH
affect those returns through its power over the investee REFWED (DREEER T
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability REEDUETHERE F HE
to direct the relevant activities of the investee). EENBEFER) X EZEER

B o BERISIESIRE -

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less A A R EESEZEEE D AE

than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an REFAZHERESBLUER

investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and AR EERT G ERSHEEEH

circumstances in assessing whether it has power over RERWNENFEEE —Y)1EE

an investee, including: EERER B8

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote (a) HEWRELNWHMRERE
holders of the investee; BEANESHZRHE

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; b)) HMENZHMEENE
and &

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting ) AEENRERRBER
rights. =hEo

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are M~ R R B IS SRR e A B AR A

prepared for the same reporting period as the Company, A — NS ERIZER IR & 5

using consistent accounting policies. The results of wHE - B ARNEERAEE

subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the BEEHEEBREEANR I

Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated BEFRENREZZEHELRLE

until the date that such control ceases. HAL -
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(c)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (jii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

2. EREEGE)

(c)

—EOCFHR BMSEARAE

FEANREE (&)

Han K HEA 2 WS A& AR AR ED
TERBRAKEZIATES
ARFFIZEIRRER - BIE LS 5|3
FEREDZEHRDEH - HAEAE
BERERARZENRZ BB
EREERLAEHEERERS KR
B BA - AXRRERESE
RERE ABRERBEH

i =B RAFNER £ Pz
M=BTEP-—ERZEEE -
AIREESEHNTEEREMNA
BEHWRER - HEARHRTE
HRAEHENTEEEZEE
EREERZRE -

s 25 B2 8] 2k A $T BT B 2 =) AV 42
P SERIETER ()HEBLATM
EE (BEBB)REE  ()FE
PRFER AV EBREE ;5 B (i) sT AR
WEFTREEL; WER (K
FREHAFE ; ()FRBREN
DA ; AR (i)B A ERE
KRB 4 o REE DG
LRCEEMEERARRNID
PEREAEEBEEEEERE
ESEEMENEREEEH 2
HEERIREBEHMN (RFER
ME) °

117 <



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 3.

REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(@) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs

The HKICPA has issued new HKFRSs and amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. Of these, the following
development is relevant to the Group’s consolidated

RNBEVBRERA(F
AR EEA D)

(a)

RANHR] A IS FERER
HEA|

RASENASAHER - T8
SETAT A SRR BB YR
SRR BB BIREERNE
BRI B TIMERTTEAKE

financial statements: WERE SRR EE -

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use

EBGTERE165E BT A HF - BERRE  HEHZHZE7E

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Annual Improvements to HKFRS 2018-2020

HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41

BEBUBMEEAE 1S BBUBREENEI ZBYBEHRE R —FE-—FE_E_SFFEY#

5 BBUBREENFE16NRE BT

FAHRZAERT A
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
EBETTEREITIR BT A EIEEH —BITEH 2L
Amendment to HKFRS 3 Reference to Conceptual Framework
BB EREEIF BT A 1T BEEAER

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period. Impacts of the adoption of the
amended HKFRSs are discussed below:

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendment to HKAS 16 prohibits an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of Property, Plant
and Equipment any proceeds received from selling
items produced while the entity is preparing the asset
for its intended use (for example, the proceeds from
selling samples produced during the testing phase of a
manufacturing facility after it is being constructed but
before start of commercial production). The proceeds
from selling such samples, together with the costs of
producing them, are now recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(a)

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (continued)

These amendments had no impact on the year-end
consolidated financial statements of the Group as there
were no sales of such items produced by property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after the
beginning of the earliest period presented.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result of
past events. For a levy that would be within the scope of
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies HK(IFRIC)-
Int 21 to determine whether the obligating event that
gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has occurred by
the acquisition date. The amendments also add an
explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise
contingent assets acquired in a business combination.
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3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s consolidated financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current

3.

RNBEVBRERA(EF
AUBREEA ) (&)

(b)

E MR B i R AT HEE
BT EEM R EZA

T HEEMERRERERE
FEBRFRANEREELRS
B RIRB BRI IR] R AE
A BRBMBRERER - XEEE

intention is to apply these changes on the date they

become effective.

HKFRS 17
BEMERELERF17H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

EBIBREERE105R
BBETTAERIZE285% 2 187
HK Interpretation 5 (2022)

EAERBES(ZEF)

Amendments to HKAS 1
ERETHERE 152185
Amendments to HKAS 1
BRETHERE 152185
Amendment to HKFRS 16
EBVBRELELE165% Z1E57]
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2
BRETERNFE1 R EBMEREZEL
BERNEE2HRZIEET
Amendments to HKAS 8
HRETHERIFES 2185
Amendments to HKAS 12

BBEERE1257 2185]

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

AEEREENE IEAZSS
Bo

Insurance Contracts and the related Amendments!
RIBRE K RAERAIEET

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture®

REBHEABENAYSELECHANEERERTE®

Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by

the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause (Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current and Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants)?

BB ZNI SN — BN G EEEFEA RN R E R
V7 (BB EARDEEIFRBEERMERZIHN

FERBEE) 2

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current?

BENRBNIERE D 2

Amendment — Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

BT — RN IERB & 152

Leases (Liability in a Sale and Leaseback)?

HE (EREAHRNEE) 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies’

SERIBRERKRE

Definition of Accounting Estimates'’
SIHEFTHNER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction’
HE-XSMELCEERABERRZELERE

! R-ZF-=F—H—Hzz’&

2023 F1A B B R A2 Ak

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 RZZT-WFE—-—A—Bsz’&
2024 F1A B B R A2 Ak

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to 2 RFEE B IS Bz @M%
be determined B4 S BRI AR R o

Further information about those HKFRSs that are FEHEE A BN ZEE B

expected to be relevant to the Group is as follows:
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3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 3. RFRMBEEMBHREREN(E
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) AUBREEL ] (&)
(continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMERIREZRBHETHEE
issued but are not yet effective (continued) &I EEMHRERL (F)
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale EREMBIREERE 169 2 1E:T
and Leaseback AEZEHEPHHASEE
The amendments add subsequent measurement ZEBITAENEAHEERSH
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that BETERE  ZREFEEBR
satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15 to be accounted R EEREASREARE
for as a sale. The amendments require a seller-lessee to ABRWRE - 2S5 ABEEE
determine “lease payments” or “revised lease payments” F-ABABEIAENRKIR
such that the seller-lessee would not recognise a gain or [EETHENR] UEES -
loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller- AAATHAEIERENVEARE
lessee. The amendments also clarify that applying the g R REE o 258
requirements does not prevent the seller-lessee from A BEERAZEREL T
recognising in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to BA - AHARBRPREIERE
subsequent partial or full termination of a lease. BHBAIREDRILEHEFTRNE

AU SR B8 ©
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3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28 was removed by the HKASB in January 2016 and
a new mandatory effective date will be determined
after the completion of a broader review of accounting
for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.
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3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 3 RMEEBMBREEN(E
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) ARBHREEL ] (&)
(continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been (b) EEMERIREZRBHETHEE
issued but are not yet effective (continued) &I EEMHRERL (F)
Amendments to HKAS 1, HK Interpretation 5 EHEETERSE1RZETE
(Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements EFHREESW (FIET) MR
- Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan KRG - ERALH B EREE
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause RIFRNEHERN D E(BE
(Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- SEARHEENFERHEER
current and Non-current Liabilities with Covenants) MifERAMIEREIBE)

The amendments provide clarification and additional ZEBT AR M ERE BHE

guidance on the assessment of right to defer settlement E2L+ERANEEETEFRIR

for at least twelve months from reporting date for MBBFRREIMES - LEEED
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, HARBRIERE  EFREIE:
which:

e specify that the classification of liabilities as e FHABEIEARB®IE
current or non-current should be based on rights REBEERBERARER
that are in existence at the end of the reporting WER - BEME @ ZF
period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that: BRI ARZE
(i)  the classification should not be affected by () PBETESEEER

management intentions or expectations to +T-EAREEERE
settle the liability within 12 months; and B = B =% 78 B T &7
2R
@iy if the right is conditional on the compliance (i) foEZRER BT
with covenants, the right exists if the HmARYE  BFEER
conditions are met at the end of the reporting AR BB AR
period, even if the lender does not test EEFERYE &
compliance until a later date; and FTE R E B R TFEIK
BHBERTHARE
TR

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, e EEMBEEBERBHKRI
at the option of the counterparty, result in its AHHFHEREZBEE
settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own BERAGHNERTIAET
equity instruments, these terms do not affect its EE EESRERTE
classification as current or non-current only if S ERFE32K M T
the entity recognises the option separately as an B 2% BEEEES
equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial BRAREIAER 2%
Instruments: Presentation. RRAFTEERESER

TENSFETRE

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a o BERRESHEEESR

consequence of the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the STEERIZE 1 RAEFT AR - A

corresponding wordings with no change in conclusion. S AEERNERY » AL TR I R
& o
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3 ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided
in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary.

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and apply
to changes in accounting policies and changes in
accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of
that period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly in
the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence
of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is included
as part of the Group’s investments in associates or joint
ventures.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of
the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair
value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal
is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items
is lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets designated as fair
value through profit or loss at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial information are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3- based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
information on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in
which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Electronic devices 3 years
Transportation equipment 4 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Commercial resources

Commercial resources associated with certain business
cooperation agreements with certain mobile phone
manufacturers is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over the shorter of
the estimated economic lives and the licensed period or their
duration of the cooperation agreement with mobile phone
manufacturers, which was estimated as 3 years.

Software copyright

Software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of 5 years. Certain software is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe and Zhonghe.

Customer relationships acquired in a business
combination

Customer relationship is acquired as part of business
combination of Shanghai ChiLe. Shanghai ChiLe has a
portfolio of customers or a market share and expects that,
because of its efforts in building customer relationships and
loyalty, the customers will continue to trade with Shanghai
ChilLe. The customer relationship is determined by an external
valuer, stated at fair value at initial recognition and less any
impairment losses subsequently, and is amortised on the
straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 5 years,
during which benefits will be derived from the customer
relationship to the Group.

Research and development costs
All research and development costs are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new software
or other assets is capitalised only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the asset
so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to
complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset
will generate future economic benefits, the availability of
resources to complete the project and the ability to measure
reliably the expenditure during the development. Development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Where
applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or
the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Office premises 2 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

®)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(@

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases
of office equipment and laptop computers that are
considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same
manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost.
The remaining fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in other comprehensive income
is recycled to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS
32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised
as other income in the statement of profit or loss when the
right of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in
which case such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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31 December 2022

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material delay
to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLSs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group rebutted the presumption of a financial asset has
increased credit risk significantly if it is more than 30 days
past due based on the customers’ past payment history and
current ability of making payments. The Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 1 year past due.

The Group rebutted the presumption of default under ECL
model for a financial asset over 90 days past due based on
the customers’ past payment history and continuous business
with the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

General approach (continued)

However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider
a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within
the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
accounts receivable which apply the simplified approach as
detailed below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Simplified approach

For accounts receivable that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For accounts receivable that contain a significant financing
component, the Group chooses as its accounting policy
to adopt the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with
policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts and other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings,
convertible bonds, preferred shares and warrants.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Subsequent measurement (continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by
the Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalment or
deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and released
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants (continued)

Where the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets,
the grants are recorded at the fair value of the non-monetary
assets and released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual
instalments.

Where the Group receives government loans granted with no
or at a below-market rate of interest for the construction of a
qualifying asset, the initial carrying amount of the government
loans is determined using the effective interest rate method,
as further explained in the accounting policy for “Financial
liabilities” above. The benefit of the government loans granted
with no or at a below-market rate of interest, which is the
difference between the initial carrying value of the loans and
the proceeds received, is treated as a government grant and
released to the statement of profit or loss over the expected
useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.

The Group principally derives revenue from the rendering of
mobile advertising services, online-video distribution services
and game co-publishing services.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable
for services performed, stated net of returns and value-added
taxes. The Group recognises revenue when the specific
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as
described below.

(1)  Mobile advertising services

The Group provides mobile advertising services to its
customers and revenue is recognised over the period
that services are provided. Revenue from mobile
advertising services is recognised based on actual
performance measurement. The Group recognises the
revenue from the delivery of (i) per-click when the users
click on the advertisement, (ii) per-impression when the
advertising are displayed to users; or (iii) per-download
when the third party apps are downloaded by users.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(1)  Mobile advertising services (continued)
The Group distributes advertisements on third-party
advertising publishers’ websites or mobile publications
and evaluates whether the Group is acting as the
principal or agent in the transaction. The Group is
a principal in a transaction if the Group controls
the services provided before they are provided to
customers. If control is unclear, the Group considers
whether it is primarily obligated in a transaction, is
subject to inventory risk or has latitude in establishing
prices and selecting suppliers. The Group records
revenue on a gross basis when the Group assessed
itself acting as the principal in the transaction; otherwise,
it records revenue on a net basis.

(2)  Online-video distribution services
Sell of video content
The Group generates revenue from selling video content
to the content providers and revenue is recognised point
in time when the customer obtains the control, based
on the relative stand-alone selling prices of each of the
video content.

The Group sells the video content to the content
providers may be sold separately or in bundled
packages. For the bundled contracts, the Group
accounts for individual video content separately if they
are distinct, i.e. if a good is separately identifiable from
other items in the bundled package and if a content
providers can benefit from it.

The Group recognises a proportion of the subscribers’
payment on the video content, predetermined in the
contracts with the content providers.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

3

Game co-publishing services

The Group engages in game co-publishing services
through cooperation with third-party game developers
and distribution platforms under certain co-operation
agreements. The third-party game distribution platforms
collect the payment from players and remit the net
proceeds, after deducting the commission charged,
to the Group. In general, the portion of the proceeds
received by the Group is calculated based on the
standard price of in-game virtual currency sold and the
agreed sharing ratio in the contracts signed with third-
party game distribution platforms.

The Group recognises the game co-publishing services
on a gross or net basis depending on whether the Group
is acting as a principal or an agent in the transaction.
When the Group takes primary responsibilities of further
game development and updates, game operation,
including determining distribution platforms and
payment channels, providing customer services, hosting
game servers, if needed, and controlling game and
service specifications and pricing, the Group considers
itself as a principal in this arrangement. Accordingly,
the Group records the mobile game revenue on a gross
basis and revenue is recognised only when the in-
game virtual items are purchased and consumed by the
players, and the commission fees paid to distribution
platforms and payment channels and amortisation
of license fees paid to third party game developer
(if any) are recorded as cost of revenues. When the
Group’s responsibilities are publishing, providing
payment solution and market promotion service, the
Group views game developers to be its customers and
considers itself as the agent of game developers in
the arrangements with game players. Accordingly, the
Group records the game publishing service revenue, net
of amounts paid to game developers.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(4) Software maintenance services
Software maintenance service income received or
receivable from customers when the maintenance
service contracts are entered into, which is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance
service contract.

Service income is recognised in the accounting period
in which the services are rendered. The service mainly
represented by two types of contract. For the service
contract relates to routine services, the Group provided
the routine work as agreed in the contract and charge a
monthly fee. The service income will be recognised on a
straight-line basis over the contract terms as the work is
performed. As the services are received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer, such kind of service
income is recognised over time under HKFRS 15.

For services that are provided on ad-hoc basis (one-
off contract), service charge is entitled to the Group
when the agreed services completed. Ad-hoc services
normally completed within a few hours or a few days.
Service income is recognised upon completion of
the provision of such ad-hoc services. The Group
recognised the service income at a point in time under
HKFRS 15 when the customers obtain the control of the
distinct services.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Conference service income is recognised at point in time
when the services are provided. The customer confirmed the
services by signing the acceptance confirmation.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customer. If the
Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. EXE:TEEEME (&

POLICIES (continued)

Contract costs BHIRE

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories, BREMMLAFE Y% BERZER

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs BIEENRAN  NEBABTEF

incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as ERBENRAE  HEFESUT AR
an asset if all of the following criteria are met: # AIETMLREE :

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an () HBEANEEETHAERZE
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically HRFEEHNEEERR -
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity b) BERASTAEBGANET
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy) (RFEET) BREENEREZE
performance obligations in the future. TRBUEERE FTIEM o

() The costs are expected to be recovered. () BERAFEHAKE o

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to ER AR R & E MR UK

the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a systematic @R RN RS ERE TS A

basis that is consistent with the pattern of the revenue to TEBLER -  HEHRARELERT

which the asset related is recognised. Other contract costs REM-

are expensed as incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by either the
relevant authorities or the local municipal governments
of the provinces in Mainland China in which the Group’s
subsidiaries are located. The Group is required to
contribute to the central pension scheme in respect of
its employees in Mainland China and these costs are
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
as incurred.

Share-based compensation scheme

The Company operated two employee’s share incentive
schemes for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to
the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including executive and non-executive directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services
as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”). Pursuant to the restricted share plan
(“RSU Plan”), the restricted shares units are used as
the settlement instrument of the employee benefits in
the share-based compensation scheme, under which
the vesting condition has been fulfilment certain service
period.
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4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation scheme (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at
which they are granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised
in employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best
estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement of
profit or loss for a period represents the movement in
the cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s
best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions
are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be
non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition,
the transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied,
provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Share-based compensation scheme (continued)
Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if
the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of
the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of
the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to
the employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group
or the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described
in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share when applicable.

Borrowing costs

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest
and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies
other than the currency of the primary economic environment
in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional currency”) are
recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur.
Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in
which case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) at the average exchange rates for the
year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling
when the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling
at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising,
if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as foreign exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of long-term
monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as foreign
exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange
differences recognised in the foreign exchange reserve
relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on
disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family and
is related to the Group if that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

()  The entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viiiy The entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to the Company’s
parent.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include
(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner; (ii)
children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and
(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial information
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Contractual Agreements

The Company does not have directly or indirectly legal
ownership in equity interest in certain of the PRC entities
(Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their subsidiaries).
However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements, the
Group has rights to exercise power over these PRC entities,
receives variable returns from its involvement with these PRC
entities and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over these PRC entities and is therefore considered
to have control over these PRC entities. Consequently, the
Company regards these PRC entities as controlled structured
entities and consolidated the assets, liabilities and results
of operations of these PRC entities in the year ended 31
December 2022.

>> 160 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2022

EXETBURME (&)

BABsE T (4&)

EAIA T HER RIS ZE R 5 FTE
MM EZAALTRZZALTHENR
ERE B ()RALTHTFLZRER
EMEMS ; (i)ZA THEBREEH
BT Ki)ZALTHZALTHE
BREEHBHZEA °

EXETHIE R st

RRAEENBENE - FEEAF
HAVE - AETRER - MZSHE - &
SARBREEBMEHNE X BE
REESEREENE - UREEIA
BENEE - ZERERRMATHTEE
HEAREEHARANEARZIVEE
EREENREE -

1
RSN HER  BIEHY
RS OLIET SN - EREIMEE T
RO BHRENERRSEEREATE
B 1B

SHthE
AARIWEEESBERESE THE
B8 (BBENA  LEhEREHE L
A)REREELEFEE - A > B
RETBEHREE > AEBEEHZES
EERTHEER > SRANZEFTEE
BAEEES 2R BREAERE
HZETHERNE N EZERR
R B IESZETEERE - Fit
RATBZETHBRERAZIREENT
B WHREBZ-ZT_—_F+=-A=+
—HIEFESZETHEERNEE - 8
BREELBEGEAR -



Notes to the Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Contractual Agreements (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as
effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with
direct control over Huanju Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their
subsidiaries. Uncertainties presented by the legal system in
Mainland China could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights
of the results, assets and liabilities of Huanju Times, Shanghai
ChiLe and their subsidiaries. The directors of the Company,
based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that the
Contractual Arrangements among Wanka Huanju, Huanju
Times, Shanghai ChiLe and their registered shareholders
are in compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and are legally binding and enforceable.

Revenue recognition: gross versus net

Application of various accounting principles related to the
measurement and recognition of revenue requires the Group
to make judgements and estimates. Specifically, significant
judgements are required in determining whether the Group
is acting as the principal in a transaction. The Group is a
principal in a transaction if the Group controls the services
provided before they are provided to customers. If control
is unclear, the Group has to consider whether it is primarily
obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk or has
latitude in establishing prices. The Group records revenue on
a gross basis when it acts as a principal in the transaction;
otherwise, it records revenue on a net basis. The judgement
of revenue recognition on gross versus net basis is based on
continuing assessment of the above factors on a transaction
basis. The Group records revenue from mobile advertising
services and online-video services on a gross basis and
reports the game co-publishing services on a net basis.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. The Group has unrecognised
tax losses of RMB38,096,000 (2021: RMB37,792,000) that are
available for offsetting against its future taxable profits as at
31 December 2022. Further details are included in note 21 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of goodwill before impairment
at 31 December 2022 was RMB189,586,000 (2021:
RMB183,612,000). During the year ended 31 December 2022,
based on the impairment assessment of goodwill, the Group
recognised goodwill impairment of RMB154,786,000 (2021:
RMB448,000). Further details are given in note 18 to the
financial statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on accounts receivable

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
accounts receivable. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns (i.e., by service type and customer

type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information (i.e., gross domestic products). At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group’s accounts receivable is disclosed in
note 22 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Leases - Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use
asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore
reflects what the Group “would have to pay”, which requires
estimation when no observable rates are available (such as
for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions)
or when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Recognition of employee benefit expense for restricted
share unit (“RSU”) granted

The Group operates two share incentive schemes, i.e.,
the 2016 and 2019 Share Incentive Scheme, under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company, for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including executive and non-executive directors)
of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payments, which are equity-settled transactions. The
cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for RSU
granted should be measured by reference to the fair value
of the RSU at the grant date and the replacement date. The
cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the vesting period in which the performance and/
or service conditions are fulfilled. The fair values of RSUs
granted before IPO period were valued using the Hull White
Enhanced RSO Valuation model and the fair values of RSUs
granted after IPO period were valued the quoted price of the
Company’s shares as at each grant date..
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that is
used to make strategic decision.

FEBEHEZRREEDF(ZFZ
—F =@ - ARNBEEBRHETE

The Group has four reportable and operating segments
(2021: three). The segments are managed separately as
each business offers different services and requires different HARIE R EEREREE K - 8o
business strategies. The following summary describes the FIE o LTHIAEE R RED BNE
operations in each of the Group’s reportable segments: E:

Mobile advertising services Mobile advertising service income generated from marketers
by rendering the advertising services through contents sorting
and delivery on mobile distribution channels;

BEEE R DA EHBEBRNRT S ERRBE I HRERNEEREMEELNE
BEERBEA

Online-video distribution services Provision of promotion of video content by video content
providers on distribution channels;
BENTHERED HREERREAS

Provision of game co-publishing services income generated

REREEmD B RE DA

Game co-publishing services

from mobile game users for the game — co-publishing services;

and
Sh B 2 AR RUBHBENWAEEBESBRERBNBBESRF &
Others Software maintenance services income generated from service
rendered.
Hth TR ALARAE A A AV ER AR SE RS R o

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on segment
revenue and segment cost of each operating segment. The
selling and distribution expenses, research and development
costs and administrative expenses are not included in the
measure of the segments’ performance which is used by
management as a basis for purpose of resource allocation
and performance assessment. Other income and gains, other
expenses and losses, finance costs, share-based payment
expenses, loss on termination of convertible bonds, fair value
losses on preferred shares, fair value losses on warrants, fair
value losses on convertible bonds and income tax expense
are also not allocated to individual operating segments.

The revenue from external customers reported to management
is measured as segment revenue, which is the revenue
derived from the customers in each segment. Cost of sales
primarily represents distribution expenses paid to distribution
channels.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HEPEE (E)

Other information, together with the segment information, BEEBRENEMERER S IHER
provided to management, is measured in a manner consistent FEREMERKRAERE — BN S5
with that applied in the financial statements. There are no E - WENEEERHEEBN S MBERE
separate segment assets and segment liabilities information koMBEEER  REEBLTMEAZ
provided to management, as management does not use ZERDBE RS L E D EBRE ©

this information to allocate resources or to evaluate the
performance of the operating segments.

The segment revenue for the years ended 31 December 2022 MEBE_Z_—_FR-_ZF_—F+=H
and 2021 are as follows: =ET—HLEFENSEHRENT :
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—&
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBET T

Type of goods or services: BRI AV ER
Mobile advertising services income BEESRFWA 2,196,736 2,005,125
Online-video distribution services income MR RIAE M D BRBBUA 84,525 85,102
Game co-publishing services income 7 SR B 4 AR A U A 5,512 7,971
Software maintenance services income B4 RIS WA 14,102 =
Total revenue from contracts with customers & F & # KA UK E 2,300,875 2,098,198
The revenue of the Group is disaggregated by the timing of REBHWEZERZEFESE  WERE
revenue, is recognised at a point in time and over time as the ERF 2 & BERS R - REAREEW
Group’s customer simultaneously receives and consumes the EFRERBARRBRINEGRERER
benefits provided by the entity’s performance as the entity B FriR AL F &S o
performs.
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR¥ET T
Timing of revenue recognition: W E= SRR
Services transferred at a point in time 12 HE IS B i E A AR 7S 84,957 85,102
Services transferred over time i s ) B i Y PR 7S 2,215,918 2,013,096
Total revenue from contracts with customers &BF&HMAIRE 2,300,875 2,098,198
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The segment results for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2021 are as follows:

6. SEEF(E)

BE-_T-——fR-F-_—F+=-A=

T—HIEFENDEBEENT

Mobile  Online-video Game
advertising distribution  co-publishing
services services services Others Total
PRREER
BERERE PRRE  BEEERE £t st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
For the year ended BZ-2-"Ft1ZR
31 December 2022 =t-BIEFE
Segment revenue ARz L G 2,196,736 84,525 5,512 14,102 2,300,875
Segment cost of sales  AEHERK (1,989,716) (64,425) - (12,259) (2,066,400)
Segment results PREE 207,020 20,100 5,512 1,843 234,475
Other income and gains ~ E A K iz 42,718
Selling and distribution ~ $5E R 2 $BI%
expenses (19,372)
Research and PRE AR
development costs (86,192)
Impairment loss on EYRRERE
accounts receivable (35,950)
Administrative expenses  1TEIBI X (52,793)
Other expenses and HitpEE RER
losses (160,114)
Share-based payment LR BB
expenses (22,192)
Finance costs B R (7,696)
Share of losses in HMEBEDAFE
associates (4,337)
Loss before tax BRE AR E (111,458)
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6. SEEF(E)

Mobile  Online-video Game
advertising distribution  co-publishing
services services services Total
REGEER
BEE SRS DERE  BREERE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETR AR®TR AR®ET:R
For the year ended BE-Z-—-%+=A
31 December 2021 =+-BLFE
Segment revenue Ak L6 2,005,125 85,102 7,971 2,098,198
Segment cost of sales D ERSEERAR (1,771,566) (63,316) - (1,834,882)
Segment results DIEE 233,559 21,786 7,971 263,316
Other income and gains Hi A K Wz 17,138
Selling and distribution expenses ~ SHER D HFAX (15,001)
Research and development costs T8 B AR (67,036)
Impairment loss on accounts FEW R TR B 1R
receivable (37,401)
Administrative expenses THHAX (46,301)
Other expenses and losses HittBE REE (1,107)
Share-based payment expenses DRDAEBRNAREL (18,160)
Finance costs D J0%N (7,549)
Share of losses in associates DEEE A REE (3,826)
Profit before tax BRE A A 84,073
The Group have no major customers which contributed AEENEBE T _—FR T —

more than 10% of the total revenue for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China and earns
substantially all of the revenue from external customers
located in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, substantially all of the
non-current assets of the Group were located in Mainland
China.

F+-A=t+—HILFEERMBEBEAK
RI0%MNEEERF o
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REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group’s turnover, represents
the income from its principal activities. Revenue recognised
during the year are as follows:

W2z

WA (RENAEEMMNEEE) EREH
FEEBHWA - RERTERZHUEE LN
T

2022 2021
ot Jofnt —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBTT

Revenue from contract with customers BB HREERE155EEHE

within the scope of HKFRS 15: AREZFEHNRE

Mobile advertising services income BEESREBRA 2,196,736 2,005,125
Online-video distribution services income  ##& {788 2 i 7 2% BRAZ A 84,525 85,102
Game co-publishing services income iz ISR B 4 AR A WA 5,512 7,971
Software maintenance services income  ER{FAEEIRIEUIRA 14,102 =
2,300,875 2,098,198

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by
the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic markets
is disclosed in note 6.

The following table provides information about accounts
receivable and contract liabilities from contracts with
customers.

FEURBRR (FfaE22)
BREE (MEE27)

Accounts receivable (note 22)
Contract liabilities (note 27)

BWEERRE R ET SO MRE
BEFEHHWRNM 6K E -

TREHBUERIREFEONEGHNE
BHER -

2022 2021
—g=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR T

601,259 581,348
27,833 29,844

The contract liabilities mainly relate to the advance
consideration received from customers. RMB29,844,000
of the contract liabilities as of 1 January 2022 has been
recognised as revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022,
changes in the balance of contract liabilities is primarily relate
to the Group performance services under related contracts
were satisfied.
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OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:
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8. HMA KUz

HAbW AR WS DT

2022 2021
—g-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREET T
Other income from contract with customers, FA&E B IEHELER
within the scope of HKFRS 15: F1EHEEEF SN
Haug A -
Conference service income, net (note (a)) SERBEWAFEEE (@) 4,935 3,147
Bank interest income RITFIEUA 1,045 951
Government grants (note (b)) BT AL (FHEE (b)) 334 159
Foreign exchange gains, net SN U 22 F R 2 706
Additional deduction of input value added HEIFIBEREE MR
tax (note (b)) (FfEE (b)) 14,118 11,402
Derecognition of accounts payable (note (c))  #R IEFERFE(TBRFR (Ki5E(c)) 20,965 -
Others Hi 1,319 773
37,783 13,991
42,718 17,138
Notes: PitsE
(@) Al the conference service income of the Group is recognised at @ ERFBREEBUEHREERE 155
point in time as those services are provided under HKFRS 15. SRR - AEBATE SRREW
AT LATERR ©
(o)  The Group recognises the government grants when it fulfils all the (b) AEEREEKEBERRBOIRE
conditions specified in the relevant law and regulations. There are BT R B TSR R AT A G - R
no unfulfiled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants. ZEMBBBENREX GEHAE
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the government H-HE_FT-_—_F+=-A=1+—8H
grants include subsidies from the local government in relation to IEFE BT R EE R E R
the Employment Support Scheme of approximately RMB334,000 RELEET B EE A A R 334,000
(2021: RMB159,000) and the additional deduction of input value T(ZE=Z—%F : AR¥159,000
added tax from the PRC government of RMB14,118,000 (2021: 70) RETE IS E R BN A R
RMB11,402,000). 14,118,0007E (=B = —F : AR
11,402,0007T) °
(€  The Group derecognised an amount of approximately © AEELIEER-ERBEERESK

RMB20,965,000 of accounts payable which the Group has no
obligation to pay in accordance with the court order.

“ERCCFR BNSHARAT
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—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

9. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 9. BRBiAI(E518) i@
The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBHRBRB A (BFE) &R &N
(crediting): B GEA)UTRIBEES !
2022 2021
ot e —E-—fF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
MieE ARETR ARETTT
Cost of services FREE AR 2,066,400 1,834,882
Depreciation and amortisation EREE 16,17,19 13,911 11,608
Auditor’s remuneration RN < 2,100 2,100
Lease payments not included in the EHAERL R AN
measurement of lease liabilities HERR 252 292
Employee benefit expenses BEGANAX (FTEFEEER
(excluding directors’ and chief FETHAENFH
executive’s remuneration (note 11))": (FFaE11))":
Wages and salaries IERFS 60,535 45,485
Pension scheme contributions™ RIKSFEMER 5,869 4,325
Share-based payment expenses DB R B E R MBI X 30 22,192 18,160
88,596 67,970
Impairment loss on goodwill BEREEE 18 154,786 448
Impairment loss on accounts receivable  FEWERFRERE 22 35,950 37,401
Foreign exchange gains, net* HNE R AR @ (706)
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BMERZBERNER
plant and equipment - 4
Gain on derecognition of lease AER IR (22) ®)
Bank interest income RATFISWA (1,045) (951)
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Notes to the Financial Statements

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

AR

Foreign exchange gains, net are included in “Other income and
gains” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Employee benefit expense excluding share-based payment
expenses are included in “Cost of sales”, “Selling and
distribution expenses”, “Research and development costs” and
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss.

At 31 December 2022, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes of

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

9. I@ﬁﬁu (B518) &% (&)

AN

SN b 25 0F B AT AdR A B
[ EAB YA B s IR o

TR AEY

@E?E%‘Jl%ﬁﬁ(?@%%%f"?%%
B RBIS) st AR R R R ARI [ 6
ERAL [HEED ﬁé}ﬁﬁi‘ZJ [ A 3%
AR TR T »

RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H ' ' &K
IMEEﬂW#ﬁT%MWﬂEﬂﬁ

future years (2021: Nil). REFEHRARFEINER(ZZ=—
F | o
FINANCE COSTS 10. HAFSREA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: U BERANANT
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFR ARBTT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEFIE 6,869 7,008
Interest on lease liabilities (note 17) ERHEESENFIE (MEE17) 827 541
7,696 7,549

“ERCCFR BNSHARAT
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31 December 2022

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. EERRSTBA SR
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIELERHER - FEDAGRHIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), @~ () cRMHEFRDE (HEEEF

mER)ROIE2HWMENAFEES
RESTHRASHMNT :

(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2022 2021
—F=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Fees: wne
Directors £= 513 491
Other emoluments: HibENE -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ & - JREIRBYFZH 4,637 4,736
Share-based payment expenses D BERNAREX 342 —
Pension scheme contributions EBREFTEIMHIK 693 711
5,672 5,447
6,185 5,938
(@) Independent non-executive directors (a) TBILFEMITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRAXNFBIIIEHITEENE
during the year were as follows: LT :
2022 2021
—g-- —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Mr. Chen Baoguo PRESEN SE 4 171 164
Mr. Liang Zhanping?® RS - 116
Ms. Zhao Xuemei’ e LT 94 164
Mr. Jin Yongsheng* SIKE T E 171 47
Mr. Yu Limin® RFR S 77 -
513 491

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

(2021: Nil).
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Notes to the Financial Statements

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive

Year ended 31 December 2022

11.

A ¥5 R R Mt ot

—E__H+-HA=+-—H
31 December 2022

EERRSTEA SN

(%8

(@) BITEE  EWTEERES
TBAS
BE-®-—#+-A=t+-0
xS

Salaries,
allowances Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses contributions remuneration
g 2E DRhBER Bihe
He REVHZE HAREX BE HrihasE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Executive directors: HiTES:
Mr. Gao Dinan’ BEBEEE - 1,689 - 153 1,842
Ms. Zhou Yan? Bl e - 317 - 62 379
Mr. NIE Xin BELE - 720 - 182 902
Ms. Jiang Yu? BFuL? - 484 342 97 923
Non-executive directors: FBTES
Mr. Zheng Wei BErE - 1,428 - 198 1,626
Mr. Song Chunyu? RERELES - - - - -
- 4,638 342 692 5,672
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31 December 2022

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 11. s&f%'.%' THBIA & Y %7 Bl
REMUNERATION (continued) (&
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) #.?TE% ERITESRES
and the chief executive (continued) TBAE (&)
Year ended 31 December 2021 gE—_S—-_—F+-A=+—H
IESEE
Salaries,
allowances  Share-based Pension
and benefits payment scheme Total
Fees in kind expenses  contributions  remuneration
e 2 UROAER Bife
e RkEVAR MY BE 23 Pak
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR AR¥ETR AR%®TR AR¥ET:R
Executive directors: YTEE .
Mr. Gao Dinan’ BHBAE - 1,633 - 153 1,786
Ms. Zhou Yan® FE g L5 - 987 - 191 1,178
Mr. NIE Xin RERE - 720 - 176 896
Non-executive directors: FHTES
Mr. Zheng Wei BELE = 1,396 = 191 1,587
Mr. Song Chunyu? REMAES - - - - -
- 4,736 - 711 5,447
1 Mr. Gao Dinan was the Chief Executive Officer of the 1 RIE—NF=A_FT_——

Company from March 2014 to December 2022.

Ms. Jiang Yu was appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 20 July 2022 and appointed as
Chief Executive Officer on 16 December 2022.

Mr. Song Chunyu resigned as an non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 28 April 2022.

Mr. Jin Yongsheng was appointed as an Independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 16
September 2021.

Ms. Zhou Yan resigned as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 28 April 2022.

Mr. Yu Limin was appointed as an Independent non-
executive Directors of the Company with effect from 20
July 2022.

Ms. Zhao Xuemei resigned as an Independent non-
executive Directors of the Company with effect from 20
July 2022.

Mr. Liang Zhanping resigned as an Independent non-
executive Directors of the Company with effect from 16
September 2021.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b)

Executive directors, non-executive directors
and the chief executive (continued)

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were
granted to directors and the chief executive of the Group
in respect of their services to the Group, under the share
incentive plan of the Company, further details of which
are set out in note 30 to the financial statement. The fair
value of these options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting periods,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the financial statements for the current
year is included in the above directors’ and the chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year (2021: Nil).

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

1. EEREHTHASHIHM

(%)

(b)

“ERCCFR BNSHARAT
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TTBAE (&)
RERARBEFE  REAQT
RO MBS AEEESK
ESTHRAEREOAREEREMH
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— B BERP B IRMEES0
HEERENQAFEEREEH
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—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 12. AaREHMAL

The five highest paid individuals during the year include two
directors (2021: nil), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of
the remaining three (2021: five) highest paid individuals who
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are
as follows:

FR - AEBEFMALEEMBES
(ZB=—F Z2F) HFEMFEH
REXMEN1 - FRHBT=H (ZF=
—F AR BRSHFMAL (LFEL
AESHBRSTHRAL)WEFMFEM
T :

2022 2021

k- e —E-—-F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR AREET T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ##& - 2B R BV 3,466 3,786
Share-based payment expenses LR BERNAREX 3,642 8,155
Pension scheme contributions BRINEFTEMER 380 703
7,488 12,644

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

FEERFZRSTHRAENRSHMHA
THHMAURUATEEHABNT :

Number of employees

EEAY

2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—&

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,000/& 7T =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 %7t £ 2,000,000 T = =
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 &7t £2,500,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 /&7t £3,000,0007& 7T 1 2
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 /& 7t £4,000,0007& 7T 1 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 /&t £4,500,00078 7T = 1
3 5)

During the year and in prior years, RSU units were granted
to the non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
individuals of the Group in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share incentive plan of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 30 to the financial
statement. The fair value of these options, which has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
over the vesting periods, was determined as at the date of
grant and the amount included in the financial statements
for the current year is included in the above non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid individuals’ remuneration
disclosures.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The Company is incorporated under the law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Islands income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.
The income tax expenses of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021 represented current tax expenses
related to the Group’s operations in Mainland China and
deferred tax.

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its
operations in Mainland China was calculated at the tax rate
of 25% on the estimated assessable profits for the periods, if
applicable, based on the existing legislation, interpretations
and practice in respect thereof, except for four (2021: four)
PRC subsidiaries, which are entitled to a preferential tax rate

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

13. FifEHiR%

AABRBEFREREEETMAL - B
BABMBESHEMENR

REBE-B-_—_FR-_F-_—F+=H
=t+—BLEFE  AEEREBLRE
EEIERBUET - BREHREBREG
B - AEERBE-E--FR=
B+ A=+—-HLEFEWNFE
Bip K Ig B A SR B FE P B K R YA & 26
B RIEEB EARBENEN AR B X o

RIBTPEAENRTAE RERE
B » ZANEE [ A B A B Y AR RS R TR
M TSR B B I % B R (o FE SR BB R
25% MFLEFTE (AEA) - R (=
T_—F ) GERRBIEFE
2 MAERZE15% NEER R

of 15% for three years as they are qualified as a “new high H R B 2 BIBR SN ©
technology enterprise”.
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Current — Mainland China BIHER — A K e
Charge for the year FREX 21,392 27,419
Deferred tax credit ELEBIEIR R (4,287) (5,643)
Total tax charge for the year FRBIEMAZAE 17,105 21,776
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—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued) 13. FAEHiRAX (8)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to (loss)/
profit before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in
which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are
domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax
rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

BARARAERIDWEQRAEEME
BEERAEER R ERRBLAT (&
18), ERNEEABEMY - BRER
Bt R 5T S R 1R B 32 HO I AR DA K% 38 A Bt
R (AEERR) BERRH R IR

2022 2021
—Eg-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTT

(Loss)/profit before tax BRELAT (B518), &R (111,453) 84,073
Tax at the statutory tax rate (25%) BEER R (25%) (27,863) 21,019
Lower rates for specific provinces or STEMNFHIESER MOt S

enacted by local authority HEEAME M 2 YR B = (8,059) (11,051)
Effect of different tax rates in different FRBEEENRHENTZE

jurisdictions 2,964 308
Expense not deductible for tax A A5 2 E A 46,495 10,549
Tax losses utilised EEABEEE - (306)
Tax losses not recognised RIER I IEETIE 3,568 1,257
Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate RAEE BRI ETEN

IR X 17,105 21,776
14. DIVIDEND 14. g2

No dividend have been paid or declared by the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

15. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BAGLEERHFA ARG
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY B (§548) BF
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share BREX (BEB) BANSELERK
amount is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable FERBAAEARREEARLER
to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and the weighted (B18),7HA LA 1,433,714,596 1%
average number of ordinary shares of 1,433,714,596 (2021: (ZZ=—% :11,391,102,394 %) 2. 3
1,391,102,394) in issue excluding the treasury shares during TEBR (TEFEEERS) MET
the year. HEMmEE o
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the BREE (BB BADBEBRER
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to THEINEBRINEFGEURRAE
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. EEEEBMEENEBRIIEEEM

HEEH -

The calculations of basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share BREAREE (F58) BRMNTE
are based on: BERUTEIE :
2022 2021
—g-= T —F

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to STEERERR 8 F AT A
owners of the parent used in the basic WA TR ARLFER
and diluted earning per share calculation  (&#), &F (AR TT)
(RMB’000) (129,537) 62,297

Weighted average number of ordinary FARARERERBRFEN
shares in issue during the year used in EETERRNINETLHEE

the basic earnings per share calculation 1,433,714,596 1,391,102,394
Effect of dilution — weighted average e E - ZERN

number of ordinary shares: INREF I ¢

RSUs ZIREBIRMDEN 79,181,192 59,327,780

1,612,895,788 1,450,430,174

Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREXR (B5E) ZF (RMBO0.09) RMBO0.04
(expressed in RMB per share) (AERAR®TIIR) (AE¥0.09t) AR¥0.047T
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share BREE (558) BR (RMBO0.09) RMBO.04
(expressed in RMB per share) (AERAR®THIR) (NR¥0.097t) AKY0.047T
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—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y1 - BERRE

Electronic Transportation Leasehold
devices equipment improvements Total
EFRfE EnRE HEMRRES @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETR AREFT ARETT
Cost 5%
At 1 January 2021 R=B=-%-8-H 2,204 1,275 201 3,680
Additions hE 241 - 831 1,072
Disposal HE (256) - - (256)
At 31 December 2021 and R=B=-5+=A
1 January 2022 =t-BR=ZE-=f
=t =! 2,189 1,275 1,032 4,496
Additions e 481 - 269 750
Acquired through business BBERCONE
combination (Note 33) (HizE33) 86 - - 86
Disposal HE (60) - - (60)
Exchange realignment [ 5 % 1 - - 1
At 31 December 2022 AZE-—F+ZR
ET=[E 2,697 1,275 1,301 5,273
Accumulated depreciation RitinE
At 1 January 2021 RZE--%5-F—H 1,742 743 194 2,679
Depreciation provided FRTHENIE
during the year 265 201 2 468
Disposal HE (243) - - (243)
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ-%+ZA
1 January 2022 =t-AR-E-=F
—B—H 1,764 944 196 2,904
Depreciation provided during the year ~ FRFHEHITE 251 79 26 356
Disposal HE (59) - - (53)
Exchange realignment Ak 1 - - 1
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZF
+ZA=+—-H 1,963 1,023 222 3,208
Net book value IREFE
At 31 December 2022 iz S
+=A=+-H 734 252 1,079 2,065
At 31 December 2021 RZBE-—&
+ZA=+-H 425 331 836 1,592
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31 December 2022

17. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

17. S

FEEEBREA

REEEE BB LG RMASYER
SVHAEAN o WATYENESES
E—EHEWAL - HAREEET
A12@BRUATHABR, KB E5
EEERE - —Bms  AEEEEE
EELNEER SRR EEES TSR
5] o BHEFAE SN EEEHR K HBE
BRTSEEN -

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its
operations. Leases of office premises generally have lease
terms between 1 and 5 years. Other equipment generally has
lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low
value. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and
subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. There are no
lease contract that include extension and termination options
and variable lease payments.

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EHEESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets FR - AEENFEREEENR
and the movements during the year are as follows: HERSENT :

Office premises

WA
RMB’000
ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZE—_—F—HA—H 4,033
Additions NE 28,253
Derecognition of lease THERILER (391)
Depreciation charge TERX (4,924)
Exchange realignment [E 5 (6)
At 31 December 2021 R-B-_-F+ZA=+—H
and 1 January 2022 —E-_—_%—H—H 26,965
Additions NE 2,928
Derecognition of lease HEKILER (11,336)
Lease modification HEEH (2,063)
Depreciation charge TERX (6,326)
Exchange realignment & AR 20
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZZBZZH+ZA=+—H 10,188

—— —

-
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—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

17. LEASES (continued) 17 #HE (8)

The Group as a lessee (continued) AREEEEBEAN (B)

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HE&E(E
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the Fr HESENRAERES
movements during the year are as follows: mr

Lease liabilities

HEaE

RMB’000

ARETT

At 1 January 2021 R-ZZB-—-%—-A—H 4,170
New leases HEE 28,253
Accretion of interest recognised during the year — FREZNF SEE 541
Payments (NETS (6,241)
Derecognition of lease HERIEER (399)
Exchange realignment [ 5 @)
At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—§—HF—H 26,317
New leases HHEE 2,928
Accretion of interest recognised during the year SRR NF SEE 827
Payments (REN (4,386)
Lease modification HEBR (2,063)
Derecognition of lease HEKILER (11,358)
Exchange realignment BEE 5 3= 54
At 31 December 2022 R-BZZH+ZH=+—H 12,319
2022 2021

—g-= —E——f

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARSTT AR¥T T

Analysed into: DIH

Current portion BUEAER 2 6,499 6,990
Non-current portion JEENHEAER 5,820 19,327
12,319 26,317

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in

note 41(c) to the financial statements.
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17. LEASES (continued) 17. & (&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) AREEEEBEA (B)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation (c) THEEMREERHSENT

to leases are as follows:

2022 2021
—E=-= T
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBTRT

Interest on lease liabilities HEEERNE 827 541

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FAEEENERX 6,326 4,924
Expense relating to short-term leases and E2fZHRFAE R BB T

other leases with remaining lease terms AW EMIAEFREMNEX 93 143

Expense relating to leases of low-value HEEEEENEE
assets EREMWEX 159 149
Total amount recognised in profit or loss R AMERAEZE 7,405 5,757
18. GOODWILL 18. &

2022 2021

—g-- —E——5

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR ARBTT

As at 1 January n—A—H 183,164 183,612
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 33) Y iE — BB A B (F4EE33) 6,422 =
Impairment BE (154,786) (448)
As at 31 December B+=—A=+—H 34,800 183,164
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—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (the “CGU”), which are
reportable operating segments, for impairment testing:

° Online-video distribution CGU; and

° Zhonghe CGU.

The Group is required to test, on an annual basis, whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable
amount is determined based on value in use calculations. The
use of this method requires the estimation of future cash flows
and the determination of a discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of the cash flows.

Online-video distribution CGU

During the year, online-video distribution CGU does not record
a growth in revenue, which contrast with the management’s
expectation of the significant growth in budget. Such situation
was mainly due to the PRC government has imposed several
policies to restrict the gaming time of the minors to be under
3 hours a day. This had adverse impact on the cash flow
projections.

The recoverable amount of the online-video distribution CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering a five-year period to 31 December 2027 approved by
senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 25.13% (2021: 27.07%). The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the online-video
distribution CGU beyond the five-year period is 2% (2021:
2%). The directors of the Company believes that this growth
rate is discreet given the future uncertainty of the global
macro economy and market.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Zhonghe CGU

The recoverable amount of the Zhonghe CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation using cash
flow projections based on financial budgets covering a
five-year period period to 31 December 2027 approved by
senior management. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the
cash flow projections is 22.69%. The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the Zhonghe CGU beyond the
five-year period is 2%. The directors of the Company believes
that this growth rate is discreet given the future uncertainty of
the global macro economy and market.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

18. FE (/&)
S RER (E)
chfnIR & AN
PR e EEBVN AT E SRR
RARSHEEEHENENRERTF
HEE—Z_tH&+-A=+—HBHK
BENESRERATTENEREERE
E o BEARRERETARNHATALIR
73‘%22 69% °c AREERMBEESE

BUAFHEARRESRAENERES

2% c ARATEBRE > TRIEZHRE
BRERTSHNARRIEES  ZEBR
R AEE

TEREXFREELEVNHEREEN

CGUs are as follows: T
2022 2021
ot o) —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Online-video distribution HBRIBERD 28,378 183,164
Zhonghe CGU (Note 33) RIS EE B (FfEE33) 6,422 —
34,800 183,164

The recoverable amount of CGUs that hold a significant
proportion of the Group’s overall goodwill balance include:

— Online-video distribution: The shortfall between
the carrying amount of CGU before impairment of
RMB185,352,000 and VIU of RMB30,566,000. An
impairment loss on goodwill at amount of approximately
RMB154,786,000 was provided in the consolidation
statement of profit or loss as other expenses an losses
during the year ended 31 December 2022. The impairment
loss is recorded in the online video distribution services
segment; and

—  Zhonghe CGU: recoverable amount of RMB6,422,000
approximates its carrying amount.

RAEEHEABEDEHLEANRE
EEEMTHE SRS

- REREERSE BESE4L
aﬂﬂfﬁgu;&ﬁ@@%ﬁk@ﬁ%
185,352,000 tEFAEEAR
#£30,566,000 7T Z B ZEEE o R
BE-_Z__H#+°-A=+—H
IEFE > BEREFENARE
154,786,000 TEREZEEEZE
SR BEAHMB I REE -
Aﬂﬁ)&ﬂé”rxiﬁﬁ%ﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁ

Eﬁi%/'\g

— HHRESELEEN: JRELEE
AR#6,422,000 0B HBRE B
B o
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18. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
CGU. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Revenue growth rates — The basis used to determine the
revenue growth rate in the five-year forecast period is the
historical data of the CGU, management’s expectation of
the future market and the average growth rate achieved by
comparable companies. Growth rates beyond the first five
years are based on economic data pertaining to the region
concerned.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market

development of the above CGU and discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. Hith\BREE
Commercial Customer
resources Software relationship Total
BEER 0 EFRZ #ast

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
AREFRE AR®TRT AR®TRE ARETR

Cost B
At 1 January 2021, R=B=—-%—-8—-8"
31 December 2021, “E--%+=A
1 January 2022 =t—8-
—E-_"%#—-A—H 20,152 6,165 25,000 51,317
Acquired through business ERERSOE
combination (Note 33) (PffEE33) - 6,755 - 6,755
N-E-—F
At 31 December 2022 +=ZB=1+—8H 20,152 12,920 25,000 58,072
Accumulated amortisation and  E 3t & i {E
impairment
At 1 January 2021 R-ZE=-—-F—A—H 20,152 3,428 14,041 37,621
Amortisation i - 1,216 5,000 6,216
R=F=—%1+=A
At 31 December 2021 and =t+—-HkK
1 January 2022 —E_"F-—-F—H 20,152 4,644 19,041 43,837
Amortisation s = 2,229 5,000 7,229
i —-
At 31 December 2022 +ZHA=1+—H 20,152 6,873 24,041 51,066
Net book value AREFE
N-E-—F
At 31 December 2022 +=ZB=1+—8H - 6,047 959 7,006
R=Z=——F
At 31 December 2021 +=B=1+—8H - 1,521 5,959 7,480
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19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(@)

Intangible assets recognised in 2022 were related to the software
associated with the business combination of Zhonghe (Note
33). The software of RMB6,755,000 was recognised, which is
valued by an independent valuer using “excess profit” method of
discounting the future expected net profits of Zhonghe generated
from the software. Key inputs used in valuing the fair value of the
intangible assets are set forth below:

19. HihEREE (&)

(@)

R —FHEIANEFEE Y R E
RS SRR B (I5E33) ©
REE A R#6,755,0007T © B
S ERDE A [ B8 % 7 A RLIE
AN B B AR YR SR TE ER AR A 1T 1
B> ARFEEREEATFENEE
HABRES AT ¢

At the
transaction date
RRS5EH
2022

—g-=

Discount rate BEIE =

Budgeted revenue growth rate

The discount rate was estimated by the weighted average cost
of capital at the date of acquisition of the software, which reflects
specific risks relating to the assets.

The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue growth
rate is the historical data, management’s expectation of the
future market and average growth rate achieved by comparable
companies.

>> 188 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2022

FREREIERE

20%
2-3%

BB RTGZRWE M E B B e
FHERRAGE - RREEE
ENRSERR o

RUBERERRERENEE
RBERE  EEBHRRNS
B TEHA K AT EL 8 B AT BAY P
IERE -



20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

20. REtZEATINIRE

2022 2021

k- e —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®BFT ARBT T

Interest in associates REE N BIERS 5,452 6,226

Disposal of interest in associates FARAHEREE A RNER
during the year - (878

Share loss in associates MEBE A RNEER (4,337) (3,826)

1,115 2,022

Particulars of the material associates are as follows: BARBENATINEBOT :

Percentage
Particulars of of Place of
registered incorporation Ownership interest Principal
Name share capital and business  attributable to the Group  activity
EEauioave FREREN
&M st AR AR LES L FREE S ETEEH
2022 2021
B <—T-—F

Beijing Youbei Digital RMB10,000,000 Beijing - — Research and development
Technology Co., in innovation through
Ltd. (Note 1) technology
(“Beijing Youbei”)

IR EHFRR AR# 1= - - WA
BRAE (1) 10,000,0007T
(Mezke B 1)

Wanxin Chelian RMB89,639,000 Shenzhen 49 49 Internet of innovation of
Technology vehicle business
(Shenzhen) Co.,

Limited (Note 2)
(“Wanxin Chelian”)

BREEERR OF ARY el 49 49 RERIMEBEREY
YDERAR (MEE  89,639,0007T
2) ([B=EH]D
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20. REMEATMIRE (F)

Summarised financial information MBS EEHE
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBET T
Year ended 31 December BE+t-A=1+—HLEE
Aggregate amount of the Group’s share ~ AEBE(LZSHE N EH
of those associates: 4z
Beijing Youbei B E
— Loss from operations — REEE = (160)
- Other comprehensive income —Hih2EKA - -
- Total comprehensive income —2HBAEEE - (160)
Wanxin Chelian BiEEH
— Loss from operations —REER (4,337) (3,666)
- Other comprehensive income —Hh2EKA - -
— Total comprehensive income —2HRALEE (4,337) (3,666)
Note 1: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group i1 B2 T —F+-_A=+—HI

Note 2:

disposed 100% of its shareholding in Beijing Youbei at a cash
consideration of RMB380,000, resulting a gain on disposal of
approximately RMB2,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, upon additional
paid-up capital contribution being made by each shareholders
of Wanxin Chelian, the paid-up capital was enlarged from
RMB13,963,900 to RMB20,963,900 and the Group’s equity
interest in Wanxin Chelian remained no change. As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s investment commitment on
Wanxin Chelian was amounted to RMB33,651,000 (2021:
RMB37,081,000), to be paid up by Huanju Times on or before
31 December 2030.
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21. DEFERRED TAX

The movements of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as

Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

21, EEHIR
BEBEAEREENRBNAT :

follows:
Deferred tax assets BEBIREE
2022
s
Provision
Lease on accounts
Liabilities receivables Total
HEERE FERRRIEE “ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
At January 2022 i ey = 6,542 8,752 15,294
Deferred tax (charged)/credited & (HIBRE), 5t A
to profit or loss during the year B HVIEIERIIE (3,451) 2,851 (600)
Gross deferred tax assets at RZEB-—F+-A8
31 December 2022 =+ —BHIEERIE
EEHE 3,001 11,603 14,694
Deferred tax liabilities IBEBIEEE
2022
Fair value
adjustment on
Right-of-use acquisition of
assets subsidiaries Total
W BSFH B A Sl
EHESE MNATERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARSTT
At January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H4 6,707 495 7,202
Deferred tax credited to profit or FRFT ABZEHVIELER B
loss during the year (4,150) (737) (4,887)
Acquired through acquisition ~ ZEBUWE—EHE QA
of a subsidiary (Note 33) Wk (FEE33) - 1,677 1,677
Gross deferred tax liabilities MRZEBEZF+4
at 31 December 2022 =+—HHEERIE
=NEr b 2,557 1,435 3,902
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21. BERIE (&)
Deferred tax assets BEHRIEEE
2021
B
Losses
available for
offsetting Provision
Lease  against future on accounts
liabilities  taxable profits receivable Total
AHEHARR
FERBURR
HEEE WEE  BYRREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARETR

At 1 January 2021 R=Z=—-F—-H—H 1,042 306 4,182 5,530

Deferred tax credited/(charged) o~ FRFTA /(KR E)EE

profit or loss during the year YRR I 5,500 (306) 4,570 9,764
RZE-—&+Z8
Gross deferred tax assets =+ -BNELHEE
at 31 December 2021 ERE 6,542 - 8,752 15,294
Deferred tax liabilities BEBIEA R
2021
—E-—F
Fair value

adjustment on
Right-of- acquisition of

assets use subsidiaries Total
BB A B

FHEEE HAFERE #st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET R ARBTR ARBT R

At 1 January 2021 R-ZB=—%—-A—H 1,008 2,073 3,081

Deferred tax charged/(credited) ~ FRMBRE (Gt A)BEH

to profit or loss during the year ~ IEFERiE 5,699 (1,578) 4,121
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZBEZ-F+-A=1+—HW
at 31 December 2021 RERIBE ERRE 6,707 495 7,202
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21. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21, IREMHIE (58)
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) EEHIER M (&)
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and BMERMS > BETELEHREEEREE
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of ERGRETEARRRIKE - THAKRE
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred BIELER B DN » MEREBRIRE
tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes: 1
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR®ET T
Net deferred tax assets recognised RERE B R R IR M
in the consolidated statement of EEHIEEESFE
financial position 12,135 8,587
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised RizE MR R RIERN
in the consolidated statement of B IEE EFEE
financial position (1,435) (495)
Net deferred tax assets EEBIREE TR 10,700 8,092

The Group has tax losses of RMB38,096,000 (2021:
RMB37,792,000) that are available for offsetting against its
future taxable profits as at 31 December 2022. All of these
losses have arisen in Mainland China, and are available for
offsetting against future taxable profits to a maximum period
of five years of the companies in which the losses arose.

Among which, tax losses of RMB38,096,000 (2021:
RMB37,792,000) have not been recognised as at 31
December 2022 as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from
1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there
is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate
is 10%. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008 if any.

R-EB-_—_F+-A=+—H  &5H
A AR S R R AR R A B IE & 1B
AR#538,096,000t (ZE=—F : A
K#£37,792,0007t) ° FiEZEEET
REPEAFE - AIKHERESEENAE
&% 0 FHIBE MR RERBRF]

Hop RZE2E-_F+ZA=+—1 "
IR IEET B A K#538,096,000
T(ZE=Z—%F : AK%37,792,000
7T) 0 BAZSERNBACEEESES
EBE—BEENMEBARMESL BT
R AT BEAE FE SR BUE A T A LUK S5 1E &

Be

REBEHEIEEMERE  NPBRAER
VI BRELFEEIIEIREE SRR
EABBI10%ENN - BEARER=
ZZEN\F-A-ABRERABBAR=-ZF
ZEF+Z A=t -BZEMELNNK
o BB AR RSN IRE E T RDE
BE BRI BRBHRY - RITEERR
BEHNFEHNRER - gAKENS - BAK
EHB10% - Bt XREBARZER
FEAERINMEARE -BENF
—A—BEREENER (WE)DIKK
IRESANTENBL

—EOCFHR BMSEARAE
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21.

22.
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 21, IREMHIE ()
Deferred tax liabilities (continued) EEHIAE S (&)
At 31 December 2022, no deferred tax liabilities have been RZZBE-_F+-A=+—8 » #Em
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on TR AR TE AN A 2 85 B8] A R B KB A AL
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes HIFE B A B R AR BB S BRI FE A RO FE 0%
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. MERELERIEEE - EERE © HEB
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these ATEAERRR IR AR D IRKZE
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable B -WR=—TB_—_F+-A=+—H"
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences ied R MR AR AE 754 16 B2 15 Y A FP [ X Bk
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China BARKRENEREZESHNAAR
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised #£35,208,000T (= =—F : AR
totalled approximately RMB35,208,000 at 31 December 2022 43,246,0007T) ©
(2021: RMB43,246,000).
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 22, FEUERFR
2022 2021
-z —E-—fF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Accounts receivable FEW AR 650,982 619,667
Loss allowance BiaRE (49,723) (38,319)
Total et 601,259 581,348

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are partially on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. For mobile advertising services, online
video distribution services and game co-publishing services,
the credit period generally ranges from three months for
major customers. For software maintenance services, the
credit period generally ranged from one to two months. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balance is
reviewed regularly by the management. The Group does not
hold any collateral and other credit enhancements over these
balances. Accounts receivable are non-interest-bearing.
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31 December 2022

22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22, FEUBRSR (1)
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end FEWER AR (NBRESIBEE) R EH R
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of ERBZEAENIRRIAOT ¢

loss allowance, is as follows:

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—&
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBTT
Within 3 months 3ERA 344,049 377,579
3 to 12 months 3Z12{@ A 245,806 175,717
1 to 2 years 1825 11,404 28,052
601,259 581,348
The ageing of accounts receivable that are not individually nor S {51 =k £ [5) 45 47 A R B AV FE LR BR X
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: FIBRERZNT
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARET T
Neither past due nor impaired BE M EHA S AR (B 344,022 378,143
Not more than 3 months past due BHETER=1EA 92,927 58,411
More than 3 months past due but less than FEIHi#B:B =18 FEL
12 months past due B+={EA 152,879 124,970
More than 1 year past due but less than BHREB — FELRME
2 years past due 11,431 19,824
601,259 581,348
Accounts receivable that were neither past due nor impaired SR80 HA IR SR B B FE Lk BR X B 3T HA I SR
relate to customers for whom there is no recent history of EBHGENEEER -
default.
Accounts receivable that were past due but not impaired 2 180 2R 1B SRR (B Y FE Lk BR =k B 7 £ [ 7
relate to customers that have a good track record with ERHUEFEIHENETERE - RIEBE
the Group. Based on past experience, management is of ey SIEERABAMRZESERTIE
the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary STIEBERE  RASEEET®|ELR
for respect of these receivables as there has not been a SEEESERBRY o

significant change in credit quality and the credit risk is
minimal.
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22. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (continued) 22, FEUERSR (8)
Information about the impairment of accounts receivable and BREEVRRRERASEHENEE
the Group exposure to credit risk can be found in note 41(b). BB E R B AT EE41(b) ©
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of FWERFURENEERENEBOT

accounts receivable are as follows:

2022 2021
ot Jof B
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT

At beginning of year F9) 38,319 20,036
Receivable written off during the year B P9 R A AT U 2] i 65 P LKLk TR
as uncollectible (24,546) (19,118)
Impairment losses (note 9) RAEEE (MEE9) 35,950 37,401
At end of year FR 49,723 38,319
23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23. TEfTRIE « IRERH MR
RECEIVABLES mIE
2022 2021
—F-= —E-—f
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT

Prepayments (note a) FESFIE (MizEa) 515,902 493,319
Deposits paid (note b) 2t e (fizEb) 67,014 52,645
Other receivables (note b) H it fEURIE (iEEDb) 47,065 43,358

629,981 589,322
Less: prepayments, non-current portion & : BN FRIBIEREIZ D (58,165) (42,675)
Current portion REVE D 571,816 546,647
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(@)

As at 31 December 2022, prepayments comprised payment
advance to the distribution channel suppliers for volume of
the Group’s advertisement distribution of mobile advertising
services amounting to approximately RMB481,269,000 (2021:
RMB477,687,000).

The balances of deposits and other receivables as at 31
December 2022 and 2021 mainly represent the rental deposits
and earnest money to suppliers as security for the due
performance and observation of the Group’s obligation under
the contracts entered into the Group and its suppliers. Where
applicable, an impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
period date by applying the general approach to providing
for expected credit losses of deposits and other receivables
prescribed by HKFRS 9. Impairment of deposits and other
receivables is assessed based on 12-month expected credit
losses, which are the portion of lifetime expected credit losses
that result from the default events that are possible within the
twelve months after the reporting date. When there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime expected credit losses. For measuring
the expected credit losses, deposits and other receivable have
been classified based on shared credit risk characteristics and
the days past due. The expected credit losses are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. The expected credit loss rate for deposits and
other receivables is minimal.

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances related to
receivables, for which there was no recent history of default.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 24,

PLEDGED DEPOSITS

REeERREEFYUREHE
HER
2022 2021
—F-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARBTT

Cash and bank balances BERIRITEEER 612,551 444,883
Less: Restricted bank deposits: W ZREIBITER -
Pledged for bank loans (note 28) FERITE IR (MiEE28) (61,690) (42,096)
Bank deposits frozen for litigation E SR AR S FER1TE K - (1,685)
Time deposits with original maturity REIFABEB=AMN
over three months EHFR (12,637) =
(74,327) (43,781)
Cash and cash equivalents BHERBSEEY 538,224 401,102
Denominated in: UTHE®EHE :
- RMB —AR® 501,437 347,897
-UsD —E 28,079 27,331
- HKD -8B 8,708 25,874
538,224 401,102

RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Mainland China’s prevailing rules and regulations over
foreign exchange, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between seven days and one year
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.
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25. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

An aged analysis of the Group’s accounts payable at the
end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

25. FE{TERFR

AEENEARFNBEPRENER
AEMEH A BRER AT 0T -

follows:
2022 2021
oSt —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARBT T
Within 1 year 1FER 42,501 45,579
1 to 2 years 18225 2,599 2,348
More than 2 years 2Pl 7,859 26,403
52,959 74,330

The accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are EAERZTE T —RAEH60ZE
normally settled on terms of 60 to 90 days. QOHRKEEHE -

26. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 26. H{thFE - FIE R ESTRRIE

2022 2021

—g-= —E——5

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETT ARET T

Payroll payable ERA#HE 7,274 3,231
Other payables and accruals H S FE K R FOE 67,029 49,484
74,303 52,715

Current portion of other payables and accruals are non-
interest-bearing and have an average term of three months.

HALRET R R R RURRRE R D T
T2 B={EA HFIIHR -

“ERCCFR BNSHARAT
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27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27. 8HAE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: BHEEHBUOT :

2022 2021
—®g-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T

Contract liabilities arises from EHEEELH
Mobile advertising services BEESRE 25,256 28,032
Online-video distribution services HEERIBE 2D B RTE 20 20
Game co-publishing services P BB AR TS 2,557 1,792
Total contract liabilities BREEEEE 27,833 29,844

The contract liabilities mainly relates to the advance
consideration received from the customer. It has been
recognised as revenue from performance obligations satisfied
due to the changes in the timing of revenue recognition.

BHEEFEERTFWENANKE
HEE - AR TER BN EE - 2

REBNEENRA -

Movements in contract liabilities SHEBEH
2022 2021
—g-= —E-_
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETT
Balance as at 1 January K—A— B 29,844 45,244
Decrease in contract liabilities as a FREARABHEHNEE
result of recognising revenue during WY GEAEINENEE)
the year that was included in the (MIEE7)
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year (note 7) (29,844) (45,244)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of EEFIZABHEMEMNENAR
billing in advance from customers 27,833 29,844
Balance as at 31 December RTZA=+—Hm&e 27,833 29,844
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CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued) 27. 8HI&EE (&)
Movements in contract liabilities (continued) BHEEEE (&)
The following table shows the expected time for recognition TRETRELZABRBITNENER
as revenue of the unsatisfied performance obligations at year BR AW AR TERRRR
end date:
2022 2021
—g-= —E-—f
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥ET T
At end of year RELEH
Expected to be recognised within one year &zt —FRHER 27,833 29,844
INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS  28. 52 RITE

Details of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings as at
31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 are as follows:

AEEBR-ZZE-__F+-A=+—8H
—EC—F+ZA=+—HKFERT
BRI ¢

As at 31 December 2022

R=®==%+=A=+—H

Effective
contractual
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BIRETLIHIZE(%) FH#AE ARETT
Current BN AR
Bank loans - secured RITEMR —HIRA 1.500-3.000 2023 71,000
—E-=F
— unsecured — IR 3.650-4.350 2023 189,000
—E=-=

260,000
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 28. st 2ERITHERR (&)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2021

R-ZBZ-$+ZA=+—H
Effective
contractual
interest rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
BRETHFZE(%) Z|HAH ARBFT
Current BNEA
Bank loans - secured BITER—BER 3.050-4.350 2022 30,000
—E_F
- unsecured — KA 3.850-5.000 2022 141,647
—E-F
171,647
2022 2021
—Eg-= —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBT T
Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: FEEZERITERR :
Within one year or on demand —FRFIRER 260,000 171,647
Notes: MRE -
(@  Asat 31 December 2022, the Group’s bank loans of @ RZZEZ—F+-A=1+—B ' &&

(i) RMB71,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits of
RMB61,690,000 provided by three subsidiaries of the
Company, namely, Wanka Holdings, Wanka Huanju and
Beijing Chile;

(ii) RMB80,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao Dinan (“Mr.
Gao”) (Mr. Gao is an executive director of the Company)
and a subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Huanju;

(iii) RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao;
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

RMB40,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company;

RMB15,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times; and

RMB60,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the
Company, in relation to which the Group has failed to fulfill
certain financial covenants as stated in the relevant loan
agreement during the year ended 31 December 2022
and, up to the date of this report, the Group has actively
negotiated with the relevant bank to obtain waiver for strict
compliance on the relevant financial covenant requirements.

(b)  Asat 31 December 2021, the Group’s bank loans of

(i)

(i)

(iv)

RMB30,000,000 was secured by pledged deposits
of RMB30,000,000 and US$1,897,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB12,096,000) provided by a subsidiary of
the Company, Wanka Holdings Limited;

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, a subsidiary
of the Company, Huanju Times and an independent third
party, Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-tech Financing Guaranty
Co., Ltd., which was counter guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times;

RMB39,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and a
subsidiary of the Company, Wanka Huanju;

RMB90,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao and the

Company; and

RMB5,000,000 was guaranteed by Mr. Gao, and a
subsidiary of the Company, Huanju Times.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

28. T EERITIER (&)

BT - (48)

)

(V)

AR ¥40,000,0007CH & 54
RARBER

AR ¥15,000,0007T H & S 4
R A RIPH R  RI R B A
R R

AR ¥60,000,000 T H &= L4
RARBER - MAEEREE
NEBE-—ZE-——&+-p=+
—RBIEFERITERBEH
ETMERE  BEEARE
A - AEECEREARE
TR - UF IR EISEST
AN RHIRE ©

R-EBE-_—F+-_A=+—8 A&
B RITE P

M

(i)

(i)

)

—— —

-

AR #30,000,0007 A
A7) BB R B I W4 A% A R
ARAREEEFFTRARKE
30,000,0007t } 1,897,000
ET(HERHARE
12,096,0007T ) JEEEFE(R

AR #5,000,0007T = 5E
& RRBIMEB R RRBERR
N —2BIE=T7 RPN
M EERERABRMEE
& HREERARRMER
AERERRAETRERE
RyEfR

AR #39,000,0007T H & S £
KA R RE D RITTUER LR
HAELR

AR #90,000,0007T /= 58 A&
NMARAREER &

AR #5,000,0007T # 5 5 4
R AR IR D AU B (52
HAELR -

FHR BMSBAERAS 203 <<



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. &K
Issued
BT
Total par Total par
Company Authorised Number of value of Number of value of
NG number of ordinary ordinary treasury treasury
shares shares shares shares shares
EERMEE EEREE TERLEE EBEFRAHE EEROLEE
‘000 ‘000 RMB '000 RMB
Tk Tk AR¥T TR ARBT
As at 31 December 2021 RZBZ-F
+=R=+-H 250,000,000 1,427,695 1,029 57,968 74
As at 31 December 2022 R-BZZF
+ZA=+-H 250,000,000 1,453,121 1,029 79,181 74
A summary of the movements in the Company’s share capital AT RANESPMMNT ¢
was as follows:
Number of
ordinary shares Issued Share
in issue capital premium Total
ERTEEREE ERTRA RiaE @zt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R=B=-%-H-H 1,274,481,117 1 1,642,834 1,642,835
Issuance of new shares (Note (a)) BTHR (M () 135,000,000 - 156,635 156,635
Vested restricted share units EZTEENERBTRY
transferred to employees (Note (b)) e ELD) 18,214,000 -* 10,482 10,482
At 31 December 2021 and RZBZ-F+ZB=1+-H
1 January 2022 k=E--%-F-H 1,427,695,117 1 1,809,951 1,809,952
Vested restricted share units EZTEENCHREZRT
transferred to employees (Note (b)) PR E AL (K (o) 25,425,958 -* 18,158 18,158
At 31 December 2022 RIBZZHEFZA=+-B  1,453,121,075 1 1,828,109 1,828,110
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29. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability under the laws of Cayman Islands
on 7 November 2014 with an authorised share capital of
US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 shares with a par
value of US$0.0001 each. Pursuant to the shareholders’
resolution passed on 15 November 2017, each of the issued
and unissued shares was subdivided into 50 shares of the
Company with a par value of US$0.000002 each.

Notes:

(@) On 20 February 2021, the Company agreed to place new shares
to 6 Placees, pursuant to the subscription agreement, the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and the
Subscriber has conditionally agreed to subscribe for 135,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company at HK$1.45 per share (the
“Subscription”). The Subscription was completed on 1 March
2021. The net proceeds after deducting the expenses incurred in
the Subscription, amounted to approximately HK$189,588,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB156,635,000). For further details
of the Subscription, please refer to the related announcements of
the Company dated 20 February 2021 and 1 March 2021.

(b)  Certain employees of the Group exercised vested restricted share
units during the year ended 31 December 2022. 25,425,958
(2021: 18,214,000) issued shares underlying the restricted share
units were transferred to such employee which the Company had
allotted and issued to the trustee as fully paid up shares.

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.

& Excluding 24,524,233 and 145,662,000 shares held by Wanka
Alliance Limited and Wanka Legend Limited, respectively, as at
31 December 2022.
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29. g (4&)
AARR=ZE—NFE+— At BIRER
ERELFFMRIIEERZEBRE
FRAFE - AERAE50,000ETT 0 5
#500,000,000 8% = A HE{50.0001 7T
HRMD - RER=-Z—tF+—A+H
BEBHRRRER  SREBITRE
BITRODIRAERATS0REREE
0.000002 = JTTHIAR 1D ©

BT -
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. LI BERNYMREX

2016 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 31 March
2016 (“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants. Eligible participants of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme include the Company’s directors and certain
employees of the Group. The 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
became effective on 31 March 2016 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from
that date. On 24 May 2018, the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme
was replaced by restricted share plan (“RSU Plan”) was made
effect and the RSU Plan became effective from the date when
the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme was adopted, that is 31
March 2016 and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will
remain in force for 10 years from that date. Pursuant to the
RSU Plan, the vesting condition has been revised as i) upon
the completion of the Company’s IPO, and ii) fulfilment of a
certain service period. Other than that, there is no significant
change as compared with that of the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme.

RSUs do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all RSUs to be granted under the 2016 Share
Incentive Scheme of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue on 31
March 2016. The maximum number of shares issuable under
RSUs in aggregate is 125,000. On 15 November 2017, each
of the issued and unissued shares was subdivided into 50
shares of the Company and accordingly, the number of shares
issuable under the 2016 RSU Plan is enlarged to 6,250,000
and exercise price was decreased to US$0.0000002.
Following another share subdivision approved on 3 November
2018 as of 31 December 2018, the Company has reserved
62,500,000 Class B ordinary shares underlying all the grants
under the RSU Plan.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

2016 Share Incentive Scheme (continued)

As at 31 December 2022, 56,674,040 (2021: 18,079,202)
RSUs were vested and exercisable under the RSU Plan.

2019 Share Incentive Scheme

The Group adopted the share incentive plan on 29 August
2019 (“2019 Share Incentive Scheme”), under which
employees render service as consideration for equity
instruments (RSUs) of the Company.

The Company operates the 2019 RSU Plan for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to directors,
senior management and employees of the Group for their
contribution to the Group, and to attract, motivate and retain
skilled and experienced personnel to strive for the future
development and expansion of the Group by providing them
with the opportunity to own equity interests of the Company.
Eligible participants of the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme
include the Company’s directors and certain employees
of the Group. The 2019 Share Incentive Scheme became
effective on 29 August 2019 and, unless otherwise cancelled
or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that date.
The board of the Company can determine the vesting criteria,
conditions and the schedule when the RSUs will vest.

As at 31 December 2022, 93,728,000 (2021: 2,523,000) RSUs
were vested and exercisable under the 2019 Share Incentive
Scheme.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the equity instruments (RSUs) is recognised as an
expense on the consolidated statement of profit or loss with
an increase in equity.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES
(continued)
The following table shows the RSUs outstanding under the
2016 Share Incentive Scheme and 2019 RSUs during the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022, and their weighted
average exercise prices (“WAEP”):

30. LIl AEEERIFHRB X

(&)
TRIRBE=ZZE-—ER-ZT-_F
TZA=ET—HALEE=Z—RERH
BB ER - - N EZREIRDEN
BT ARITEZ PR FIAR 1 B K EL e
FITEME ([INREFIIITERED) ¢

2021 2022

2021 WAEP 2022 WAEP

Number of RSU US$ per RSU  Number of RSU US$ per RSU

—E-— jant- Janfend

IEFY InHEFY

—E-— TEE ot Jonl {TEfE

ZREARG  En/ZRE ZREES =T/ R

BEUHE R E N EigH JR e f

Outstanding at 1 January R—B—BEKTE 45,536,473 0.0000002 57,968,233 0.0000002

Granted during the year (Note) FRERE (M) 36,639,597 0.0000002 40,080,000 0.0000002
Vested restricted share units EETEENCREIRT

transferred to employees RBEN (18,214,000) 0.0000002 (25,425,958) 0.0000002

Forfeiture during the year RERZIK (6,269,837) 0.0000002 - 0.0000002
RSU Withdrawal and transfer into SRERGENRARES

treasury reverse for further grant B RE AR R 276,000 0.0000002 - 0.0000002

Outstanding at 31 December RT=A=t+—-AERTE 57,968,233 0.0000002 72,622,275 0.0000002

Exercisable at 31 December RtZB=T—BAFFE 20,602,201 0.0000002 150,402,040 0.0000002

For 2016 RSU Scheme, the fair value of each granted RSU
before IPO period determined by the Hull-White Enhanced
ESO Valuation model at each grant date was US$9.7804,
US$21.2634, US$1.0889 and US$6.48 as at 31 March
2016, 30 June 2017, 31 December 2017 and 22 June 2018,
respectively. The fair value of remaining granted RSU after
IPO period determined by the quoted price of the Company’s
share at each grant date was HK$5.13 and HK$0.61 as at 22
March 2019 and 16 September 2021 respectively.
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES

(continued)

Based on the fair value of the underlying RSU, the Group
has adopted the Hull-White Enhanced ESO Valuation model
to determine the fair value of the RSUs as of the grant date
before IPO period. Key assumptions are as follows:

31 March 2016

“E-RF

=A=1-H

Dividend yield (%) R E W& (%) -
Expected volatility (%) FEHEDR B2 (%) 60.11
Risk-free interest rate(%) B BRI (%) 1.78
Expected forfeiture rate(%) FEHDR K (%) 0-2

The expected life of the RSUs is based on the best estimation
of management of the Company and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected forfeiture rate and volatility reflects the assumption
that the historical forfeiture rate and volatility of companies
in the same industry is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

For 2019 RSU Scheme, the fair value of shares determined by
the quoted price of the Company’s shares at each grant date
was HK$0.63 and HK$0.94 as at 24 April 2020 and 11 May
2021 respectively.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

30. LIl AERERIFRRB X

(%)
ERARZRARAELHATE
AEBERERAMREHEATRA

Hull-White1Z52 ESO L {EE R E E Z R
HRPENBEEH BHNAFE - B
BEREHIOT -

As at
i

30 June 2017 31 December 2017 22 June 2018
o
~AA=tH +=A=t-AH ~AA=T=H
56.35 56.57 56.1
2.31 3.92 2.9
0-2 0-2 0-2

ZIRFIR DB FEHER D ERAE D
AIEEENREMATMEE » BRKA
RERFTREHIRIT R o FEHIR W E
REBERMR—IERE 0 BETELR
pERENAL EYS P EIELINL E Y]
B, BERNERRERER -

E-hER BE%'JHQ@E&%‘I‘iJﬁ'ﬁ
EA—Q—QEP_TIH THOER=
——-FHA+— E?ﬁzﬂ-‘"jﬂﬁﬁﬁ"i?ﬂ
HABBEEENRG A FEDBR
0.63 T} 0.948 T °

I DIIF gﬂ;
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30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS EXPENSES 30. LI BERNYMREX

(continued)

No other feature of the RSUs granted was incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

As 31 December 2022, the Company has reserved 62,500,000
shares under the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme and had
24,524,233 RSUs outstanding as at 31 December 2022 under
the 2016 Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in a transfer of 62,500,000 ordinary
shares of the Company from Wanka Alliance Limited to the
employees of the Group.

As 31 December 2022, the Company has reserved 91,738,000
shares under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme and had
145,662,000 RSUs outstanding as at 31 December 2022
under the 2019 Share Incentive Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding RSUs would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in a transfer of 91,738,000
ordinary shares of the Company from Wanka Legend Limited
to the employees of the Group.

On 3 November 2018, the Company adopted the post-
IPO share option scheme to attract, retain and motivate
employees, directors and other participants, and to provide
a means of compensating them through the grant of options
for their contribution to the growth and profits of the Group,
and to allow such employees, directors and other persons
to participate in the growth and profitability of the Group (the
“Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”).

The Post-IPO Share Option Scheme will remain in force for
a period of 10 years from 3 November 2018 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. The options may be
vested over such period(s) as determined by the board of the
Company in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.

No share options have been granted or agreed to be granted
under the Post-IPO Share Option Scheme during the six
months ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).
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31.

32.

Notes to the Financial Statements

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 105 to
106 of the financial statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the Company’s subsidiaries which are registered in the PRC
shall appropriate a certain percentage of profit for the year
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) calculated under
the accounting principles generally applicable to the PRC
enterprises to reserve funds which are restricted as to use.

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Suzhou Jinglan, a 51% owned subsidiary of the Company,
has material non-controlling interest (“NCI”).

31.

32.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

i

AEENAEERBEFE 2HESH
R EESENYERREI05HES
106 B 2R EEEEREY

REBPEBBEREERER - A2FRN
PEEMOHEL R AERRESEE
RARFBEEHENERAGENEER
HOEHEEFEEMNERR)NET
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32. NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

Summarised financial information in relation to Suzhou
Jinglan, before intra-group eliminations, is presented below

32. FixhxtEm (&)
REEAIE AT SN ERAR
HYBIIS B R IR IR R S IR AR 2

together with amounts attributable to NCI: NEFENTAR :
For the year ended 31 December BE+=-A=1+—HILLEFE 2022
—g--
RMB’000
ARETT

Revenue &= 83,614
Cost of sales SHERA (81,106)
Gross Profit EF 2,508
Administrative expenses THREX (23)
Other gains Hithlh g 241
Finance costs L& AN (9)
Profit before tax BREL AT RA 2,717
Income tax expense FriSHiB & (720)
Profit for the year FREF 1,997
Profit allocated to NCI 2 B = R IR AR 979
Other comprehensive income allocated to NCI DEE I EBESENEMEEIRA -
Total comprehensive income allocated to NCI S hEFZERERNZHEHIA LR 979
Dividends paid to NCI B FERERARE -
Cash flows from operating activities REFENRERE (22,531)
Cash flows from investing activities RETEBNRERE -
Cash flows from financing activities RIEEEINIRERE 160,000
Net cash inflows RERBFHE 137,469
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32.

33.

Notes to the Financial Statements

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST (continued)

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

32. FEiEhxtELs ()

As at 31 December R+=-A=+—8 2022
—E-=
RMB’000
ARETT
Assets: EiE
— Accounts and other receivables — FEWERFR R H A FEUWERIE 32,961
— Cash and cash equivalents - HERBSEEY 137,469
Liabilities: a8fE:
— Accounts and other payables — FEFBRFR R E A EFFRIE (8,433)
Accumulated non-controlling interest IR ER 79,379
ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS 33. ETHULES

On 1 April 2022, the Group acquired entire equity interests
of Zhonghe for consideration of RMB5,560,000 (the
“Acquisition”). Zhonghe is principally engaged in providing
information technology development and related services
to the financial institutions. In completing the Acquisition,
the Group will quickly capture new business opportunities
presented in the financial technology industry. The acquisition
has been accounted for as acquisition of business using the
acquisition method.

The purchase price has been allocated based on the
estimated fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the date of the acquisition.

R-ZE-__FMNA—H  ~EEMURE
A K¥5,560,000 7t Y B A 0 9 2= E0 A%
E(WESE] hANETEEmESH
HEREREEANEMAEREER
& o TRINIBSEIERE » AEEFARE
BB EEATPHNEERS -
KEEEEEFERAKRBEARBERK
B o

BEECRERBRPBWEEERER
PR BENMEET A FEETIR
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33. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (continued) 33. EF5UEE (&)
Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities, ARNEEREBENALATE - BE
purchase consideration and goodwill recognised are as RERFEREENFROT ¢
follows:
Fair value
2AFE
RMB’000
ARETT
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY 2,976
Accounts receivable FEUBRFR 19,403
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FENRIE - ke REMEWRIE 2,969
Property, plant and equipment M BERRE 86
Other intangible assets Hi\EmpEE 6,755
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEAE (1,677)
Accounts payable FEFBRFR (30,667)
Other payables and accruals Hit e RRIERETER (707)
Net liabilities acquired KEaEFE (862)
Fair value
2AF{E
RMB’000
ARETT
Cash consideration paid EREENE 5,560
Add: Fair value of net liabilities acquired e WEEeEFENATE 862
Goodwill 5k 6,422
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of a WKiE— BB ARIEERN
subsidiary: REMEFEE
Cash consideration paid ERENE 5,560
Less: Cash and cash equivalents acquired B WEREREEEEY (2,976)
2,584
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33. ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (continued)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to RMB61,000 are
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the current period, within the
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

The fair value of accounts receivables and other receivables
at the date of acquisition amounted to RMB19,403,000
and RMB1,040,000, respectively. The gross contractual
amounts of those accounts receivable and other receivables
acquired amounted to RMB19,403,000 and RMB1,040,000,
respectively, at the date of acquisition. The best estimate at
acquisition date of the contractual cash flows not expected to
be collected was nil.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Zhonghe because the cost
of the combination included a control premium. In addition,
the consideration paid for the combination effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth and future market development. These
benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill because
they do not meet the recognition criteria for the identifiable
intangible assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Included in the loss for the year is profit of RMB1,798,000
attributable to the additional business generated by Zhonghe.
Revenue for the year includes RMB14,102,000 generated
from Zhonghe.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

33. EBWEE (E)

AR#61,000 T 2W BB RAC
REEZNREDNER - LEREHE[
MEEERRNTRAXTHRIS 1]
FX °

HURES B B EURER R H At FEUR R IE
HAFED BB ARY19,403,0007T
2 AR#1,040,0007T o RUREEBHE -
W B R2 5 e W AR T e EL At FE U SR IE A 42
EHN2ED B ARY19,408,0007T
® AER#1,040,0007T » RULEE B %
T TEWBNENREREMNREMS

WEHAME S A BE —REHEE
MELEE - Wi BEHAERS
MAERERGRME - WS
RARMSEREBENEHE - 25
WEEHERIER  BRRELRN
BARBIET EENHERRE

CRRNEERABSEEAAEHEN
AR ©

FRERBEENARY1,798,000
T BERPMEEMNRBEMPERE -
FRARmBRANELENARR
14,102,000 °
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33.

34.

ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS (continued)

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022,
revenue for the year of the Group would have been
RMB2,319,758,000 and loss for the year of the Group would
have been RMB128,990,000. The proforma information
is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the Group
that actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 January 2022, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the Group
had Zhonghe been acquired at the beginning of the current
period, the directors calculated amortisation of intangible
assets acquired on the basis of the fair values arising in the
initial accounting for the business combination rather than the
carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition financial
statements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the
Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of RMB2,928,000 in respect of
lease arrangements for plant and equipment (2021:
RMB28,253,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
Bt SR RMEE

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 34. ZKEBEREFRMTE (B)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) REEEEFISIMEB/IES
activities
The reconciliation between the opening and closing FEMBEARRRAREZE S
balances in the consolidated statement of financial FEENHY KRB REGER
position for liabilities arising from financing activities, (RYHGREREREBERMABIINE
which provides the information included in the AT ¢

consolidated statement of cash flows, is as follows:

Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable liabilities bank borrowings
FEfHI5 HEaRE it BRITER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AREFR ARBFR ARBFR

At 1 January 2022 WZZEZZ#-f—-H 682 26,317 171,647
Changes from financing cash flows: MERESRELD
Drawdown of bank loans RITERRER - - 350,353
Repayment of bank loans HBERTEN - - (262,000)
Principal portion of lease payments BEARHALHS - (3,559)
Interest expenses paid ENFIEHES (7,187) (827) -
Other changes: Hi#g) :
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITERAERFL 6,869 = =
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE - 827 -
New leases EHE - 2,928 =
Lease modification HEBH - (2,063) -
Derecognition of lease HERERR - (11,358) -
Exchange realignment BB 5 % - 54 -
At 31 December 2022 RZBZZf
+=A=+-A 364 12,319 260,000
* The interest payable is included in “Other payables and * FERTF B 5 A A BTG HRR 2=
accruals” in the consolidated statement of financial position. [ E b fE < 2008 R fE ST 200E | -
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

34. GEBERERMEE ()

(b) RAZETIFISIEEEE
(

&)

nE

Interest Lease Interest-bearing
payable liabilities bank borrowings
EAFIR HEEE FTEMRITHEN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R AR%ET R ARET T
At 1 January 2021 R-B=-%5-8-8 636 4,170 194,996
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRELD
Drawdown of bank loans RITERR - - 249,647
Repayment of bank loans BERITEN - - (272,996)
Principal portion of lease payments HEARNASHD - (5,700) -
Interest expenses paid BAFERS (6,962) (541) -
Other changes: Hin#5
Interest expense on bank borrowing RITEFANERX 7,008 = =
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFR = 541 =
New leases EHE - 28,253 -
Derecognition of lease HELILER - (399) -
Exchange realignment B % - © -
At 31 December 2021 RZBZ-%
+=A=+-A 682" 26,317 171,647
* The interest payable is included in “Other payables and * e S5 ALRE MR EK
accruals” in the consolidated statement of financial position. [ EL i FE A RRIE R FEET5RIA ] ©
35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 35. HARE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities (2021:Nil).

36. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s
bank loans are included in notes 24 and 28 to the financial
statements.

37. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
significant capital commitments (2021: Nil).
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Bt SR RMEE

—E-—f+t-A=t+—H

31 December 2022

38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 38. FHtA RS
(@) There were no related party transactions during the year (@ REBE=E-_—_F+=-A=+-
ended 31 December 2022 except for certain borrowings HEFEWEITVEBEAIRS
were guaranteed by Mr. Gao stated in note 28. MEFTE28 Fr i /& 5 A IR AR Y
BT 1EFBRS ©
(o) Compensation of key management personnel of the b) ATEEFZEEASHTN
Group
2022 2021
—g=-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®T T
Short-term employee benefits CHIEEREA 5,563 6,097
Equity-settled share option expenses DA E MR ER S 342 -
Pension scheme contributions RIS FHEIMERK 995 1,034
Total compensation paid to key BEEEEASSNHY
management personnel Frif4azs 6,900 7,131
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s FBEEERETETHRASHFHN

emoluments are included in note 11 to the financial
statements.

SECCoFH BWESHARAT 219 <

S IFEN MR ARM T

110



Notes to the Financial Statements

A F5 SR 3R Pt B

—E_—_F#+-A=t+—H
31 December 2022

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

39. FREREIDERTR
ZHEEMIERBRERRWIRMEDN

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as B
follows:
Financial assets SRIEE
2022 2021
—F-= —E——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AREET T
Financial assets at amortised cost BBERATENEREE
Accounts receivable FEUBRFR 601,259 581,348
Financial assets included in SFABfRE R HibE
deposits paid and other receivables WHIBN SRS E 55,914 58,961
Restricted bank deposit ZPRFIRITER 61,690 43,781
Time deposits with original maturity REHHBB=1EA
over three months MEHATFER 12,637 =
Cash and cash equivalents HERBEESEEY 538,224 401,102
1,269,724 1,085,192
Financial liabilities SRIBE
2022 2021
—E=E" —E_—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEERAFTENERER
Accounts payable FE(SBRTR 52,959 74,330
Financial liabilities included in other T AL AR TR K FE ST
payables and accruals BERANERAE 16,484 5,302
Interest-bearing bank borrowings sTERITER 260,000 171,647
Lease liabilities HEEE 12,319 26,317
341,762 277,596
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Notes to the Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments not measured at fair value at the end of the
reporting period, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments, are as follows:

Financial liabilities

40.

Financial liabilities included in other payables s+ A EfFENFIEH

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

S TAMNAFERAFE
E=E

FEBYFRAFEFENEMTA
(R BHRBEMREESRENFES
HEMEENZETRRN) REBEHARN

IREERATFENT
LRaE
Carrying amounts
fRE{E
2022 2021
—E-C —E- &
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFET AR®TT

TRIBE

- non-current portion — JERNHEAEE - =
— current portion — BNERER 500 500
500 500

Fair values

AFE

2022 2021
—F-= —E——F
RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in other payables 5t A Efth BT FRIERY

ARBTR ARETR

SRIEE
— non-current portion —JEENERES o - =
— current portion — BENERER 2 500 500
500 500
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40. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of pledged
deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three
months, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities included
in other payables and accruals, lease liabilities and interest-
bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

The Group’s finance department is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement
of financial instruments. At each reporting date, the finance
department analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief
financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of financial
liabilities included in other payables have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities (level 2).

There were no assets and liabilities measured at fair value as
at 31 December 2022 and 2021.

>> 222 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2022

40. R TAMAFERAFE

B4k (%)

EEEANMEERR  CEAER R
IMEBA=EANERER BER
REZEY - BUURK - AR - 5t
ABENRE  ZERAMBERFIENE
MEE - HEAR - sTARMENKE
RETERNERMAERTERTER
MAFEFTRRAZBHRBIEMEA
SREIEAEE °

AEENVBHBHIEEHESMTAR
FEFENBRERERF - RE®RER
H - MEHFIIE I MERTANEER
S8 WHEEER TR RE AR
B EHEREMBEEARALE -

TRMEENEENLAFERERESE
AR S CatSEEHERIN) AIRE
MEEAR

A AFERERATIIGERRR :

SEASR RN SR B E
DT EBBEAAEBUER -
EREABRRIBHRNTE (E=F
2) B AEANLEMREDARRS
TR E Y -

RE-B-_—FR-_T_-—F+-H=+
— B BMEZATEAENEERE

& o



Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents, time deposits with original maturity
over three months, restricted bank deposits and interest-
bearing bank borrowings. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such
as accounts receivable and accounts payable, which arise
directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on
minimising potential adverse effects of these risks, with
material impact, on the Group’s financial performance. The
board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

(@) Foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in Mainland China with
most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions principally denominated in Renminbi and
United States dollars. The Group has not used any
derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.

41.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

LREREEEFERBIR
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ZEY - RRHEBB=EANEHRF
o RRBERITERRETERITER ©
ZEERMTANTIZEENATEEERE
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& BB RN B BRAR o

FAEEERTAMTRNEZEBRBI
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T ESHREFTEE R INERER o
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 41. EREMEEBRERBUR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)

(a) Foreign currency risk (continued) (a) SMEERPE (&)
The following table indicates the approximate change TRITEFMEHMEEREFT
in the Group’s loss before tax and the Group’s equity in FER T ANEBERIR S HARA
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign SEAREKRHINEEERFTSET]
exchange rates to which the Group has significant R IR NS E RN KB RBA
exposure at the end of the reporting period with all other BERAEBESTROBOE
variables held constant: B :
31 December 2022 —E--F+=-A=+—H

(Increase)/

decrease Increase/
Change in in loss (decrease)
exchange before tax in equity

XD 5] HE2s

Exg® (Em) my  (AD)
%  RMB'000  RMB’000

% AR®TR ARNTR

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARBHETRE

the United States dollar (5) (5,523) 5,983
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & AR R ETHE

the United States dollar 5 5,523 (5,983)

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARMGBTRE

the Hong Kong dollar (5) (347) =
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & A R# 58Tt HE
the Hong Kong dollar 5 347 -

31D ber 2021
ecember —®——%+—H=+—Hg

Increase/
Change in (decrease) Increase/
exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity

BREL AT BRI A0

EXEE &m/ (8d) /(BD)
%  RMB'000  RMB’000

% AR®TRT ARETR

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARMBAETRE

the United States dollar (5) (2,856) (4,441)
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & AR 5% A
the United States dollar 5 2,856 4,441

If the Renminbi Yuan weakens against EARMABLERE

the Hong Kong dollar ©) (1,294) -
If the Renminbi Yuan strengthens against & A R# 8T HHE
the Hong Kong dollar 5 1,294 -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
accounts receivables, deposits and other receivables
and bank balances with the restricted bank deposits and
time deposits with original maturity over three months.
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge the obligations by counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at the end of each reporting period.

Due to the unprecedented nature of the COVID-19
pandemic, its effect on the Group’s customers and their
ability to meet their financial obligations to the Group is
difficult to predict. As a result, the Group’s judgments
and associated estimates of expected credit losses
may ultimately prove, with the benefit of hindsight, to be
incorrect.

Accounts receivable

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from
accounts receivable in connection with mobile
advertising services, game co-publishing services and
online-video distribution services. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for the determination
of credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting
any new customer, the Group assesses the potential
customer’s credit quality, assign an internal credit rating
and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed on a periodic
basis. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
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41. EREBEEBERBER

(%)

(b)
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31 December 2022

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

In respect of account receivables relating to the
provision of individual credit, evaluations are performed
on the customers requiring credit over a certain amount.
These evaluations focus on the customer’s history
of making payments when due and current ability to
pay and take into account information specific to the
customer. Typically, the Group does not obtain collateral
from customers, except for the deposits received in
advance.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which mainly comprise of deposits and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits
with original maturity over three months and restricted
bank deposits, arises from potential default of the
counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal to the
carrying amounts of these instruments. Credit risk in
cash and cash equivalents, time deposits with original
maturity over three months and restricted bank deposits
are mitigated as cash is deposited in the bank with a
high credit rating.

The Group’s customers are reputable corporations and
thus credit risk is considered to be low. Credit risk on
deposits and other receivables is minimal as the Group
performs ongoing credit evaluation on the financial
condition of its debtors and tightly monitors the ageing
of the receivable balances. Follow up action is taken
in case of overdue balances. In addition, management
reviews the recoverable amount of the receivables
individually and collectively at each reporting date to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The credit policies have been
followed by the Group during the reporting period and
are considered to have been effective in limiting the
Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable level.
None of the Group’s financial assets is secured by
collateral or other credit enhancements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts
receivable at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which
is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s
historical credit loss experience does not indicate
significantly different loss patterns for different customer
segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s
different customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts
receivable:

A1 5 SR 3R P R
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41. EREBEEBERBER

(%)

(b)

EEEbE (&)

FEWRRSR (48)
AEEFERVERRNVERR
B SEHERE2HEHNEES
1B (EARBERESE) - BRA
SENELFEBRERIER
FEEFENNBREEAERE
EER > HRBEBERELD
BEBRGILEE-—FPESAEKH
NTREZEFER -

TEESEAAEEERNEE
AR R EUERERE EERN
aH

For mobile advertising services and game co- A E SRS R B R EE RS

publishing services m=

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARSE=E HBAREE SRR
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
2022 —F-= (%) (NERE&TFTRET) (ARETT)
Current (not past due) BNER (AR3B1HA) 1.93% 318,595 6,136
Within 3 months past due BHEASEA A 1.93% 74,600 1,436
3 to 12 months past due BH3E12{A A 1.93% 155,665 2,997
1 to 2 years past due BH1ZE24F 41.86% 19,604 8,206
Over two years past due BHEI2F LA E 100% 22,068 22,068
590,532 40,843
Gross

Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SELL) GBS REARHE(E EiaEE
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
2021 —E-—F (%) (AE¥TRT) (ARETIT)
Current (not past due) BOER (ARiEHA) 0.96% 358,277 3,435
Within 3 months past due BHEEAR 0.96% 58,976 565
3 to 12 months past due BHZE12{8A 0.96% 126,180 1,210
1 to 2 years past due BEI1E2F 19.70% 24,686 4,862
Over two years past due A2 F L £ 100% 20,432 20,432
588,551 30,504
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)
The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for accounts

41. EREBEEBERBEER

(%)
(b) {SEEER (&)
FEWIBR ()

TREINEBAKEEHENEE
Epa R ERRARRBEEEERN

receivable: =
For online-video distribution services HAEEER S EREMS
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
RS E=ER HBAREE SRR
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
2022 —F=-= (%) (NERE&FTRET) (ARETT)
Current (not past due) BNER (AR3B1HA) 4.454% 25,637 1,142
Within 3 months past due HHASE A A 4.454% 20,581 917
3 to 12 months past due B3 E121EA 4.454% = =
1 to 2 years past due B B2 37.911% = =
Over two years past due BHEI2F L E 100% 6,821 6,821
53,039 8,880
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
SEL) B HBAREE EERE
(%) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
2021 —E--F (%) (AREFRT) (AREFT)
Current (not past due) BNER (R@HA) 4.090% 24,295 994
Within 3 months past due BESEAR 4.090% = =
3 to 12 months past due B3 E 1218 A 4.090% = =
1 to 2 years past due A1 E25 27.805% = =
Over two years past due mHA2F Lk 100% 6,821 6,821
31,116 7,815

The management of the Group has assessed the
accounts receivable from software maintanence
service. The Group has assessed the ECL for the
these receivables were immaterial. No debtors have a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Thus, no loss allowance was recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Accounts receivable (continued)

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience
over the past 5 years. These rates are adjusted to reflect
differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected,
current conditions and the group’s view of economic
conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash
flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the

contractual undiscounted payments, is as follows:

31 December 2022

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

41. EREBEEBERBER

(%)

(b)

(c)

=8EE (/&)

FEW AR (48)
BHBERLERBELFENE
BERER ZELERETH
2 URREWEELBEHE
HAEBAR ~ TR RAEBEFE
WRTE TR F RN EBR R E
EENER o

MENE &
rEBBBEAKEMRBES
FFEITAERESERAER -
ZIEZRsMIARSRMERE
(FlanfEWBRRR) MBI A R &=
RERETER -

rEBLREBENRBEHARNE
HREARR (A BT AARBER AR
T

—g==%+=A=+-H

Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1to2years 2to5years
BHIRAH 1R
IREE HekesE HHEEX 132 2F5%
RMB'’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
Accounts payable R 52,959 52,959 52,959 - -
Financial liabilities STARMENFIER
included in other EstERAN SR
payables and accruals 8E 16,484 16,484 16,484 - -
Interest-bearing bank FTRBTER
borrowings 260,000 262,724 262,724 - -
Lease liabilities HESE 12,319 13,116 7,093 6,023 -
Total #st 341,762 345,283 339,260 6,023 -
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

41. EREBEEBERBEER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) RHELEM (E)
31 December 2021 —E-—%+-HA=+—H
Total
contractual Within
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or
amount cashflow ondemand 1to2years 2to5years
BHRER 1R
BEE RERLHE FIRER 1226 2B5F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR%®TrT AR%Trt AR%Tt AR%Trn
Accounts payable T ERK 74,330 74,330 74,330 - -
Financial liabilities STARMENHIER
included in other EstERN S
payables and accruals = 5,302 5,302 5,302 - -
Interest-bearing bank TRBTER
borrowings 171,647 171,647 171,647 - -
Lease liabilities HEAE 26,317 29,007 8,226 8,425 12,356
Total 2 277,596 280,286 259,505 8,425 12,356
(d) Capital management (d) BXREE

The Group’s primary objectives for managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratio in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion
to risk. The Group manages its capital structure and
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts. In
the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group’s capital risk is low. No change was made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the year.

>> 230 Wanka Online Inc. Annual Report 2022

FEBEREANTEZEBRDBR
BASENSESERED Uk
FREMNEARLLE  UXEER
BERERRCRREE -

rEERARBLEAREESRS
B AEESEEHEAREY
RIBEBRRBERBEEEN
REREREEELRE -  BER
RABRELRRE  AEETES
AEARRETRIR - RTHRR
BRBHEEEMBE - AAFE
ERR  ARENELRERR
B RER > EXAEENER
BRIEFRERERL -



Notes to the Financial Statements

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using current ratio, which
is total current assets divided by total current liabilities,
and gearing ratio, which is total liabilities divided by total
assets. The current ratios and gearing ratios at the end
of each of the reporting periods are as follows:

41.

A1 5 SR 3R P R

“E__Ft+-HA=t—H
31 December 2022

LREREEEFERBIR
(%)

(d) EFXREE(E)
AEERBFEARBLLER (BUR
BEEABERURBAGEHALE)
REXREGBLER (UBAEERIU
BEE)ERER o« REREH
RWRENLE R R EARE B E
T

2022 2021
—E-=— —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FR ARBTT

Total current assets MEEEMAE 1,785,626 1,572,878
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 125,474 272,485
Total current liabilities REBEEEE 531,021 434,628
Total non-current liabilities FRBEELLE 7,255 19,822
Current ratio FEb= 3.36 3.62
Gearing ratio ERG B E 28% 25%
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42, KATMFBERAET

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

RAB R E BRI BARREOER 0

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: T
2022 2021
—E-C= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREET T
NON-CURRENT ASSET FREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REKE LA TAMRE 721,149 721,149
Total non-current asset FRENEELEE 721,149 721,149
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Cash and bank equivalents ReRIBITEED 246 820
Due from subsidiaries FEURHT B A Bl FRIE 349,206 327,108
Prepayments, other receivables FEFIE - HtnEUEIE
and other assets REMEE 187 171
Total current assets MENEEHAE 349,639 328,099
CURRENT LIABILITY REAE
Other payables and accruals HENFIERETER 8,517 7,712
Total current liability BB EREE 8,517 7,712
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEVEEFEE 341,122 320,387
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EEBREERE 1,062,271 1,041,536
Net assets EEFH 1,062,271 1,041,536
EQUITY e
Issued capital BEITRA 1 1
Treasury shares EFRS _* I
Other reserves (note) H b (MEE) 1,062,270 1,041,535
Total equity R 1,062,271 1,041,536

* The amount is less than RMB1,000.
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 42. KATIMBRRFE (8)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: BaE
A summary to the Company’s reserve is as follows: NRARZFEERZENAT
Employee
share-based  Exchange
Share Capital  compensation  fluctuation ~Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total

NEGARERN  MERD

Rty EARG EREMERE e REB CHI
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
ARETR ARBTR  AREBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR

(Note 29) (Note 30)
(Htz£29) (Hfz£30)
At1 January 2021 W=B=-%5-A-F 1,642,834 - 54641 (43473  (756350) 897,652
Loss for the year FRES - - - - (24,538) (24,538)
Other comprehensive loss ~ EREMZ AR :
for the year:
Exchange differences EREE - - - (6,374) - (6,374)

Total comprehensive loss ~ FR2EEEEE

for the year - - - (6,374) (24,538) (30,912)
Issue of shares BIRHA 156,635 - - - - 156,635
Vested restricted share units EZEFEENEZEZRE

transferred to employee RIS 10,482 - (10,482) - - -
Equity-settled share option ~ MiEm&EE B ER B

arrangements - - 18,160 - - 18,160
At 31 December 2021 W=Z--F+ZA=+—-H 1,809,951 - 62,319 (49,847) (780,888) 1,041,535

Employee
share-based  Exchange
Share Capital compensation fluctuation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
D BERN  SMERD
IRipifE BXfttE  EEHMRE ikt Ritlt @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR
(Note 29) (Note 30)
(f&E29) (M=£30)
At 1 January 2022 R=B--%-A-H 1,809,951 - 62,319 (49,847) (780,888) 1,041,535
Loss for the year FRER - - - - (30,675) (30,675)
Other comprehensive FEREMEENRE

income for the year:

Exchange differences ERER - - - 20,218 - 29,218
Total comprehensive loss ~ FRZARELE

for the year - - - 29,218 (30,675) (1,457)
Vested restricted share units EZEFEEHEEBZRE

transferred to employee RO EN 18,158 - (18,158) - - -
Equity-settled share option ~ SEREENERERH

arrangements - - 22,192 - - 22,192
At 31 December 2022 R=B-Z#+-A=t-H 1,828,109 - 66,353 (20,629) (811,563) 1,062,270
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42.

43.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

Employee share-based compensation reserve comprises the
fair value of RSUs granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 4 to the financial statements. The amount
will either be transferred to the share premium account
when the related options are exercised, or be transferred to
accumulated loss should the related options expire or be
forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 27 March 2023.
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“AGM” or

“Annual General Meeting”

[RFAFXE |

“Articles of Association”

[EERAA

“associate(s)”

RN

“Audit Committee”

[EZEEE

“Auditor”
[ #8506

“Beijing JinChi”

Mbmsith |

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”
[EEE]
“CG Code”
[EEEE~rEl
“ChiLe Consolidated
Affiliated Entities”
[ithae & (HEEBEE

“China” or “PRC”

[ |

Definitions

R

—Z=—4F+=H=+—H 31 December 2022

the forthcoming 2022 annual general meeting of the Company to be held
on 9 June 2023
ARBAER-B=ZF R NANBETHNERE S-S FERRBFAE

the amended articles of association of the Company adopted by way of
special resolution passed at the AGM held on 2 June 2022
AARUR-ZZBZ_FRAZHETHRRBFAE LBBHIFRIRERMN
F R PR RIS RT AR B AR 4R A

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAE T ZARNEE

the audit committee of the Company

RAREREES

BDO Limited, the auditor of the Company
RABREME B EERSTMSHEAERAR

Beijing Jinchi Guangxin Technology Co., Ltd. (It mR&MEERERHE
FR /A7), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 13 May 2009, which holds 49% of the equity interests in
Shanghai ChiLe

ETREHUEERNERODERAF  —FR=2BZAFHA+=ZBRBFEE
FEEMAINERAT - 58 LShLE 490%IRHE

the board of directors of our Company
ARARESE

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules

LR AN+ AR AT A
Shanghai ChiLe and its subsidiaries
abisycE-y v R=tii)e NG|

the People’s Republic of China and, except where the context requires
and only for the purpose of this annual report, references in this annual
report to the PRC or China do not include Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau
PEARANE  RXEZEEREFRAFRMS - AFRAAIENTE
YRBEAE « B BRRF
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Es

—ZF=—_—#f+=H=+—H 31 December 2022

“Company”, “our Company”,
“the Company”

[A2E ]

“connected person(s)”

[BREAL

“connected transaction(s)”

[FAERS
“Consolidated

Affiliated Entities”
[ & EEE

“Contractual Arrangements”

[E4#I=HE]
“Controlling Shareholders”

I 42 R AR |

“Director(s)”

[E%]

“Group”, “our Group”,
“the Group”, “we”,

Iius”, OI" Hour”
[ ARE =5 #M
* For identification purposes only

Wanka Online Inc. (BW=EAGMRAF*), an exempted company with
limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands on 7
November 2014 and the Shares of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1762)

Wanka Online Inc. (BMEZEBERARY)  —RR-F—NE+—AtAR
EHENEEEIMRINERRBRLAT - HROVEEZAMERLS (R
MRER $ 1762)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
BB EmRAE T ZARNEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRAETZANERE

the entity we control through the Contractual Arrangements, namely
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, and their respective subsidiaries
BMBEBENTHZEFNER LB ARBBER  REZEWEAR

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others
Shanghai ChiLe and Huanju Times, our Consolidated Affiliated Entities
and its shareholders, details of which are described in the section
headed “Report of the Directors — Connected Transactions — Contractual
Arrangements”
REGEELBHERBBERREMNEHEEERREIRR)IT LN —
RIGHRE  BRAFBHANESERE -BERS —S0TH -6

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and, in the context
of this annual report, refers to Mr. Gao, Mr. Zheng, Wanka Media Limited
and Countryside Tech Inc.

BEALTRABTFZANMRER - RAFR » HIESEE - BELE « Wanka
Media Limited & Countryside Tech Inc.

the director(s) of our Company

RARES

the Company, its subsidiaries and the Consolidated Affiliated Entities (the
financial results of which have been consolidated and accounted for as
a subsidiary of our Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements)
from time to time

ARF AR ZMBARREHBEBERHUBXECRASHNRHERSE
ANERFHERA T ML A)

N (EXaTE Rl
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“HKFRS”

[ ERMFBREER ]

“Hong Kong”
[&#]

“Hong Kong dollars” or
“HK dollars” or “HK$”

[#&T]

“Huanju Times”

581

“Listing Date”
[k BEH]
“Listing Rules”
[ Em#RAl ]

“Main Board”

[E#H]

“MHA”

Bt A |

“Model Code”
[#EZE=rHl ]
“Mr. Gao”

[ ]

Definitions

R

—Z=—4F+=H=+—H 31 December 2022

Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
BBYHREER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEIEBRSRTHE

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
B BBEEER

Huanju Shidai Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (EEEAbEHE L R)
BPFRAT]), a company established in the PRC on March 7, 2014, owned
by Mr. Gao and Mr. Zheng as to 72% and 28% of its share capital,
respectively

BERAULERAGR)BRAT ) —XR-_E—WUF=AtHEFERKIL
MAE SEERBEEDBIEEH 72% K% 28% KA

21 December 2018, being the date the Shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange

2 \FE+ZAT+—B - BRGRERA LA A

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (as amended from time to time)

BBBER S MERABRGES EHRADNETRE)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange
GXPMEENELRZ (T EEREDTS) BYREXF GEM SEHEIW
1TEE

Mobile Hardcore Alliance, a network of seven Android smartphone
manufacturers in China, namely Huawei, OPPO, vivo, Coolpad, Lenovo,
Meizu and nubia

WRZHE > ATELRLZEEEFHEERRL  BES « OPPO -~ vivo »
EER ~ BEAR - R St EE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
LR B+ P& LB ITAESETES XS NRETED

Mr. GAO Dinan (535 %), our chairman of the Board, executive Director
and one of our Controlling shareholders

BHRBEEE  RMNESEIFE  HTESREMNEP -SERRR
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Definitions
Es

—ZF=—_—#f+=H=+—H 31 December 2022

“Mr. Zheng”
[EBSE4 |

“Nomination Committee”

[RBEEE

“Post-IPO Share Option
Scheme”

[ERAFEERERE S

“Prospectus”

[BiRER |

“Quick App(s)”

[BRAER |

“Remuneration Committee’

[FHNESE

“Reporting Period”
[REH

“RMB”
[ARS]

“RSU(S)”
I 32 PR i AR {5 BB it |

“SFO”

[ 2% RS RS ]

“Shanghai ChiLe”

[ Ligithse]

Mr. ZHENG Wei (28)&), our non-executive Director and one of our
Controlling shareholders

BELE  RMNFEHTESREMOEP -—FERRR

nomination committee of the Company

KABREEES

the share option scheme adopted by our Company on 3 November 2018,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors — Post-IPO Share Option Scheme”
AARRZZB-NF+—-=ZBRANBRETS  EXIERABARE
SERE-ERLHBRERBRES -8

the prospectus of the Company dated 11 December 2018 relating to its
initial public offering
AARBHAZE-N\F+ZAT - HEBHEALHBENBRER

mobile apps that allow instant usage without having to visit any app store
or download anything, and are easier to develop than traditional mobile
apps

RFNREANBEEARR  EFFRTMEABESLTHEMARS - B
LERBBERREFES R

the remuneration committee of the Company

KABFMEES

the year ended 31 December 2022
BE-E-_F+-A=t+-AILFE

Renminbi, the lawful currency of PRC
ARYE  PEIEEEY

restricted share units granted pursuant to the 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme

REBE-Z—AFROBETERENZ RO EN

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to
time

BREBIESN E(RERIBERODEREHERT ~ BARUARAMT XIER)

Shanghai Chile Information Technology Co., Ltd. (L/&ith&s BRlHE
PR A 7)), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability on 18 June 2014, owned by Mr. Gao and Beijing JinChi as to
51.0% and 49.0% of its share capital, respectively
EPEHREEREERAF  —FR=2F—NF A+ N\BREBEPBEEET
MW ERAR  AEEEREFZESNDFIEEHE 51.0% K 49.0% K74
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“Share(s)”

[z ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ |

“Stock Exchange”

[ B3 T

“subsidiary(ies)”

[PHEAE]

“substantial shareholder”

[EZRR]

“United States,” “U.S.” or “US”

[ € |

“US$”

E

“Wanka Hong Kong”

L& |

“Wanka Huanju” or “WFOE”

[ GUERTE s v BE R |

“opn

[%]

“2016 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF—RFE RGBT

Definitions

R

—Z=—4F+=H=+—H 31 December 2022

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of our Company with a par value of
US$0.0000002 each
AATRAHEREE 0.0000002 X THIEBR

holder(s) of Share(s)
S ESZEPN

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBERSMERAHE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

AR EmRAETZARNERE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BEAEWRAETZANERE

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction
EZANRERE  HEL B RIHIAEEENFEHE
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
En - EBEEEY

Wanka Holdings Limited (EtMl#Ez B PR Al), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong on 6 June 2014, and our directly wholly -
owned subsidiary

UERERAT > —KAZZE-—WEANARNBEEBRIMRLNERA
8 BARMNEEZEWB AR

Wanka Huanju Culture Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (ETMIENE: 1L & (1L =)
BPFR2AT]), a company established in the PRC on 10 October 2014, and
our wholly-owned subsidiary

TIMEBE S EEOR)BRAR ) —FRR=ZFE—NFE+A+BERBEKZ
HATF - AERMANEZENRBAR

per centum

Bk

the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 6 January 2016
which was amended, restated and replaced in its entirety by a restricted
share unit scheme on 24 May 2018, the principal terms of which are set
out in the section headed “Report of the Directors — 2016 Share Incentive
Scheme”

ARBRNZB-—ARFE-AXBRANVRDHBEFS  RZZ2-N\FHEA=+
B UZRERDEAFSEREMEE - EFIRER - AFERAENE
BERE - - AFROBEE -5
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Definitions
Es

—ZF=—_—#f+=H=+—H 31 December 2022

“2019 Share Incentive Scheme” the share incentive scheme adopted by the Company on 29 August 2019,
the principal terms of which are set out in the section headed “Report of
the Directors —2019 Share Incentive Scheme”

[ ZF— R ERBHEE S B ARARARZZB-NAFNRZTHABERMANKRO MBS  EEZEHRIER
[BESEERE - - NFROZEE -

*  for identification purposes only

The English names of the PRC entities, PRC laws or regulations,
and the PRC governmental authorities referred to in this annual
report are translations from their Chinese names and are for
identification purposes. If there is any inconsistency, the Chinese
names shall prevail.

Certain amounts and percentage figures included in this annual
report have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly,
figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic
aggregation of the figures preceding them and figures rounded
to the nearest thousand, million or billion may not be identical to
figures that have been rounded differently to them.
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F BB TR R EEITER P XL
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FEHIFEETEHEREDLEFEAE -
Bt » & TFRIEHFIEE AR L ERE BT
HIE AR  HBERZLTF BEXE
HY B 7 AR BT T[] T A R EF A o



12 WANKAONLINE

WANKA ONLINE INC.
EMERBRAF



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	二零二二年年度大事記
	主席報告書
	財務摘要
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層
	董事會報告
	企業管治報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	釋義
	封底

